
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

You are summoned to attend a meeting of 
the Council

on Tuesday, 24 July 2018, at 6.30 p.m., in
the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal

Please note that there will be a Briefing for Members on Customer Connect 
commencing at 5.00 p.m. in the District Council Chamber.  For those who wish 
to attend, Prayers will be said in the District Council Chamber at 6.20 p.m.

Membership

Councillors

Caroline Airey
James Airey
Giles Archibald
Robin Ashcroft
Rupert Audland
Pat Bell
Ben Berry
Roger Bingham
Matt Brereton
Jonathan Brook
Andrew Butcher
Sheila Capstick
Stephen Coleman (Vice-Chairman)
Brian Cooper
Michael Cornah
Tracy Coward
Philip Dixon

Alvin Finch
Gill Gardner
Anne Hall
Tom Harvey
Eamonn Hennessy
Hazel Hodgson
Chris Hogg
Rachael Hogg
John Holmes
Kevin Holmes
Vicky Hughes
Anne Hutton
Helen Irving
Andrew Jarvis
Janette Jenkinson
Dyan Jones
Dave Khan

Helen Ladhams
Kevin Lancaster
Pete McSweeney
Ian Mitchell
Eric Morrell (Chairman)
Jon Owen
Doug Rathbone
Vivienne Rees
Amanda Rigg
Matt Severn
Ian Stewart
Peter Thornton
Graham Vincent
David Webster
David Williams
Mark Wilson
Shirley-Anne Wilson

Friday, 13 July 2018

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”.

Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact:- 
Committee Administrator: Inge Booth
Telephone: 01539 793190
e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


Roll Call : Apologies

AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I 

1 MINUTES 5 - 22

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Council held on 22 May 2018 (copy attached).

2 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.

(1) Questions and Representations

To receive any questions or representations which have been received 
from members of the public.

(2) Deputations and Petitions

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 
members of the public.

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests.

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

4 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public.

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive announcements by the Chairman.

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


6 CUSTOMER CONNECT PROGRAMME BUSINESS CASE 23 - 66

To consider the Business Case for the Customer Connect Programme.

7 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2017/18 67 - 94

To consider the Council’s financial performance for 2017 and the impact on 
reserve balances.

8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 AND 2018/19 
STRATEGY UPDATE 

95 - 108

To consider the Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 and the 2018/19 
Strategy Update.

9 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2019/20 TO 2023/24 109 - 196

To consider the draft Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24, 
incorporating the Financial Strategy and the Budget Strategy.

10 COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 197 - 218

To consider undertaking a Community Governance Review in accordance with 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, for the whole 
of the South Lakeland District.

11 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND CABINET QUESTION TIME, 
INCLUDING THE COMPOSITE REPORT OF THE CABINET (1 HOUR 
MAXIMUM) 

219 - 246

Council is asked to receive the Executive Reports (Look Forward 2018/19) from 
the Leader and Cabinet and to deal with any questions raised by Members to 
the appropriate Cabinet Members on the contents of the reports.

To receive announcements from the Leader and, in accordance with 
Paragraphs 10.2 and 10.3 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, to deal with any 
questions to the Leader and/or Portfolio Holders on any topic which is within the 
jurisdiction or influence of the Council and is relevant to their Portfolio.  Any 
Member who poses a question will be entitled to ask one supplementary 
question on the same topic.

Members are encouraged to give 24 hours’ written notice to the Solicitor to the 
Council of questions to be raised under the Agenda Item.  If no notice is 
received, then the Portfolio Holder can reserve the right to give a written answer.  
Where written notice of questions has been given, these will be taken first.  
Should a Member wish to ask more than one question, questions should be 
listed in order of priority.  If more than one Member sends in a question, these 
will be taken in alphabetical order of Members’ names, alternated from meeting 
to meeting.  Each question and each response is restricted to three minutes.

12 MINUTES OF MEETINGS 

To receive Chairmen’s comments (if any notified) in respect of the minutes of 
the Committee meetings held between 23 April and 22 June 2018.

13 QUESTIONS TO CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL OR CHAIRMAN OF ANY 
COMMITTEE OR SUB-COMMITTEE 
To deal with any questions under Rule 10.6 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure, 
of which due notice has been given and/or the Chairman allows as a matter of 
urgent business and which are in relation to any matter over which the Council 
has powers or duties or which affect the area.



14 NOTICE OF MOTION 

The following Notice of Motion has been given in accordance with Paragraph 
11.1 of the Council’s Rules of Procedure:-

“That this Council notes with concern that the failing local rail service is 
having a serious detrimental impact on the area’s visitor economy; notes 
the use of the line by commuters and school children and recognises the 
safe guarding issue created by the timetabled services not being 
available in the past; registers disappointment at the Department of 
Transport’s decision in 2016 to remove the franchise from TransPennine 
and grant it to Northern despite the Lakes line being separated from all 
the rest of Northern’s services; regrets the government’s cancellation of 
the planned electrification of the line between Oxenholme and 
Windermere; urges Government to investigate the feasibility of a micro 
franchise in Cumbria for the Lakes, Furness and Cumbria Coast lines 
run by an operator that is capable of running a reliable train service 
which cannot be Northern; and recognises and is grateful for the 
intervention of the local MP, the Lakes Line User Group and the West 
Coast Railways, that enabled a shuttle service to be run on the Lakes 
Line in June.”

(signed by Councillor Matt Severn)

PART II 

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this Part of the Agenda.



1
22.05.2018 Council

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Council held in the District Council 
Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Tuesday, 22 May 2018, at 5.30 p.m.

Present

Councillors 

Caroline Airey
James Airey
Giles Archibald
Robin Ashcroft
Rupert Audland
Pat Bell
Ben Berry
Roger Bingham
Matt Brereton
Jonathan Brook
Andrew Butcher
Sheila Capstick
Stephen Coleman
Brian Cooper
Michael Cornah
Tracy Coward

Philip Dixon
Alvin Finch
Gill Gardner
Tom Harvey
Eamonn Hennessy
Hazel Hodgson
Chris Hogg
Rachael Hogg
John Holmes
Kevin Holmes
Vicky Hughes
Helen Irving
Andrew Jarvis
Janette Jenkinson
Dyan Jones
Dave Khan

Helen Ladhams
Kevin Lancaster
Pete McSweeney
Ian Mitchell
Eric Morrell
Jon Owen
Doug Rathbone
Vivienne Rees
Amanda Rigg
Matt Severn
Ian Stewart
Peter Thornton
Graham Vincent
David Webster
David Williams
Mark Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anne Hall, Anne Hutton and 
Shirley-Anne Wilson.

Officers

Una Bell Assistant Committee Services Officer
Inge Booth Senior Committee Services Officer
Lawrence Conway Chief Executive
Claire Gould Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager
Julia Krier Solicitor (Property and Contracts)
Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council
Richard Machin Senior Communications Officer
Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation
Helen Smith Financial Services Manager
Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)

C/1 CHAIRMAN 

Note – The outgoing Chairman, Councillor Eric Morrell, who was due to be 
nominated for re-election as Chairman of the Council, left the room during the 
discussion and voting on the following item of business.  Councillor
Giles Archibald proposed, seconded by Councillor Jonathan Brook, that 
Councillor Dyan Jones take the Chair to preside over the election of the 
Chairman.  A vote was taken and the motion carried.  Councillor Dyan Jones 
took the Chair for the item.

Page 5

Item No.1



2
22.05.2018 Council

It was proposed by Councillor Giles Archibald and seconded by Councillor
Jonathan Brook that Councillor Eric Morrell be elected Chairman of the Council for the 
ensuing year.

Councillor Ben Berry proposed Councillor Roger Bingham, and this was seconded by 
Councillor James Airey.

Following a vote, it was

RESOLVED – That Councillor Eric Morrell be re-elected as Chairman of the Council for 
the ensuing year.

Note – There was a short adjournment whilst the Chairman signed the official 
declaration of acceptance of office, and the meeting resumed with the same 
Members present, with Councillor Morrell in the Chair.

C/2 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A list of engagements which the Chairman had attended since the last meeting had 
been circulated.

The Chairman thanked Members for re-electing him to the role and he looked forward 
to another year serving the interests of the Council.

The Chairman extended a warm welcome to the 18 new Members, Councillors
Robin Ashcroft, Pat Bell, Matt Brereton, Sheila Capstick, Michael Cornah,
Tracy Coward, Eammon Hennessy, Hazel Hodgson, Rachael Hogg, Kevin Holmes, 
Anne Hutton, Dave Khan, Helen Ladhams, Ian Mitchell, Jon Owen, Doug Rathbone, 
David Webster and Shirley-Anne Wilson. He expressed his appreciation to those 
former Members who had not been successful in the Elections, Norman Bishop-Rowe, 
Joss Curwen, Sheila Eccles, David Fletcher and Mel Mackie for their hard work and 
commitment to the residents of South Lakeland, and also to those former Members 
who had not stood for re-election in May 2018.

The Chairman informed the Council that Councillor John Holmes had relinquished the 
Chairmanship of South Lakes Housing and thanked him for the work which he had 
undertaken in the role.

C/3 VICE-CHAIRMAN 

It was proposed by Councillor Giles Archibald and seconded by Councillor
Jonathan Brook that Councillor Stephen Coleman be re-appointed Vice-Chairman of 
the Council for the ensuing year.

RESOLVED – That Councillor Stephen Coleman be re-appointed as Vice-Chairman of 
the Council for the ensuing year.

C/4 MINUTES 

RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the 
minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 28 March 2018.

Page 6



3
22.05.2018 Council

C/5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised.

C/6 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda.

C/7 LEADER 

C/7a Appointment of the Leader of the Council 

Further to Minute C/057 (2010/11), the Council was asked to appoint a Leader of the 
Council, pursuant to Article 7.03 of the Council’s Constitution, until the Annual Meeting 
of the Council in 2022 (or for up to the end of his term of office as a Member, whichever 
was the shorter).

It was proposed by Councillor Jonathan Brook and seconded by Councillor Dyan Jones 
that Councillor Giles Archibald be re-appointed Leader of the Council.

Councillor Tom Harvey proposed Councillor Ben Berry, and this was seconded by 
Councillor James Airey.

Following a vote, it was

RESOLVED – That Councillor Giles Archibald be re-elected as Leader of the Council 
until the Annual General Meeting 2022 (or up to the end of his term of office as a 
Member, whichever is the shorter).

C/7b Appointment of Deputy Leader and Members of the Cabinet 

Further to C/7a above, the Leader, Councillor Giles Archibald, circulated and confirmed 
the details of those Members appointed to Cabinet and their relevant Portfolios.  In so 
doing, he thanked Members for re-electing him to the role of Leader. He referred to the 
Council’s work in making improvements to the public realm during the past year and 
highlighted several important issues that needed to be addressed in the forthcoming 
year.  The Leader expressed his belief that it was the Council’s role not only to carry 
out its statutory duties but also to see how it could contribute to the community in other 
ways, for example by tackling issues around poverty and climate change.

RESOLVED – That

(1) it be noted that the Leader has confirmed the following Cabinet portfolios and 
appointments:- 

(a) Culture and Leisure Portfolio – Councillor Chris Hogg;

(b) Economy and Assets Portfolio – Councillor Graham Vincent;

(c) Environment Portfolio – Councillor Dyan Jones;

(d) Finance Portfolio – Councillor Andrew Jarvis;

(e) Health and Wellbeing Portfolio – Councillor Philip Dixon;

Page 7



4
22.05.2018 Council

(f) Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio – Councillor Jonathan Brook; and

(g) Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio – Councillor Giles Archibald; and

(2) it be noted that the Leader has re-appointed Councillor Jonathan Brook as 
Deputy Leader.

C/7c Cabinet Scheme of Delegation 

RESOLVED – That the report from the Leader on the Scheme of Delegation for the 
discharge of the Executive functions of the Council, circulated at the meeting and 
attached as an Appendix to these minutes, be received.

C/8 SHADOW EXECUTIVE 

The appointments to the Shadow Executive were announced to Council by Councillor 
Ben Berry, Leader of the Opposition.

RESOLVED – That the following appointments to the Shadow Executive be noted:-

(1) Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio and Shadow Leader – Councillor
Ben Berry;

(2) Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio and Deputy Shadow Leader – 
Councillor Tom Harvey;

(3) Culture and Leisure Portfolio – Councillor Helen Irving;

(4) Economy and Assets Portfolio – Councillor James Airey;

(5) Environment Portfolio – Councillor Kevin Lancaster;

(6) Finance Portfolio – Councillor John Holmes; and

(7) Health and Wellbeing Portfolio – Councillor Janette Jenkinson.

C/9 POLITICAL BALANCE, ALLOCATION OF COMMITTEE PLACES, APPOINTMENT 
OF COMMITTEE CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN AND SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION 

In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
Council gave consideration to the political balance of the Council and to the 
committees and size of committees for the forthcoming year.  Prior to the 
commencement of the meeting, Members had been provided with a revised copy of 
Appendix 2 to the report (Size and Seats to be allocated to Political Groups on 
Committees), in addition to proposed committee memberships lists as agreed with the 
Group Leaders.

Members had formed into three groups for the purpose of allocating committee places.  
The groups and their number of Members were as follows:–

Page 8



5
22.05.2018 Council

Liberal Democrat – 29 Members

Conservative – 19 Members

Labour – 3 Members

The Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) asked Council to approve the 
list of the committee allocations, proportional to the Council membership, together with 
the nominations to each Committee as circulated at the meeting.  Nominations 
received for Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen to each Committee had also been circulated 
at the meeting. Nominations to the County Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee, taken 
from the proposed membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, had also 
been included.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Jonathan Brook, moved the 
recommendations contained within the report, the Liberal Democrat nominations for 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees being those circulated prior to the 
commencement of the meeting, namely:-

Committee Chairman Vice-Chairman
Audit Stephen Coleman Ian Stewart
Human Resources Rachael Hogg Philip Dixon
Licensing/Licensing 
Regulatory

Helen Ladhams Gill Gardner

Overview and Scrutiny Vicky Hughes Douglas Rathbone
Planning Pete McSweeney Eric Morrell
Standards Matt Severn Pete McSweeney

In addition, Councillor Archibald, seconded by Councillor Brook, moved that Councillor 
Vivienne Rees be re-appointed as the Council’s representative on Cumbria County 
Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee, with Councillor Doug Rathbone as substitute 
Member.

Councillor Ben Berry, seconded by Councillor David Williams, moved the Conservative 
nominations for Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees which had been 
circulated prior to the commencement of the meeting, namely:-

Committee Chairman Vice-Chairman
Audit Kevin Lancaster Matt Brereton
Human Resources Roger Bingham Andrew Butcher
Licensing/Licensing 
Regulatory

James Airey Tom Harvey

Overview and Scrutiny Janette Jenkinson Anne Hall
Planning John Holmes Michael Cornah
Standards John Holmes Sheila Capstick

Councillor Berry, seconded by Councillor David Williams, further moved that Councillor 
Janette Jenkinson be appointed as the Council’s representative on Cumbria County 
Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee, with Councillor Pat Bell as substitute Member.

Votes were taken and it was subsequently

Page 9



6
22.05.2018 Council

RESOLVED – That

(1) the political balance of the Council and terms of office for councillors, as set out 
in paragraph 3.2 and Appendix 1 to the report, be noted;

(2) the committees and Terms of Reference for those committees, as detailed in 
Table 2, Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution, be approved for the forthcoming municipal 
year;

(3) the delegation of Council functions and Proper Officer appointments be 
confirmed as set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution;

(4) the size of the committees and the seats of each committee to political groups 
be approved and allocated in accordance with the table set out below:-

Liberal 
Democrat

Conservative Labour

Committees (68 places) 39 25 4
Audit (7) 4 3 0
Human Resources (9) 6 2 1
Licensing Regulatory (15) 8 6 1
Overview and Scrutiny (12) 7 4 1
Planning (18) 10 7 1
Standards (7) 4 3 0

(5) seats on those committees that are not subject to political balance rules be 
allocated as set out below:-

Liberal 
Democrat

Conservative Labour

Committees (31 places) 17 12 2
Lake Administration
(24 Members in total –
16 District Councillors)

9 6 1

Licensing (15) 8 6 1

(6) nominations of Councillors to serve on each committee, as circulated at the 
meeting, be received;

(7)  nominations of chairmen and vice-chairman of the committees be approved as 
follows, namely:-

Committee Chairman Vice-Chairman
Audit Stephen Coleman Ian Stewart
Human Resources Rachael Hogg Philip Dixon
Licensing/Licensing 
Regulatory

Helen Ladhams Gill Gardner

Overview and Scrutiny Vicky Hughes Douglas Rathbone
Planning Pete McSweeney Eric Morrell
Standards Matt Severn Pete McSweeney

(8) the delegation of executive functions, as confirmed by the Leader, as set out in 
Part 3(4) of the Council’s Constitution, be noted; and

Page 10



7
22.05.2018 Council

(9) Councillor Vivienne Rees be re-appointed as the Council’s representative, with 
Councillor Doug Rathbone being appointed as substitute, to Cumbria County Council’s 
Health Scrutiny Committee for the forthcoming year.

C/10 DRAFT CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 

The Council gave consideration to the draft Calendar of Meetings for the period May 
2018 to July 2019.

The Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) reported changes to the 
proposed dates for the late January and February 2019 Planning Committee meetings 
and the March 2019 Council meeting, which were detailed in an updated version of the 
Calendar which had been circulated prior to the commencement of the meeting.

In response to a query, it was confirmed that the timings could be subject to change 
following request by the chairman of the relevant committee.

It was moved by Councillor Ben Berry, seconded by Councillor Giles Archibald and, 
subsequently

RESOLVED – That, subject to the alterations highlighted at the meeting and detailed in 
the updated version circulated prior to the commencement of the meeting, the 
Council’s Calendar of Meetings covering the period May 2018 to July 2019 be 
approved.

C/11 2017/18 FINAL ACCOUNTS REPORT - CARRY FORWARDS AND MOVEMENTS 
ON RESERVES 

Councillor Andrew Jarvis, Finance Portfolio Holder, presented Revenue and Capital 
carry forward requests relating to 2017/18 which had been recommended to Council for 
approval by Cabinet on 25 April 2018 (Minute No.CEX/135 refers).  The report also 
provided details on the transfer to and the use of reserves and working balances for 
2017 and sought approval for those transactions.  Work was still ongoing to complete 
the Council’s accounts be the end of May 2018 and there remained a number of areas 
where figures were outstanding, including the transfers relating to retained business 
rates which could result in further transfers to and from reserves.  The report sought 
approval for the delegation of any further transfers to the Assistant Director Resources 
(Section 151 Officer).

In response to a query raised by Councillor David Williams, the Financial Services 
Manager explained that the figure relating to uncommitted reserves was shortly to be 
confirmed.

Councillor Andrew Jarvis, having moved the recommendations contained within the 
report, was seconded by Councillor Giles Archibald who expressed thanks to Officers 
for their work and the clear and concise report.

RESOLVED – That the following be approved:-

(1) the revenue and capital carry forwards, as set out in Appendices 1 and 2 to the 
report;

(2) the movements in reserves, as set out in Appendix 3 to the report; and

Page 11



8
22.05.2018 Council

(3) delegation to the Assistant Director  Resources (Section 151 Officer) to finalise 
any further transfers to and from reserves.

C/12 ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 

The Annual Report 2017/18 detailed the Council’s significant projects and 
achievements over the last 12 months.  The Report reflected the Council Plan priorities 
and had been written in a concise and plain English format to maximise impact.  Once 
approved, it would be distributed to partners and published on the Council website with 
links to the Council Plan.

In moving that the report be approved, the Leader, Councillor Giles Archibald 
commended Officers and Councillors for their work and highlighted that the Council 
continued to work towards meeting its target of 1000 affordable houses to rent by 2025. 
The district’s economic success had been recognised and he was delighted to be 
working with local communities to improve the public realm. The Council had achieved 
its goal in implementing kerbside recycling services to 100% of residents in the district.  
He was pleased to announce the completion of the interim scheme to decontaminate 
and partially landscape New Road Common.

Councillor Graham Vincent, Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder, highlighted this 
year’s excellent economic statistics which he stated proved South Lakeland was the 
best place to live, work and explore. According to the Office for National Statistics 
South Lakeland’s multibillion pound economy was now the fastest growing in Cumbria 
and Grant Thornton’s Vibrant Economy Index listed South Lakeland as one of the top 
five performing economic areas in the North West.

Councillor Mark Wilson made reference to the dynamic piece of work which had 
launched the Applied Theatre in Cumbria (ATiC) project which had worked with young 
people and undertook workshops and theatre performances promoting mental health 
and personal resilience. 

Councillor Chris Hogg, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder, highlighted that, since the 
Lake District had achieved World Heritage Status, the area had seen an increase in 
visitors.  He stressed as a result the need for more cultural opportunities. As Culture 
and Leisure Portfolio holder he wished to highlight the Council’s cultural projects and 
the millions of pounds they generated for the area. 

Councillor Matt Severn expressed his thanks to Councillor Chris Hogg and wished him 
well in his role as Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder. Councillor Severn agreed that 
there was an excellent cultural landscape for people to choose from and expressed 
that he had been very proud to serve on the Cabinet.

Councillor David Williams requested details of the number of businesses surveyed as 
part of the South Lakeland Business Premises survey in 2017 and Councillor Archibald 
agreed to provide him with a written response.

Councillor Jonathan Brook, Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio Holder, 
seconding Councillor Archibald, made particular reference to housing and the six 
million pound loan fund to South Lakes Housing which would support developers to 
build more affordable housing across South Lakeland. Local Development Plans had 
been produced and a further plan was underway.

Page 12



9
22.05.2018 Council

Councillor Giles Archibald commended Officers and expressed his thanks for their work 
in producing a good report. 

RESOLVED – That the Annual Report 2017/18 be approved.

C/13 CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE'S ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 

The Annual Report from the Audit Committee, which summarised the activities of the 
Committee during 2017/18, was presented by Councillor Stephen Coleman, the 
Chairman of the Committee.  Councillor Coleman moved that the report be received 
and was seconded by Councillor Ian Stewart.

RESOLVED – That the 2017/18 Audit Committee Annual Report be received.

C/14 ANNUAL REPORT OF STANDARDS COMMITTEE 2017/18 

Council considered the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for the municipal 
year 2017/18, which was presented by Councillor Chris Hogg who had been Chairman 
of the Committee during that year.  He moved that the report be received and was 
seconded by Councillor Pete McSweeney.

RESOLVED – That the 2017/18 Standards Committee Annual Report be received.

C/15 SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 

The former Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Dyan Jones, 
presented the Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18. The report was required by the 
Council’s Constitution, and provided an opportunity for the Committee to demonstrate 
the work that it had undertaken during the past year, and to outline the work planned 
for 2018/19.

In moving that the report be received, Councillor Jones expressed thanks to the officers 
and Committee Members for their involvement and support and she highlighted that it 
had been a busy and productive year following the merge of the Performance Sub-
Committee with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

In seconding the proposal, Councillor Brian Cooper, commended Councillor Jones for 
her good chairmanship throughout the year.

RESOLVED- That the Scrutiny Annual Report 2017/18, as at Appendix 1 to the report, 
be received.

C/16 ANNUAL REPORTS FROM REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2017/18 

Further to Minute EX/015 (2006/07), annual reports from Council representatives on 
outside bodies which had been submitted were presented.  Additional reports, received 
after the agenda had been printed, had been circulated prior to the commencement of 
the meeting.

In response to a query, the Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
undertook to confirm the percentage of reports which had been submitted for the 
meeting.

Page 13



10
22.05.2018 Council

Councillor Chris Hogg moved that the report be received and in seconding the proposal 
Councillor Ben Berry expressed appreciation for the report on the work of the Lake 
District National Park Authority.

RESOLVED - That the reports be received.

C/17 REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2018/19 

Further to EX/017 (2006/07), Council was asked to consider appointments to/appoint 
representatives to serve on outside bodies.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Chris Hogg, proposed that 
Councillor Pete McSweeney be re-appointed to the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Chris Hogg, proposed that, together 
with the Leader of the Council, Councillor Jonathan Brook be appointed as the 
Council’s representative on the Local Government Association General Assembly.  
Councillor Ben Berry proposed Councillor Roger Bingham, and this was seconded by 
Councillor Helen Irving.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Andrew Jarvis, proposed that 
Councillor Jonathan Brook be appointed as the Council’s representative on the North 
West Local Authorities Employers’ Organisation, with Councillor Rachael Hogg to be 
appointed as the Council’s substitute on the Organisation.  Councillor Ben Berry 
proposed Councillor Tom Harvey as representative, and this was seconded by 
Councillor James Airey.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Andrew Jarvis, proposed that 
Councillors Vivienne Rees and Vicky Hughes be appointed to the Lake District National 
Park Authority.

Councillor Ben Berry proposed Councillors Anne Hall and Kevin Holmes, and this was 
seconded by Councillor Matt Brereton.

Councillor Giles Archibald, seconded by Councillor Chris Hogg, proposed that 
Councillor Ian Mitchell be appointed to the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority.

Councillor Ben Berry proposed Councillor Kevin Lancaster, and this was seconded by 
Councillor Helen Irving.

Votes were taken and it was subsequently

RESOLVED – That appointments to/appointment of representatives to serve on 
outside bodies for 2018/19 (or for terms as otherwise stated) be made as follows:-

(1) Cumbria Police and Crime Panel – Councillor Pete McSweeney;

(2) Local Government Association General Assembly – the Leader of the Council 
and Councillor Jonathan Brook;

(3) North West Local Authorities Employers’ Organisation – Councillor
Jonathan Brook, with Councillor Rachael Hogg as substitute Member;

Page 14



11
22.05.2018 Council

(4) Lake District National Park Authority – Councillors Vivienne Rees and
Vicky Hughes, to the end of their terms on South Lakeland District Council; and

(5) Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority – Councillor Ian Mitchell, to the end of 
his term on South Lakeland District Council.

C/18 MINUTES OF MEETINGS 

RESOLVED – That it be noted that no comments or questions had been received in 
respect of the minutes of committee meetings held between 12 March and 20 April 
2018.

C/19 QUESTIONS TO CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL OR CHAIRMAN OF ANY 
COMMITTEE OR SUB-COMMITTEE 

Councillor James Airey wished to raise an urgent question under this item with regard 
to the poor service provided by Northern Rail within the area. However, the Director of 
Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) explained that as he had not provided notice 
in accordance with the Constitution, his question could not be taken. The Leader, 
Councillor Giles Archibald took the opportunity to inform Members that he shared the 
concerns and would be pursuing this matter in consultation with the local Member of 
Parliament. 
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no questions had been received.

C/20 TOAST BY CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman toasted, all present then standing, the memory of the former district 
authorities now incorporated in the South Lakeland District, namely:-

 Kendal Borough Council;
 Grange Urban District Council;
 Lakes Urban District Council;
 North Lonsdale Rural District Council;
 Sedbergh Rural District Council;
 South Westmorland Rural District Council;
 Ulverston Urban District Council; and
 Windermere Urban District Council; and

the honourable memory of the County of Westmorland.

The meeting ended at 7.27 p.m.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



4. RESPONSIBILITY FOR CABINET FUNCTIONS

The Cabinet will be responsible for all the functions and duties of the District Council which are 
specified in legislation, and which are not specifically reserved to the Council or any Committee 
elsewhere in this constitution.

The individual members of the Cabinet will have the following personal portfolios, as allocated by the 
Leader, and will exercise the powers and duties of the Cabinet within those areas, subject to the 
detailed rules on Access to Information Procedures (Part 4(2)) of this Constitution.

Any changes to the personal portfolios will be determined by the Leader. These will take effect from 
the date that the Proper Officer receives notification of such changes in writing. The Leader will also 
report any changes to the next appropriate meeting of Full Council.

A DELEGATION TO INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET

The functions of the Cabinet detailed below shall be the responsibility of the individual members of the 
Cabinet who hold the portfolios listed below.  The individual members shall give guidance to officers 
regarding decisions to be made under section 5 of the delegation scheme.

Each of the Portfolios indicated will take primary responsibility in their individual areas and work with 
other Cabinet members, officers and partners to ensure that cross cutting themes are being 
communicated effectively in all policies and projects and across all services.  In doing this, Cabinet 
Members may set up appropriate groups, but should ensure that Committee Services are aware that 
the group has been set up and the composition of its membership.

Leader – Promoting South Lakeland 

Working with partners and stakeholders in the public, private and voluntary sector, at national, 
regional and sub-regional level. To act as an ambassador and advocate for the Communities of South 
Lakeland. 

To represent the Council on local and other strategic partnerships including nominated representative 
on the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership as appropriate.

The development and implementation of the Council Plan.

The Council Plan objectives in relation to quality of service and high performance culture

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Council Plan (incorporating the Five Year Strategy)
 Performance Management
 Equality Scheme
 Emergency Plan
 Communications Strategy 

Key Areas

 Community strategy/area planning/development of recovery group
 Emergency Planning
 Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships 

Appendix

Page 17



 Relationships with Government Departments, and other relevant authorities at a sub-regional, 
regional and national level

 Media and Communications 
 Performance Management

Deputy Leader – Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio 

Implementing of the Local Plan and Council Plan housing objectives.

Working in partnership to improve the standard, availability and affordability of housing in the District 
to meet local needs, championing these issues at national, regional and sub-regional level.

The Council Plan objectives in relation to improved customer engagement and communication. 

Looking at innovative ways of working.

The organisation of the Authority relating to the Council’s central services including Employee 
relations.

To support the Leader of the Council and to deputise in his/her absence.

Policies, Plans and Strategies

 Local Plan (including Development Management Policies)
 Housing Strategy and Policy (including Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy)
 Customer Charter and Contact Strategy
 IT/Information/E Government Strategy
 Member Development and Training Plan
 Workforce Plan 

Key Areas

 Strategic Housing and delivery (including Housing Enabling and Housing Grants)
 Development Management and Building Control
 Housing Options and Homelessness Prevention
 Customer Services
 Customer Connect programme
 IT Services
 Member Services 
 Member Training and Development
 Legal and Committee Services and HR Services

Finance Portfolio

The development of strategic policy to ensure that the Council has put in place proper arrangements 
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, i.e. Value for Money.

To ensure that the Council has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience.

Page 18



Policies, Plans and Strategies

 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Budget Framework 
 Procurement Strategy
 Discretionary Benefit and Rate Relief Policies 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Key Areas

 Strategic Finance
 Budget monitoring
 Treasury Management
 Capital Programme
 Value for money
 Procurement
 Savings programme
 Payments and Sundry Debtors
 Insurance and risk management
 Benefits Administration
 Council Tax Collection

Culture and Leisure Portfolio 

The Council plan objectives in relation to promoting culture, leisure activities and the arts. 

To work with our cultural organisations to attract investment and to promote South Lakeland as a 
premier area for Arts and Events.

The relationship of the Council with its citizens; civic participation and the Council plan objectives 
around leisure, health and wellbeing and working with communities.

Working with key partners with regards to public health and community safety.

Policies, Plans and Strategies

 Arts and Events
 Grants Strategy
 Licensing and Statement of Gambling Policies

Key Areas

 Arts and Culture
 Grants
 Public Halls
 Use of community assets for the promotion of arts and culture
 Young People/ projects
 Heritage and Events 
 Heritage Listed Buildings and built environment

Page 19



 Voluntary Sector Engagement in relation to Culture and Leisure 
 Leisure and Recreation 
 Licensing and Gambling

Economy and Assets Portfolio

The Council Plan objectives as they relate to the Portfolio area of work, and cross-cutting work 
developed through the Local Plan and Economic Development Strategy.

Working in partnership to ensure a thriving and prosperous District within the context of the wider sub-
region, through effective economic development, regeneration and transport strategies.

Working in partnership to ensure thriving and prosperous town centres throughout the District.

Providing public realm infrastructure to promote the local economy.

Promoting small businesses in both towns and rural areas

Policies, Plans and Strategies

 Economic Development Strategy
 Asset Management Strategy

Key Areas

 Economic Inward Investment
 Business Support and Sector Development
 Visitor Economy
 Town Centre Planning, Car Parks and Transportation
 Markets
 Asset Management 

Environment Portfolio

To take the lead on Waste Management/Recycling and relevant Council Plan measures under the 
environment objectives. 

Providing and maintaining parks infrastructure. 

To develop and implement a Playground Strategy. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies

 Waste Management Strategy
 Air Quality Strategy and action plan
 Active Travel Strategy and action plan

Key Areas

 Waste Management and Recycling 
 Streetscene
 Community microenergy schemes
 Carbon/Greenhouse gas Reduction 

Page 20



 Green agenda – Low carbon reduction 
 Public realm (Parks and open spaces)
 Corporate Health and Safety

Health and Wellbeing Portfolio 

To work with other tiers of government, community groups and other relevant partners to enhance the 
health and wellbeing of residents.

Alleviate the harmful effects of poverty in the District, looking at issues to address those who are 
disadvantaged. 

Working with key partners with regards to welfare reforms. 

Nominated representative on the Health and Wellbeing board as appropriate. 

To drive our Localism agenda

Polices, plans and strategies 

 Community Strategy 
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 Public Health 
 Community Safety Strategy 

Key Areas 

 Localism 
 Devolution
 Public Health
 Community Development
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
 Voluntary Sector in relation to Public Health and Wellbeing Sector
 Health and Safety 

Please note, Delegation to Officers from the Leader/Cabinet, remains as in the current copy of 
the Council’s Constitution.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet - 18 July 2018
Council - 24 July 2018

Customer Connect Programme Business Case

Portfolio: Deputy Leader of the Council

Report from: Chief Executive

Report Author: Claire Gould, Simon McVey – Partnerships and Organisational 
Development Manager, Assistant Director Performance and 
Innovation

Wards: (All Wards)

Forward Plan: Key and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan as 
published on 19th June 2018

1.0 Expected Outcome
1.1 By improving our systems and providing more self-service options for residents, 

business and visitors, we will reduce processes to free up staff to assist our most 
vulnerable communities and driving prosperity for all. The new operating model will 
be remodelled around customer needs and outcomes. This new approach and 
culture will combine competencies, knowledge and capability of staff in a slicker more 
joined up way which will provide more efficient, sustainable and cost effective 
delivery of services in the future. 

2.0 Recommendation
2.1 Cabinet is requested to recommend to Council:-

(1) Approval of the Business Case as attached at Appendix 1 to this report, 
including the new operating model for the Council;

(2) The approval of the budgetary provision detailed in section 7 of this 
report under Financial, Resources and Procurement and delegate the 
changes to any profiling and funding to the Section 151 Officer 
(endorsing the inclusion in the Medium Term Financial Plan elsewhere 
on this agenda); 

(3) That the Council approve the use of the North East Purchasing 
Organisation’s framework agreement for Specialist Consultancy 
Services to award a contract to Bloom Procurement Services Limited 
with Ignite as the sub-contractor to implement the programme of 
change as detailed within the report. 

(4) That it notes that following approval of the business case the 
implementation of the programme will commence and that a further 
report will be brought to a future Council meeting to agree the revised 
Senior Management Structure of the Council 

(5) Confirms delegation to the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, to proceed with the 

Page 23

Item No.6



implementation of the proposals detailed in this report within the 
approved budgetary provision. 

3.0 Background and Proposals
3.1 In September 2016, Cabinet agreed a Programme Definition Document for the 

delivery of the Customer Connect Programme which set out how it would contribute 
to a sustainable budget through increased value for money services, improve 
customer service and develop a skilled and flexible workforce that puts the 
customers’ needs first (minute CEX/62). The programme set out how it would deliver 
its outcomes through the implementation of a new operating model by January 2020.

3.2 The Customer Connect Programme established three key areas of the business to 
develop; Digital, People and Place. In March 2016 Cabinet approved the Digital 
Business Case (minute CEX/144) and work has been progressing well since then to 
implement new technology including a new accessible website and a replacement 
Revenues and Benefits system.

3.3 Over the past few years South Lakeland has fared well in meeting its efficiency targets. 
However, in order to achieve the aims of the Customer Connect vision and continually 
meet customer and community aspirations, it is clear that further innovative thinking is 
required. The Council now faces some difficult decisions based on increasing demand 
from customers, increased use of technology, reducing support from Government and 
the uncertainty of future government funding mechanisms. 

3.4 The Places element of the Programme will be governed by the Asset Management 
Programme, a report will come to a future Cabinet meeting setting out the 
accommodation needs of the organisation which will support the new ways of working 
for staff, support improvements to front line customer service and provide opportunities 
for income generation from other organisations leasing space.

3.5 As part of the People (Members) element of the Customer Connect Programme the 
Member Development Strategy was updated and approved at Council on 27th February 
2018 setting out how Members would be equipped with the skills and technologies to 
support their roles in their communities, and the district as a whole. There were also a 
number of developments being undertaken to support the role and activities of 
members, including updated Member role profiles (minute C/87).

3.6 As the final part of the Customer Connect Programme for People (Employees) a 
comprehensive business case has been developed (as attached at Appendix 1). This 
business case sets out a detailed plan to remodel the Council around customer 
outcomes, to maximise self-service and leave specialists to focus on complex cases. 
It introduces the concept of locality working and creates a major opportunity for the 
workforce to work differently by removing unnecessary process and geographic and 
organisational silos. The new model will provide:

 a completely new way of working for staff
 teams organised around the customer and activity, not services
 breaking old habits and the forming new ones centred around the 

customer
 new roles across the organisation
 more clear career progression pathways
 different way of working for Members including skype for business, thus 

reducing travel and having direct contact with the locality teams to enable 
local issues to be resolved locally. 

3.7 To implement the change, the programme will adopt a set of design principles that 
will underpin the concept of the Future Model – every element of the design for the 

Page 24



future way of working will align to these principles and deliver the benefits required by 
the Council. There are four benefit drivers:

 Customer Enabling - reducing or shaping demand to reduce the level of 
service required from customers, e.g. early intervention and prevention, 
education campaigns to change behaviour, better information for 
customers so they can answer their own questions

 Customer Self-Service - enabling customers to do more for themselves 
and reducing council workload in the process, e.g. end to end on line 
processes, self-tracking and problem solving, supporting alternative 
channels

 Internal Remodelling - improving productivity and releasing capacity in 
the organisation through the reallocation of work, workforce optimisation 
and better workforce practices, e.g. shifting work and knowledge closer to 
the customer by embedding rule based ‘knowledge’ into processes and 
scripts, developing agile working and genuinely customer centric attitudes 
and behaviours.

 Technology/Process Improvement - stripping out waste and non-value 
added activity from journeys and processes, e.g. end to end workflow, 
document management and integrated systems, single view of the 
customer, mobile/agile working and simplified processes

3.8 The business case describes the substantial efficiencies which can be delivered by 
designing an operating model which maximises the above drivers. It is estimated that 
each will contribute to an overall reduction in staffing costs of £1.55m per annum and 
a reduction in staffing levels by 43 full time equivalents from the current level of 416 
by January 2020.

3.9 To support the Council through this change there is a need to procure the expertise 
of an external partner which has a proven track record of delivering this scale of 
change. As the services are of a proprietary nature, it is recommended that they are 
purchased through the NEPO framework agreement for Specialist Consultancy 
Services which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered competition 
and fully meets EU requirements. The framework has previously been used by the 
Council successfully, and the contracting partner will be Bloom Procurement Services 
Ltd with Ignite as the sub-contractor. 

3.10 As part of the implementation of the new model, a phased approach will be adopted. 
Phase 1 will include the Leadership, Strategy and Commissioning and Support 
Services. Phase 2 will include the Universal Customer Contacts. It will therefore be 
necessary once redesigned to bring the new Senior Management Structure to a 
future Council meeting to be agreed.

3.11 Recently the local government minister Rishi Sunak has announced a new digital 
declaration, backed up by £7.5m funding to help councils transform their online 
services. This declaration affirms a collective ambition for local public services in the 
internet age to:

 design services that best meet the needs of citizens
 challenge the technology market to offer the flexible tools and services we need
 protect citizens’ privacy and security
 deliver better value for money

All local authorities will be invited to join by signing the declaration and committing to 
deliver actions that everyone can benefit from. They want to co-create the conditions 

Page 25



for the next generation of local public services, where technology is an enabler rather 
than a barrier to service improvements, and services are a delight for citizens and 
officials to use. By developing common building blocks they want local authorities to 
have the ability to build services more quickly, flexibly and effectively using innovative 
solutions. As the Customer Connect Programme meets the requirements set out in 
the declaration the organisation will look to sign up to this declaration and explore 
further the opportunities to pursue any funding opportunities.

4.0 Consultation
4.1 Members have been invited to a number of briefings before Council around the new 

operating model, the case for change, the new technology platform and what new 
technology is available for Members to conduct their business.

4.2 There have been several briefings for staff setting out the new operating model and 
the technology platform. There have also been detailed workshops to discuss the 
vision and values and preparing the organisation for change with Senior 
Management Team and Operational Managers. This will be widened out to the whole 
workforce once the Business Case has been approved.

4.3 There is a communications and engagement work stream set up in the programme 
which identifies the key stakeholders. It will develop a comprehensive strategy and 
plan to communicate with and engage a range of stakeholders through the 
implementation phases of the programme.  

4.4 Trade Union representatives will be involved throughout the programme but 
particularly the people elements.  

4.5 A consultation document will be developed which will become the Restructure Policy.  
The consultation document will be provided to all employees and will include a 
multitude of information; letter from the Head of Paid Service, the reason for such 
radical change, the case for change, the partnership arrangement with Ignite, the 
journey to date, the consultation process with any explanation required, policies 
relative to the programme, the new structure, the assessment process etc.  The 
consultation document will be presented to the HR Committee. Employees will have 
the opportunity to submit any proposals and/or considerations to senior management 
during the consultation process. All roles affected by each phase of the programme 
will be formally consulted. The Council will take a collective approach to consultation.  
This will ensure that consistency is applied through each phase. All employees who 
are in scope for that particular phase will be consulted, however, all employees will 
have opportunity to feedback on the consultation document.

5.0 Alternative Options
5.1 In accordance with the approved Programme Definition Document and the Digital 

Business Case, the Council is progressing the implementation of new technology 
which will support and enable the digital transformation of services. The programme 
seeks to maximise the benefits both for customers and the costs and efficiency of the 
Council’s operations. It requires change in how the Council operates. 

5.2 As an alternative, the Council could seek to deliver the benefits of the programme 
without moving to the new operational model.  This would lead to an approach based 
on the existing departmental organisational model.

5.3 The analysis which has informed the future operating model indicates that 
inefficiencies would remain in the business processes as there would be risk of 
repeat or duplicating of processes and roles rather than considering change on an 
organisational wide basis which unifies processes and practice. The benefits and 
savings enabled by the existing investment in technology would not be optimised.

Page 26



5.4 Through an approach based on the existing departmental organisational model, cost 
reductions would more likely result in reductions in service as the scale of cost 
reductions through efficiencies could not be maximised. 

5.5 Proceeding on the basis of managing change within the existing departmental 
organisational model is not recommended. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities
6.1 The Council Plan 2014-2019 states that “we are transforming the way we deliver 

services by maximising digital technology, putting customers at the heart of 
everything we do. Encouraging self-serve while ensuring that those who need more 
complex assistance receive it in a customer friendly way. Improve services, reflecting 
growing customer demand for a simpler way of doing business.”

7.0 Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1 The financial implications are set out in the Business Case. These are made up of 

the indicative costs, funding, payback period and efficiency savings. A key 
characteristic of the initiative is that it is developmental. The detailed impacts on 
performance and resources will become clearer as work is undertaken and 
milestones are achieved. The actual funding and profiling of the requirements at this 
stage is indicative. Delegations to the Section 151 Officer are requested as part of 
the recommendations to re-profile the financials with the overall amounts set out. 
Regular updates will be provided to the Customer Connect Steering Group.

7.2 The financial implications are set out in the tables below:

Estimated Costs
2018/19 2019/20 Totals

£k £k £k

Existing Digital Budget 301 0 301

Proposed Additional Budget 1216 2331 3547

Sub Total 1517 2331 3848

Current CC Reserve (1301) (1301)

Net Additional Requirement 216 2331 2547

7.3 The level of costs are stated at the maximum likely. There may well be a variation 
between the years but the maximum estimate is likely to remain the same. It is 
proposed that these costs are met from existing reserves and capital receipts as 
appropriate. There is capacity to provide for this as set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan elsewhere on this meeting’s agenda. 

Estimated Savings
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£k £k £k

Salary Savings Cumulative 
Recurring  (43 FTE)

(361) (741) (1550)

Page 27



7.4 Efficiency savings of £80k have already been delivered in 2017/18 and so the gross 
figure of annual recurring revenue savings is projected to reach £1.630m when fully 
implemented. This level of savings is the prudent level. Indications from other 
authorities’ experiences in the application of the model suggest that there is scope to 
increase this. This will be reviewed as the implementation proceeds.

7.5 Based on these assumptions the payback period is 2.5 years. The accumulated net 
savings over the 10 year period amount to circa £8m (after discounting for cash flow). 
Vacancies are being very carefully managed to ensure the benefits of natural leavers 
is captured and any redundancy costs are therefore reduced.

7.6 These assumptions have been included in the Medium Term Financial Plan further 
on, on this meeting’s agenda. This shows that deficits remain after the benefits for 
this are realised. The annual revenue deficits remaining total circa £600k to £2m by 
2023/24. Other work is ongoing as part of the Council’s Efficiency Plan to provide 
options for Council to consider to provide a balance position in future years. This 
amount does include £500k of growth at this stage.

7.7 External support was procured from Ignite consultants in 2017 to help develop a 
Blueprint for transformation of the Council based on detailed service by service 
activity analysis, refined maturity assessment, cost analysis and a technology 
assessment. Ignite have considerable experience in working with councils which 
have delivered similar types of models elsewhere. Further work was commissioned 
from Ignite via Bloom Procurement Services Ltd in May 2018 to review the business 
case for Customer Connect and to help shape the future implementation of Customer 
Connect. Bloom Procurement Services Ltd is the service provider for the North East 
Procurement Organisation’s (NEPO) framework agreement for Specialist 
Consultancy Services. The framework agreement is OJEU compliant and provides 
access to a wide range of specialist consultants. The Council has a good track record 
of using this procurement route successfully over the past three years. Approval is 
sought to procure additional consultancy support for the delivery of the Customer 
Connect Programme. The use of the NEPO framework is the recommended 
procurement route as this will allow a contract award to Bloom Procurement Services 
Ltd with Ignite as the sub-contractor as they have proprietary knowledge. This 
procurement route will comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
Council’s Constitution, and will avoid a lengthy and costly EU tender process which 
could delay the delivery of the Customer Connect implementation.    

Human Resources
7.8 The new operating model means total business transformation and as such means 

our employees will work in very different ways.  The impact is high but a training plan 
will be developed to ensure that SLDC staff are competent in the new ways of 
working. Due to the fact that colleagues will be involved in service redesign will mean 
they have a good understanding of the new ways of working from the outset.  The 
new operating model will mean that existing roles no longer exist and employees 
invited to apply for roles within the new structure.  This will mean consultation, 
assessment and new terms and conditions of employment being applied.  

Legal
7.9 Providing the Council continues to provide those services that it is statutorily required 

to provide, it has the power to adopt any operating model that it considers 
appropriate.  The proposals contained in this report are intended to best secure 
delivery of the Council’s functions, both statutory and discretionary.

7.10 The procurement route proposed in this report is compliant with the Council’s legal 
obligations.

Page 28



Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.11 The Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment is attached at 

Appendix 2.

7.12 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts:  The assessment 
focusses on the Council as an organisation and its people. Positive impacts are 
assessed for energy consumption, skills and training, and communication methods 
which improve access to services.  Both positive and negative impacts are assessed 
for employment as, whilst there will be a reduction in the number of full time 
equivalent employees, the remodelling of future job roles will provide enhanced 
employment roles in a digitally enabled customer focussed environment. Employees 
will gain relevant, modern and marketable competencies and skills.

7.13 With regard to the impact of the Council, the Customer Connect programme aims to 
achieve service improvements and genuine efficiency savings rather than service 
reductions and scaling back the Council’s ambitions. It equips a forward thinking and 
agile Council which better addresses future challenges and opportunities. As a result 
the Council will continue and improve its impact on the social, economic and 
environmental wellbeing of the district.  

Equality and Diversity
7.14 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No     

7.15 Equality issues have been assessed against the digital work and as part of the 
development of the website. The change to a new model in respect of employees will 
be conducted in accordance with HR policies and our equalities scheme. As part of 
this element of the programme Equality Impact Assessments will be completed as 
part of the redesign of processes and activity before implementation into the new 
operating model.  Key stakeholders will be consulted on these developments as part 
of the consultation work package.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
Lack of ownership of the 
programme

If the programme is not led 
by SMT then this could 
impact on new systems 
and processes not 
adopted by staff and 
customers.

The Chief Executive (CE) will 
personally lead the programme. It 
is a key priority in his personal 
performance appraisal and the 
council plan. It is also a regular 
feature of all CE staff briefings. The 
CE has set up interim leadership 
arrangements to support him in the 
implementation of the programme.

The Programme does 
not achieve the savings 
set out in the Business 
Case

The savings set out in the 
MTFP will not be achieved 
by the Customer Connect 
Programme and will 
require other methods to 
find savings.

Working with our partner Ignite who 
will provide regular reviewing and 
monitoring of the programme and 
work with us to manage mitigations 
if not met based on the benefits as 
set out in the Business Case.

Loss of key staff in key 
project roles

Understanding of the 
Future Operating Model 
causes concern for key 
people involved in the 
programme, resulting in 
staff leaving at critical 

It is likely that staff will either leave 
the organisation or move into new 
roles as the programme is rolled 
out. As this is expected the 
programme is planning now for 
knowledge to be shared across the 

Page 29



Risk Consequence Controls required
times and causing delays 
in implementation.

implementation teams to support 
the movement of staff into key 
roles.

Key messages will also be 
communicated and understood 
across the council with an effective 
pre-agreed process for recruiting to 
key roles which support the 
programme.

Skill shortage Lack of skills may result in 
the programme being 
inappropriate, staff 
unavailable at key times, 
programme deadlines slip 
and outcomes of 
the programme are not 
achieved and the benefits 
not realised.

There is a significant element of 
budget set out in the business case 
for dedicated training for staff. This 
will be for both staff in key roles in 
the implementation of the 
programme and for those staff 
moving into new roles as the model 
is rolled out. 

Level of service 
performance drops 
during implementation 

There is reputational 
damage to the council  

Interim arrangements to manage 
business as usual work as well as 
change management have been 
put in place along with transition 
planning to get the organisation 
from its current sate into the new 
ways of working.

Contact Officers
Simon McVey, Assistant Director & Senior Responsible Owner, Performance and 
Innovation, s.mcvey@southlakeland.gov.uk. Claire Gould, Partnerships and Organisational 
Development Manager and Programme Manager, c.gould@southlakeland.gov.uk. Shelagh 
McGregor, Assistant Director Resources and Chief Finance Officer, 
s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk. 

Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No. Name of Appendix
1 Customer Connect Business Case

2 Health, Social Economic and Environmental Impact assessment

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available
Customer Connect Programme 
Report

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g40
32/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2014-
Sep-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10

Cabinet Minute CEX/62 http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g40
32/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2014-Sep-
2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1

Page 30

mailto:s.mcvey@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:c.gould@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk


Name of Background document Where it is available
Digital Business Case Report http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g37

51/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2023-
Mar-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10

Cabinet Minute CEX/144 http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g37
51/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2023-Mar-
2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1

Member Development Strategy 
Report 

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g43
52/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2027-
Feb-2018%2018.30%20Council.pdf?T=10

Council Minute C/87 http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/g43
52/Public%20minutes%20Tuesday%2027-Feb-
2018%2018.30%20Council.pdf?T=11

Tracking Information
Signed off by Date sent
Legal Services 2nd July 2018
Section 151 Officer 29th June 2018
Monitoring Officer 2nd July 2018
SMT 2nd July 2018

Circulated to Date sent
Assistant Director 2nd July 2018
Human Resources Manager 13th June 2018
Communications Team
Leader 28th June 2018
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder 28th June 2018
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet) 18th July 2018
Council 24th July 2018

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



 G
Delivering the future - 

Customer Connect

Customer Connect Business Case

Appendix 1

Page 33



2

Table of Contents

Delivering the future - Customer Connect........................................................1

1. Executive Summary ..............................................................................3

2. South Lakeland Context .........................................................................4

3. Overview of the Future Operating Model ....................................................7

4. Blueprint Approach...............................................................................9
a. Design principles ..........................................................................................9

b. Benefit drivers ...........................................................................................10

c. Create workshops .......................................................................................10

5. Mobilisation.......................................................................................11
a. Mobilisation Phase.......................................................................................11

b. Change and Engagement ...............................................................................11

c. Communication ..........................................................................................12

d. Human Resources........................................................................................12

e. Service Re-design........................................................................................12

f. Technology Assessment.................................................................................14

g. Transition Management ................................................................................15

6. Business Case.....................................................................................16
a. Staffing cost reductions ................................................................................16

b. Breaking down the benefits by phase ................................................................16

c. Implementation Investment ...........................................................................18

d. Benefits realisation and timeline .....................................................................19

e. Programme payback ....................................................................................20

7. Organisational Framework ....................................................................22
a. Populating the Future Operating Model .............................................................22

b. Organisational design ...................................................................................22

8. Implementation Plan ...........................................................................26
a. Proposed implementation plan........................................................................26

b. Implementation approach..............................................................................26

c. Proposed Programme Structure .......................................................................27

d. Proposed governance for implementation...........................................................28

e. Risk Management ........................................................................................28

9. Conclusion ........................................................................................29

Page 34



3

1. Executive Summary 
People increasingly do many of their communications and transactions online, especially using 
mobile devices, and this is now the most efficient and cost-effective way to deliver services and 
to communicate with our community.

Councils now face growing demand from residents and government to embrace digital technology. 

The SLDC Customer Contact strategy will enable the council to continuously improve the lives of 
our residents, businesses and visitors by delivering what they require in a way which suits them 
and provides best value for taxpayers. Research shows 80% of people in South Lakeland are major 
users of the internet in their everyday lives, though some will continue to rely on telephone and 
face-to-face contact for a few years to come. We will not be dis-enfranchising any part of the 
community through the delivery of this programme.

Economic, demographic and technological pressures are forcing councils to re-think the way they 
deliver services and this has left councils with difficult choices about either reducing levels of 
service, increasing charges, changing or reducing the ambitions they have for local communities 
or innovating and changing what they do. 

This business case sets out a detailed plan to re-model the council around customer outcomes, to 
maximise self-service and leave specialists to focus on complex cases. It introduces the concept 
of locality working and creates a major opportunity for the workforce to work differently by 
removing unnecessary process and geographic and organisational silos.

It explains how external support has been procured from Ignite consultants to help develop a 
Blueprint based on detailed service by service activity analysis, refined maturity assessment, cost 
analysis and a technology assessment. Ignite have considerable experience in working with 
councils which have delivered similar types of models elsewhere.

The Blueprint has identified a Future Operating Model (FOM) for the council, an implementation 
plan for a radical transformation of the technology architecture and a benefits realisation 
forecast to support the investment. This will be underpinned by significant people and culture 
change, understanding of the commercial aspirations of the council and the localisation agenda. 

Using this model, all activity across the council has been mapped, identifying the roles and 
level of cost involved. This analysis describes activity types and the cost to deliver particular 
services to customers. 

The current staffing number or FTEs (full time equivalents) have been mapped from the 
activity analysis and the finance reconciliation of establishment and actual FTEs. As a result of 
this proposed transition to a new FOM, the number of FTEs is reduced by 43.0 FTE (10.3%) with 
a corresponding reduction of £1.55m (11.1%) of full salary cost per annum. These are the 
additional totals to be achieved in future years. A total of £80k of efficiencies has already been 
achieved in previous years.

To support the significant change envisaged, there are a number of implementation costs 
which are described in the business case. These include implementation, external partner, 
redundancy and digital costs and total £3.848m. These are essential to delivering a new 
operating model to support the annual savings of £1.55m. This results in payback over 2.5 
years. The Medium Term Financial Plan has included these estimated costs and savings. 

There are no alternatives to this approach other than a continued reduction of front line and 
back office services over the course of the next 5 years and beyond. Our ability to achieve the 
planned financial savings required via future government funding options will significantly 
affect our ability to achieve our Council Plan objectives.

Page 35



4

2. South Lakeland Context
It needs to be recognised that advances in technology and changes in customer and resident 
behaviour mean different forms of service delivery organisation are now possible and customer’s 
expectations of different types and levels of service are changing significantly. 

The business sector (e.g. retailers and banks) have started to embrace different ways of working 
and provide services through different routes and this has been embraced by parts of local and 
central government (e.g. DVLA). The key lesson from the business sector is that benefits cannot 
be bolted on to existing business models and service delivery; the whole business and operating 
model needs to be reviewed and transformed. 

South Lakeland current Council Plan recognises some of these challenges and have highlighted 
them in the following areas:

Through a flexible and skilled workforce

 Through our Customer Connect Programme staff will have the ability to work more efficiently 
for the customer and our workforce plan development will set out future requirements for the 
organisation. We will continue to develop our skilled workforce with more digital skills, agility 
and a more flexible, coordinated approach to working across services. 

Through our community leaders

 Our elected Members act as community leaders and are advocates for local people. We will 
ensure they are given the training they need to effectively represent their residents and 
support their communities to become more sustainable, within the new context.

 Our elected Members will regularly monitor delivery of the council plan and its measures of 
success through its Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Through the Customer 
Connect Programme, Members and customers will be able to access interactive performance 
data via our website giving customers the ability to hold us all to account more easily.

 Members across both the district council and county council will work collaboratively to 
deliver joint projects and activity so that duplication of work is reduced and efficiencies 
gained.

Through a sustainable budget

 We will ensure we have proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan details our financial position and the resources allocated to 
service areas and capital projects that will enable the council priorities to be delivered.

 Significant resource pressures in the future will impact on our deficit projections. Through our 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the challenges of a reduction in support from central 
government funding and the impact of the economic climate are regularly reviewed.

 Proposals to resolve potential short and longer-term deficits have been developed. Invest to 
save projects will achieve efficiencies and generate income, supporting this organisation to 
become sustainable in future years, whilst retaining the optimum level of value for money.

Through improved customer engagement and communication

 Through our Customer Connect Programme, our single view of the customer will put them at 
the heart of everything we do and enable them to have better access to services at times 
which are more convenient to them.

 Our customer feedback will continue to be used to inform and improve service delivery.

Page 36



5

SLDC has also developed a Customer Connect Programme based upon its Customer Connect 
Strategy. 

The vision of the Programme being:

 To improve the lives of our residents, businesses and visitors by delivering the services and 
support they require in a way which suits them and provides the best value for money for 
taxpayers.

The strategy set out guiding principles on which it would be delivered:

 Fully understanding what our customers require
 Maximise the use of digital channels
 Empower customers to self-serve
 Support access and independence
 Deliver services in a streamlined way
 The customer channel of choice is accessible 

To deliver the strategy the scope of the programme needed to be based on the delivery of 
organisational transformation more than service improvement and therefore it is necessary to 
understand the difference between the two.  

In the Council Plan there are four priorities; Economy, Housing, Environment and Culture and 
Wellbeing. To deliver on the priorities the council wants to ensure it’s equipped to provide the 
best, most cost effective services.  This will be delivered through the Customer Connect 
Programme. 

Following on from the Council Plan and building on what has been required to deliver its 
promises, South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) will embark upon a major programme to 
transform the way the council operates, delivers services to customers and meets its future 
service and financial challenges. To do this SLDC has developed the concept on a new Future 
Operating Model (FOM) that identifies a different way of working for the council.

The aim for SLDC is developing an organisation that is efficient and fit to serve its community and 
meet the aspirations of its communities, in the context of reduced resources, human and 
financial, over time. 

Service Improvement (Design Principles)
 Retain vertical service units
 Improve efficiency in theses verticals 

(Silos)
 Line of business applications integrates 

more effectively with portal and customer 
management.

Benefits:
 Remove Waste
 Reduce paper
 Increase automation
 Digitise end to end 
 Remove unnecessary approval processes
 Improve access 

Organisational Transformation 
 Remodel around customer outcomes, 

maximise self-service, leave specialists to 
focus on complex/ vulnerable cases

 Data management drives delivery 
 Relationships built & data shared across 

specialist areas that support customer 
requests to get things right first time 
(thus reducing avoidable contact) 

Benefits:
 Use workforce differently 
 Remove unnecessary silos
 Drive self-service and reduce other 

channels for simple cases

Page 37



6

In October 2017, SLDC engaged external support consultants, Ignite, to help develop a Blueprint 
based on detailed service by service activity analysis, refined maturity assessment, cost analysis 
and a technology assessment.

The activity has identified a new operating model for the council, an implementation plan for a 
radical transformation of the technology architecture and a benefits realisation forecast to 
support the investment. This will be underpinned by significant people and culture change, 
understanding of the commercial aspirations of the council and the localisation agenda. 

A challenging timeline has been identified in the Blueprint for full implementation of the model. 
This includes all technology fully implemented, new ways of working both process wise and 
behaviours embedded, and benefits realised. This has resulted in this business case being 
produced for consideration by Cabinet and Council in July 2018. 

Page 38



7

3. Overview of the Future Operating Model

The Future Operating Model (FOM) provides a model of how the council can deliver services to 
customers and how the customer will interact with the council. This provides the rationale for 
how the work is done and what types of roles are required to deliver the work. 

Understanding the difference between the operating model and organisational model is critical to 
helping articulate to staff in the council about what type of activities it completes and how they 
relate to one another. 

The organisational model provides an internal framework for how the council organises itself to 
deliver the operating model. This organisational model sets out where the work gets done, and by 
how many of each role. This drives considerations on spans of control, levels of seniority within 
role families and management structures required. 

Inherently there will be choices the council will need to make around the organisational model 
regarding any further changes to teams and individuals’ roles to respond to any changes in the 
other parts of the operating model. Ignite have worked with the council during the Blueprint to 
build a picture of the current ‘as is’ organisation, the effort and cost associated with different 
activity types and propose a new operating model for the ‘to be’ organisation. 

Following on from this work, Ignite advocate a focus on the key four following areas:

 Organisational re-design

 Culture, change and learning and development 

 Service re-design

 Technology and systems upgrades

Ignite’s experience is that a transformation programme across all four of these aspects is 
essential to release the full potential benefits of the FOM approach.

The Blueprint analysis provided an initial view of the numbers against each area of the model. 
Based on the choices made, the organisational model will develop through detailed design aligned 
with the agreed design principles, local constraints and corporate ambition

The model as shown below has been established in a number of local authorities. This framework 
forms a starting point for the design of a FOM; challenges and considerations specific to SLDC 
have been addressed through the Blueprint and Mobilisation phase. 

Page 39



8

The key components are:

• Customers: different customer groups access services in different ways. Some groups can 
be encouraged to self-serve online or draw on support from customer service staff only, 
whereas others may need to access the support of specialist staff more quickly 

• Strategy & Commissioning: translates community/customer intelligence and political will 
and ambition into strategic direction, and commissions what’s required to deliver this 

• Customer Enabling: helps the community and customers to help themselves so as to 
address aims and reduce demand for services

• Universal Customer Contact: all activity associated with customer contact, customer 
service, managing cases, resolving questions and issues (simple and complex), and 
scheduling input from others where required

• Delivery: delivery of core services e.g. waste collection, street cleaning, etc.
• Support Services: non-customer facing back office functions, much of which is 

transactional but some requiring organisational specific intelligence.

Page 40



9

4. Blueprint Approach

The ‘Blueprinting’ phase delivered:

 A blueprint 
o detailed service by service activity analysis 
o refined maturity assessment 
o cost analysis, including technology

 An indicative target Operating Model for South Lakeland, aligned to the Future Model, 
including 

o indicative organisational design, 
o role descriptions and 
o technology model

 High level plan for implementation 

a. Design principles
Alongside an overview of the Future Operating Model, the Blueprint engagements also introduced 
the concept of ‘design principles’. These were reviewed in conjunction with the wider 
participation group at several workshops and were compared with the Customer Connect design 
principles. The group agreed that they felt each of the Customer Connect principles was 
represented. 

These design principles will help SLDC make decisions that are consistent and in line with the 
benefits of the programme. These principles will assist SLDC to move forward as an organisation 
with a shared, common purpose, helping staff establish an understanding of “business as usual” in 
the transformed organisation. They will also be used throughout the proposed implementation to 
support decision making, particularly in the redesign of the councils’ processes.

Page 41



10

b. Benefit drivers
By embedding the design principles, and aligning the people approach and technology 
requirements, benefit can be identified from these four drivers. 

 Demand management (customer enabling): reducing or shaping demand to reduce the 
level of service required from customers. Examples include: early intervention and 
prevention, education campaigns to change behaviour, better information for customers 
so that they can answer their own questions.

 Channel shift (self-serve); enabling customers to do more for themselves and reducing 
council workload in the process. For example, end-to-end online processes, self-tracking 
and problem solving, supporting alternative channels.

 Remodelling (new structures and ways of working); improving productivity and releasing 
capacity in the organisation through the reallocation of work, workforce optimisation and 
better workforce practices. This will be achieved by shifting work and knowledge closer to 
the customer and embedding rule based ‘knowledge’ into processes and scripts, 
developing agile working and customer centric attitudes and behaviours.

 Efficiency (technology and process improvement); stripping out waste and ‘non-value 
added’ activity from journeys and processes. E.g. end-to-end workflow, document 
management and integrated systems, single view of the customer, mobile/agile working 
and simplified processes.

c. Create workshops
The final set of engagement workshops focused on key areas with smaller working groups, 
exploring in more detail:

1. Locality working and community/customer enabling
2. Leadership & management
3. Support services 

These workshops brought together the outputs of other Blueprint activities including the activity 
analysis, the maturity assessment of the overall organisation against the benefit drivers, 
organisational change readiness assessments and the technology spectrum of options.

The purpose of these sessions was to explore the elements of the Future Model that have a 
number of flexible options around design and delivery. The outcomes of these discussions have 
been reflected in this business case.

Page 42



11

5. Mobilisation

a. Mobilisation Phase
A timeline has been identified in the Blueprint as the target for full implementation of the model 
including all technology fully implemented, new ways of working both process wise and 
behaviours embedded, and benefits realised. Work was undertaken in the following areas: 

 Understand the need for clear governance and accountabilities for the delivery of the 
programme are key.  

 The key design principles that will guide the detailed work. 
 Structuring the customer journey and process design work.  
 Resourcing the customer journey and process design work. 
 Supporting SLDC within technology. 
 Human Resources and restructuring support. 

As part of the mobilisation phase a number of work packages have been developed to support the 
implementation phases of the programme, they are:

b. Change and Engagement
The change and engagement work is about ensuring that all stakeholders of the programme are 
engaged, supported, involved and inspired. It ensures that the people of the organisation are kept 
as the priority throughout change, maximising the benefits and minimising any potential negative 
effects on all stakeholders.

Some high-level objectives to achieve the above were: 

 Develop a change and engagement strategy for implementation
 Develop a plan of change and engagement activities for implementation, which 

demonstrates the dependencies between other implementation activities (i.e. 
HR/restructure, transition management and communications)

 Build knowledge and capability within the programme team in relation to managing 
change

Some of the activities to achieve the above were:

 To develop and deliver activities to build knowledge and capability within the programme 
team in managing change

 To develop and start to deliver activities to build change leadership capability
 To develop a vision for the programme and contribute to the development of a set of key 

messages
 To develop a strategic vision and associated set of values and behaviours
 To recruit and induct a network of change agents/champions
 To develop a plan for how organisational readiness will be assessed and tracked 

throughout implementation
 To showcase examples of the types of workshops that can be delivered during a 

mobilisation e.g. change resilience.

Page 43



12

c. Communication
The communication work package is about relaying up to date information from the programme 
out to the relevant stakeholders, ensuring that they remain informed and engaged. The 
Communication work package enables and ensures that other work packages communicate in a 
consistent and joined up manner, ensuring high quality of content, appropriate channels used and 
giving stakeholders somewhere to feedback to.

To achieve the above the key outcomes of the work package are: 

 A comprehensive understanding of key stakeholders for the Customer Connect programme
 A plan to manage these during the mobilisation phase
 A set of communications principles and key messages for the programme
 A comprehensive strategy and plan to communicate with and engage a range of 

stakeholders into the implementation phases of the programme
 A clear understanding of the resource required to support implementation communication 

activity including any related costs

d. Human Resources
The Human Resources work package aims to enable the process of staff changing from one role to 
another in a fair, legal and equitable manner, whilst ensuring the wellbeing of all staff is 
considered.

Some of the key outcomes were:

 Introduce the principles and required approach to manage the magnitude of the 
HR/restructure activity within a Future Model transformation. 

 Develop and deliver a short-term action plan of activities that need to be completed 
during mobilisation to prepare for implementation. 

 Develop a plan of HR/restructure activities for implementation, which demonstrates the 
dependencies between other implementation activities (i.e. change/engagement and 
communications). 

 Appoint interim management arrangements in readiness for implementation.

e. Service Re-design
The service re-design stream is about the enhancement of existing, and the delivery of new, 
capabilities within South Lakeland District Council to improve the service & experience delivered 
to citizens and staff. To achieve this, service re-design will have some primary aims: 

 Eliminate (or stop) processes that do not add value to the organisation or its customers.
 Simplify processes as much as possible to give a good customer experience for customers 

and staff.
 Standardise processes where possible, to speed up the build of new technology and 

provide a consistent experience for customers and staff.
 Automate any steps and stages in processes that remove manual effort.

Page 44



13

The service redesign stream needs to make sure that the processes in scope for redesign, which 
the council delivers to citizens, staff and members are:

 The right processes, re-designed and delivered in a way that makes significant 
improvements in customer satisfaction in the key targeted areas.

 Re-designed in way that makes it better and easier for colleagues to deliver services to 
citizens and colleagues. 

 Aligned to the new organisation design, new roles and ways of working.

Get these right and it is expected that there will be the following outcomes:

 Reduction in customer contacts & complaints to the contact centre. 
 Improvements in staff morale who perform the work. 
 A significant increase in the take up of self service capabilities, new efficient ways to 

deliver services, requiring less resources, resulting in the realisation of financial savings.  

Central to the operating model is making sure the organisation and its processes are designed 
around the customer. To ensure the teams always have the customer at the forefront when 
redesigning a process the team will constantly refer to the design principles most aligned for that 
process. They will utilise customer personas to understand and empathise with the proposed 
customer in order to design a process to meet the need of the customer. 

Existing customer journeys will also be used to ensure the overall customer experience is 
enhanced. At the heart of the Service Redesign approach will be the testing of assumptions, 
solutions and redesigned processes with SLDC customers through regular customer focus groups 
throughout the programme. This will allow the team to gain rapid feedback from the customer 
and learn quickly what will deliver an exceptional customer experience. 

Once the team has been recruiting, the team will explore and adopt agile working principles and 
adapt them for what works best for SLDC. There will be tailored training and coaching for the 
service redesign team to help them understand the agile mindset and how they can apply the 
ethos of delivering value incrementally and frequently, developing an environment of fast 
feedback, short decision cycles and learning on how they continually improve their approach to 
delivery. 

An enabler to this will be how the service redesign team work together and focus on priority 
capabilities or processes that SLDC require. It will be important that the IT configuration analysts 
work alongside business analysts, the key subject matter experts and SLDC customers. This allows 
for rapid decision making, early IT intervention and an overall reduction in documentation being 
created and passed to IT as they will be part of the service redesign team. 

A high-level approach for the team will be fully documented prior to implementation and it will 
be tested. However, the team will need to create an environment of continuous improvement to 
develop the approach throughout the programme as they learn and their maturity increases.  

Page 45



14

f. Technology Assessment
Improved and better integrated technology and systems are key to delivering the new ways of 
working advocated in the Future Operating Model. The table below highlights the core 
capabilities of what the technology needs to be able to do, against the FOM activity types. 

The adoption of a ‘master’ customer record and a customer relationship management system has 
been a fundamental principle throughout Ignite’s experience of working with other councils 
implementing the Future Model. 

South Lakeland has been developing the new strategic approach for a Digital Council. This work is 
on-going working with Meritec, which is supplying South Lakeland with its digital platform. 
Following a review of the Enterprise Solution Design (ESD) it is clear that it is a great foundation 
for the FOM-enabling technology. All key components of the technology map are in place. 

The additional technology requirements are largely around:

 enhancements to the ESD to support the single customer contact team, i.e. it needs to 
ensure telephone and face-to-face contact is also well catered for

 enabling enterprise workflow by ensuring all incoming cases and requests are visible to 
and managed through a single corporate workflow solution 

 electronic document management integration with the digital platform to enable a 
consistent and agile approach to case management (specification of this is underway).

In summary the additional technology requirements have been captured with cost assumptions 
that will need further review and validation at the start of implementation. 

Page 46



15

g. Transition Management 
Transition management is the work package accountable for ensuring that the transition from one 
state to the other is successful. This involves ensuring that the ‘lights are kept on’ and services 
are continued to be delivered while transitioning and that skills, knowledge and contacts are 
handed over when appropriate. This is also where the staff moving into new roles are trained, 
engaged and supported to deliver the council services.

Some of the key outcomes are:

 Understand the purpose and scope of transition management activity required during an 
implementation

 Develop a plan of transition management activities, which demonstrates the dependencies 
between other implementation activities (i.e. HR/restructure, and change/engagement) 

Page 47



16

6. Business Case

a. Staffing cost reductions

The current FTEs were mapped from the activity analysis spreadsheets and the finance 
reconciliation of establishment and actual FTEs. As a result of this proposed transition to the 
FOM, the number of FTEs is reduced by 43.0 FTE (10.3%) with a corresponding reduction of 
£1.55M (11.1%) of salary cost per annum.

The savings identified in the table above are based on the benefit drivers being applied to the 
existing services and their mapping of activities to the FOM areas. 

b. Breaking down the benefits by phase

The transformation has been divided into phases which would reflect the reality of 
implementation. Each phase has been broken down and described in more detail below.

Phase 1 total benefit: £682k

i) Phase 1A: Remodel leadership and management activity 

To support the implementation of the new ways of working, there is a proposed change to the 
leadership and management structure. This new structure delivers leadership, management and 
supervision across the council through simplifying the organisational structure and embedding 
matrix management of functional and operational components.

The proposed scope of Phase 1A comprises any role across the organisation that will therefore 
allow activities in phase 2 to largely report to the new leadership team as they are intended in 
the Future Operating Model. In doing this, key specialist knowledge will also be in scope, allowing 
Functional and Specialist leads to be appointed.

ii) Phase 1B: Co-ordination of Strategy 

Strategy activities are currently dispersed throughout the council’s existing structures and while 
it contains some significant good practice, it is acknowledged that there is some variability and as 
such, there are opportunities to better co-ordinate and improve.

By centralising a critical mass of this activity, the Council has the opportunity to create a stronger 
‘corporate core’. This will support Members directly to deliver their ambitions for South Lakeland 
and provide the evidence-based strategic framework which can drive all council activity. As part 
of the first phase of work, the creation of this central ‘hub’ will deliver savings through more 
effective, consolidated capacity.

Page 48



17

iii) Phase 1C: Future Operating Model for Support Services (excl. IT) 

A number of fundamental changes will need to be implemented in order to successfully deliver 
this operating model for Support Services and the full amount of associated savings:

 Elimination and simplification of policies and procedures across the full range of Support 
Services provided in order to significantly reduce activity in this area where possible

 Capturing significant amounts of information currently held by specialists across Support 
Services into online portals and self-serve systems, improving information, advice and 
guidance to enable staff to self-serve easily and effectively

 Expecting managers and staff to self-serve for a large number of simpler support service 
enquiries and activities that will be embedded into the council’s intranet and automated, 
giving them enough guidance and support to ensure it becomes genuinely self-serve

 Introducing generalist business partners from Support Services for teams across the council 
to better direct support activity for these customers.

iv) Phase 1D: Shared IT Services 

 Due to the Shared Services arrangement with Eden DC, the timing of changes in IT Services 
will not coincide exactly with the rest of the support services function. 

Phase 2 total benefit: £868k

v) Phase 2A: Technology enabled customer service and locality working 

This significant saving is a core outcome of implementing the future operating model and many of 
the functional requirements that are specified for the integrated technology solution enable this 
saving. It is delivered by:

• Centralising a single customer service team for the vast majority of activity – effectively 
creating a single ‘front door’ into the council for all customers

• Providing access to a single integrated customer record
• Implementing better scripts to enable more activity to be “one and done”
• Better integrated advice, workflow and data to drive customer service efficiency and 

effectiveness in leaner processes.

vi) Phase 2B: Technology enabled, centralised case management & service redesign across 
specialists 

As with the centralised customer services, this significant saving is a core outcome of 
implementing the future operating model. It is delivered by:

• Centralising a case management for all activity
• Redesigning processes to deliver majority of cases in a rules-based approach
• Implementing a standardised workflow system across all rules-based processes
• More integrated advice, workflow and data to drive customer service efficiency and 

effectiveness through leaner processes
• Better utilisation of specialists to manage challenging cases and sign off case work
• Developing professionals with the skillset to deliver high volume throughput of case 

management activity
• More effective operational management to drive the performance of the case management 

team.

Page 49



18

Components of the new ways of working that will contribute to driving savings across the 
‘specialist’ population of South Lakeland District Council include:

• Separating out the operational (including utilisation) and functional (including professional 
governance) leadership and management activities

• Providing clearer more co-ordinated strategy, direction and priorities to better harness 
the efforts of the specialists in the council

• Breaking down the current silos in specialist teams, forming communities of practice to 
encourage multi-disciplined teams to come together to address the priorities of the 
council

• Redesigning processes to further reduce the burden on the specialist and focus on 
eliminating, simplifying, standardising and automating activity 

• Joining up and clustering processes to enable significant efficiency to be realised

Several specific benefits from new technology will also be realised including:

• Simpler access to data needed to perform jobs
• More intuitive workflows and systems
• Better integrated technology providing a ‘joined up’ experience
• Better access to systems including through mobile devices where appropriate
• Using the right systems for the right job
• Removing duplication between teams and with delivery partners
• Enabling the right governance and checking environment and ‘right sizing’ compliance 

type activities. 

c. Implementation Investment

Implementation delivery

To deliver this scale of change, there is a need for a range of internal and external expertise to 
support the successful implementation of this operating model and technology solution. An initial 
assessment is described in the table below.

These include implementation, external partner, redundancy and digital costs and total 
£3.848m. These are essential to delivering a new operating model to support the annual 
savings of £1.55m which results in payback over 2.5 years. 

The Medium Term Financial Plan has included these estimated costs and savings. The costs will 
be met from capital receipts and existing reserves as appropriate. There still exists a c£600k to 
£2m annual revenue deficit after these savings are included in the financial model. Further 
options to meet this are being developed for the Council to consider. The net gain from this 
project totals circa £8m over a ten year period (including the effect of discounting the cash 
flow).

Title Investment Description
Interim South Lakeland 
District Council 
resource

£757k  Business and technology analysts to map processes and develop 
scripts

 Additional IT capacity to support the implementation and 
change to systems

 Functional experts from across the council to specify services 
policy and ensure that these policies are embedded in the new 
ways of working

Page 50



19

External Change and 
Implementation 
expertise

£520k  Design oversight to ensure that the aspirations and principles of 
the Blueprint are achieved

 Change management expertise to bring best practice approach 
to implementing such a complex multi-faceted change 
programme

 Expertise to train, develop and support the wider team in 
technology implementation 

 Leadership of the process design, build and test sprint cycles
 Business analysis expertise and experience working with other 

Councils to implement similar transitions

Functional support £200k  HR, change and communications support to ensure the change 
processes are implemented and the workforce is supported 
through the change

Training £190k  Training and development to transition to new ways of working 
and to support the adoption of new technology

Technology £440k  To develop and implement appropriate systems. As previously 
described in the Technology findings section, there are further 
technology requirements that have been captured with cost 
assumptions that will need further review and validation at the 
start of implementation.

Hardware / 
infrastructure

£150k  to support the requirement of additional IT hardware such as 
additional devices to support locality working

Redundancy and 
pension strain Costs

£1,290k  Costs associated with transitioning from the current position of 
416 FTE to 373 FTE.

Existing Digital Budget £301k Current 2018/19 budget
Total £3,848k

d. Benefits realisation and timeline

The financial savings realised through the programme will not be delivered all at once. Therefore, 
the order and timescales of the financial benefit realisation has been estimated based on the 
likely phasing of the programme. This is summarised in the high-level implementation plan below, 
where the overall savings figure is broken down by each phase.

Benefit Phasing
Phase Activity

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Mobilisation Blueprint published and reviewed 1
Mobilisation Senior Management Team Development 1 1 1 1
Mobilisation Mobilisation set up 1
Mobilisation Mobilisation phase 1 1 1 1
Mobilisation Mobilisation phase 2 1 1 1
Mobilisation Implementation programme setup 1 1
Phase 1A Leadership 1 1 1 1 1 1
Phase 1B Strategy 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Phase 1C Support Services (excl. IT) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Phase 1D IT Services 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Phase 2 2A and 2B 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Other Data cleansing & migration 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Phase Activity

Phase 1A Leadership
Phase 1B Strategy
Phase 1C Support Services (excl. IT)
Phase 1D IT Services
Phase 2 2A and 2B

Activity

FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20

In year savings Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2018 2019 2020

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
£218k

£229k
£169k

£66k
£868k

£1,550kCumulative annualised saving Cumulative annualised saving£218k

Proposed implementation and benefits phasing

Page 51



20

It is recommended that this order is followed with leadership, management and strategy moving 
quickly to enable the rest of the programme’s implementation at a quicker pace and with more 
engagement. 

 By having leadership and management in place early on in the transformation, they are 
able to inform key decision regarding their teams during the detailed design

 The transition of leadership and management and strategy is less dependent on the full 
implementation of technology relative to other areas of the model

 The benefits to be released by transitioning these two areas of the model are significant, 
which will assist in the immediate budget pressures facing South Lakeland.

In the above plan, there is an assumption that the financial saving occurs at the end of each 
phase. This assumption has been made as the majority of employees tend to leave at the end of 
the phase. However, financial savings are likely to be realised earlier in the process if employees 
leave earlier than expected. In the above table, there is an annual financial saving of £218k for 
roles included within phase 1A -Leadership (this is the financial saving over a year). This means 
that the savings actually realised from this phase in year 2 (FY 19-20) equates to the full £218k – 
since the benefit release starts in the final quarter of year 1 (FY 18-19). 

For programme phases Strategy (1B) and Support Services (1C), the proportion of savings realised 
in year 2 (FY 19-20) will be slightly lower since savings will only begin to be released at the end of 
Q1 (FY 19-20). Therefore, there will be three quarters of the year left in which to realise a 
proportion of that financial saving. 

Phase of the programme Estimated financial 
saving in Year 
2018/19 

Estimated financial 
saving in Year 
2019/20

Estimated financial 
saving in Year 
2020/21

Phase 1A - Leadership - £218k £218k
Phase 1B - Strategy - £172k £229k
Phase 1C – Support Services - £120k £169k
Phase 1D – IT Services - £16k £66k
Phase 2 – 2A & 2B - £215k £868k
Total Savings - £741k £1.55m

Summary of estimated financial per year by programme phase

e. Programme payback

The above financial savings do not account for the costs of the programme. The table below 
outlines programme costs for which there is more detail in the implementation delivery in part c 
above.

Costs of the Programme Estimated costs in 
Year 2018/19

Estimated costs 
in Year 2019/20

Total

Implementation Costs £576k £1,161k £1,737k
External Partners Costs £290k £230k £520k
Redundancy / Pension Strain Costs £350k £940k £1,290k
Digital 18/19 existing budget £301k £301k
Total Costs £1,517k £2,331k £3,848

Programme costs broken down per year

Page 52



21

Based on the figures in the two tables above, we have sought to model the net position in the 
below graph. This puts the financial savings against the various costs of investing in a large-scale 
transformation programme.

FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 FY 23/24 FY 24/25 FY 25/26 FY 26/27

(£4,000,000)

(£2,000,000)

£0

£2,000,000

£4,000,000

£6,000,000

£8,000,000

£10,000,000

Cumulative Benefit

Cumulative Benefit

Cumulative saving against the implementation investment costs

Our analysis shows the return on investment will be positive from 2021-22.

Page 53



22

7. Organisational Framework

a. Populating the Future Operating Model
The Future Operating Model (FOM) populated with FTEs will provide a baseline for the 
development of the organisational design. As stated earlier the organisational design provides an 
internal framework for how the council organises itself to deliver the operating model. 

There are a number of design considerations, including 

 design principles, 
 how management and supervision is incorporated (i.e. how we embed functional and 

operational responsibility and accountability), and 
 how we enable further locality-based work 

b. Organisational design 
As described above, the organisational model is the practical implementation of the operating 
model to meet the needs of customers and adhere to the design principles. 

In conjunction with the business case, the assumptions made against each of the considerations 
above create the rationale for each element of the design including sizing and work type, as well 
as giving initial indications of spans of control and management. 

The requirement for senior management roles can be derived from the overall organisational 
design and will need to be further developed in detailed design. 

The activity analysis by service areas identified the number of FTEs doing management type 
work. (Note - this does not equate to roles as many roles have multiple responsibilities). 

PHASE ONE – Strategy
To be the strategic core of the organisation responding to political will and ambition and 
ensuring this is turned in to evidence-based strategy, and planned services, actions and 
projects, to ensure political ambitions are delivered effectively and efficiently “on the 
ground”.

Strategy Development: To set the corporate strategy and priorities, ensuring these are based on 
evidence (what the district needs and what residents want). Responsible and Accountable for all 
Functional Strategies including HR/Finance/Digital/MTFP and Commercial.

• Corporate strategies, policies & procedures
• Strategic HR
• Strategic IT
• Strategic Commercial
• Organisational and Workforce Alignment
• Strategic Contract Management

Page 54



23

Communications, Engagement & Marketing To keep internal and external customers informed 
about Council priorities, services and campaigns, lead the engagement of our customers, provide 
a corporate marketing function to the council including customer data and trends and promotion 
of commercial and income generating services, and place-based marketing to support inward 
investment and economic ambitions.

• Press Relations & Media
• Branding
• Communications
• Marketing
• Campaigns
• Strategic Programme  
• Community Engagement
• Community Hubs
• Digital inclusion
• Grant Management
• Consultation 

• Planning/Performance & Compliance: To provide member support and working to ensure 
that the council’s governance and democratic processes are efficient, work effectively and 
support the ambitions of the council. Set the Constitution and governance of the council, 
ensuring that the council is efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. 

• Performance Framework
• Scorecard Management
• Corporate risk mgmt. 
• Co-ordinate Statutory reporting

• Change/Transformation/Intelligence: Ensuring services, programmes, projects and 
employees are working towards a common set of outcomes as specified in the Corporate Plan. 
Building a sound evidence base of data, analysis and interpretation to support the wider work 
of the council. 

• Portfolio and Project Management
• Sharing Best Practice 
• Design Authority
• Transformation & Change
• Information Management
• Insights
• Predictive Analysis

• Theme and Portfolio: Responsible and accountable for existing and future Council Outcomes 
that will coordinate the span of control throughout South Lakeland. 

Page 55



24

PHASE ONE – Business Support

To provide business like and efficient support and advice to teams across the Council, in 
order to improve performance and support them in delivering the Council’s ambitions.

 Business Partnering and Case Management:  To act as the first point of contact to internal 
customers providing a business partnering service across the entire scope of Support Services, 
managing and resolving the vast majority of cases.

 Lead Specialists:  To input to Corporate Strategy, specifying the Council’s policies and 
accountable for ensuring professional service delivery in their area of expertise across all 
parts of the organisation.  Resolve complex cases and deliver relevant Council programmes.

Some assumptions have been made in terms of designing the Support Services element of this 
structure:

 Organisationally the intention is to match universal customer contact as closely as 
possible. This will build-in efficiencies for internal customers in the same way as the 
model does for external customers, which will additionally help embed the same values 
and behaviours across the whole organisation. 

 Once created, this team will perform a thorough review of all administration activity in 
the Council to build on the business support review, to simplify, standardise and automate 
where appropriate.

PHASE 2 - Universal Customer Contact

Deliver efficient, professional and commercially-minded services to the Council’s customers 
that are aligned to the Council’s ambitions, managing performance to meet the desired 
outcomes.

Customer Service:  To resolve a significant proportion of customer queries at the first point of 
contact, providing accurate advice and guidance; and to proactively seek to provide additional 
services to customers where appropriate, in support of the council’s ambitions.

• Multi-function customer service team.

• Accurate advice and guidance to customers.

• Resolution of enquiries at first point of contact

Case Management: To ensure the Council provides integrated services to customers focussed on 
their needs by acting as a single point of contact to the customer throughout the complete 
customer journey, and by managing and resolving the vast majority of cases.

• Deliver core processes efficiently and effectively.

• Deliver standard cases and consult with specialists where necessary.

Specialist Services:  To input in to the design and specification of the Corporate Strategy and 
associated policies and plans. To ensure professional service delivery in their area of expertise 
across all parts of the organisation.  To resolve complex cases and deliver relevant Council 
programmes. 

• Make decisions and provide judgement. 

• Input to strategy 

• Solve problems, 

• Manage complex cases, 

• Work on projects to deliver community & corporate objectives. 

Page 56



25

Community/Customer Enabling:  To act as ambassadors for the Council in the community, 
dealing with customer and business issues on initial contact as far as possible or referring to other 
teams. They work collaboratively with others to improve customer service: 

• reduce demand for services
• provide a Council-wide service working closely with the other functions to develop and 

implement strategies to:
• providing better guidance to enable right first-time applications
• Generate and support cultural change across the Align campaigns, events and 

programmes of preventative work to make the most of the available resources 

Page 57



26

8. Implementation Plan

a. Proposed implementation plan

Key considerations from the FOM, organisational design, recruitment, process redesign and 
technology specification have been used to develop the implementation plan. These 
considerations drive the proposed high-level phasing of implementation as shown in the critical 
path plan below, the detailed excel version, with more detail under each large section of activity 
is available from the programme office.

The implementation plan has been developed based on best practice from other similar 
organisations and work stream leads to ensure the plan is the best option for SLDC. 
Implementation is split into 2 major phases, Phase 1 includes Leadership and Management, 
Strategy and Commissioning and Support Services. Phase 2 includes Universal Customer Contact 
delivery teams. Whilst the restructuring and HR process is underway for each phase the service 
redesign work stream undertakes a series of workshops and requirements gathering relevant to each 
phase (more information on this in the Service Re-design section).

The ordering of the phases in this way provides a number of benefits:

         Reduces reputational risks by transforming services that interact with the internal 
customer first, learning lessons from phase 1 before moving onto areas of the council that 
impact directly on the customer

        Early appointment of leadership and management roles will provide a team that can 
drive the change throughout the organisation and act as change champions for the 
programme

         Transformed Strategy and Support Service functions will be better equipped to support 
the remainder of the organisation as it moves through its own transformation

         Delivers key technology components and allows concepts to be thoroughly proven 
before they are deployed across the wider organisation

         Builds the structures around customer interaction that will support the later phases of 
the programme in delivering the on-the-ground presence and customer enabling functions 
required to drive efficiencies and channel shift.

b. Implementation approach

The implementation of the programme will be delivered in an agile manner, some key agile 
principles are outlined below

         Programme and project goals are clearly and continuously aligned to business strategy

         Benefits are realised incrementally and as early as possible

         Governance focusses on creating coherent capability

         Decision making powers are delegated to the lowest possible level

Using the agile principles above, and Ignite’s experience in delivering similar programmes, the 
structure and governance of the programme is outlined below. This is a starting point for the 
programme and this will be developed and flexed to suit the requirements of the organisation to 
deliver the best possible outcome for all SLDC and all its stakeholders.

Page 58



27

During the mobilisation period some of the key objectives for the Programme office are listed 
below:

 Establish an agile and flexible transformation programme governance.

 Manage the outcomes and deliverables for the programme, working with the Programme 
Sponsor, Programme Team and External Assurance Group.

 Actively promote trust and close cooperation between stakeholders and promote new 
behaviours in change environments

 Work across the programme to highlight, manage & escalate programme issues, risks & 
dependencies. Provide support to work package leads.

 Maintaining regular communication on all areas of programme activity.

 Develop a financial tracker and process for finance / budget requests.

 To develop new ways of programme reporting and effective programme management 
tools.

Some of the key activities to deliver the above objectives are outlined below 

 Develop a detailed programme plan with activities, dependencies and milestones, and 
keep up to date.

 Compile a programme risk and issue log.

 Set up and monitor and report regular board, assurance or other required meetings.

 Define the overall benefits list and ensure linked activity to the overall programme plan 
and financial savings.

 Development of personas for the programme team – what behaviours are expected and 
how we will interact.

 Develop a set of principles for how meetings will run – what behaviours are expected and 
how the meetings will be conducted.

 Develop an agile reporting process that is value add across the programme.

 Develop a handbook that describes the South Lakeland agile change methodology

c. Proposed Programme Structure

The programme will be structured as below. This will be developed as the programme moves 
forward, ensuring that the programme remains aligned to the agile principles. The work packages 
are to become work streams to match industry standard conventions. The programme will be 
made up of nine separate work streams, Place, Digital, Service Re-Design, Change, 
Communication & Engagement, HR, Transition management, PMO and Design Authority. These 
work stream leads and supporting teams will report into the programme board. The programme 
board will report to the External Assurance board who in turn reports into the Steering Group. 

Page 59



28

d. Proposed governance for implementation

The diagram below outlines the governance of the programme, how the reporting structure will 
be implemented and how the programme will seek to consult and inform the other key 
stakeholders of the organisations where and when appropriate.

 

e. Risk Management

In creating the implementation plan for this significant change programme, risks have started to 
be considered at both the programme and service level. There is in place a risk-register for the 
programme which identifies the key risks and their mitigations. It includes:

         Delay in programme implementation timetable

         Not meeting the financial efficiency savings

         IT delays

         Disruption to staff

         Disruption to customers and business as usual

In addition to these, there are a number of other key risks currently captured and tracked on the 
risk register, the full table of risks is available from the PMO.

In each of the phases shown in the implementation plan, work package leads and the programme 
office will monitor and report risks at weekly Programme Board meetings and where appropriate 
these will be escalated to the External Assurance board. The programme will also track decisions, 
issues and dependencies. 

Page 60



29

9. Conclusion
The Customer Connect programme aims to achieve service improvements and genuine efficiency 
savings rather than service reductions and scaling back the Council’s ambitions. It equips a 
forward thinking and agile Council which better addresses future challenges and opportunities.

Not changing means standing still while the world changes around us. Failing to do this now 
means a greater risk services will not be sustainable in the future, risking a continued reduction 
of front line and back office services over the course of the next 5 years and beyond. 

Our ability to achieve the planned financial savings required via future government funding 
options will significantly affect our ability to achieve our Council Plan objectives.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



 South Lakeland District Council

Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma

Project, policy or programme:                    Customer Connect
Potential Impacts
Positive No 

impact
Negative Not 

sure
Comments Recommendations

Health Impacts

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality Y

Water quality and 
pollution

Y

Built environment Y

Natural environment 
and biodiversity

Y

Energy 
consumption/efficiency

Y More efficient use of 
office space could 
deliver a positive impact. 
Neighbourhood working 
and mobile working will 
enable efficiencies and 
reduction in business 
journeys and travel to 
and from work. 

Noise Y

Transport Y

Recycling Y

Food production Y

Social and Economic Factors
Employment Y Y It is recognised that 

there will be a reduction 
in the number of full time 
equivalent employees, 
however the remodelling 
of future job roles will 
provide enhanced 
employment in a digitally 
enabled customer 
focussed environment.

Income Y

Poverty Y

Appendix 2

Page 63



Project, policy or programme:                    Customer Connect
Health Impacts Potential Impacts

Positive No 
impact

Negative Not 
sure

Comments Recommendations
Please tick the appropriate box

Education, skills and 
training

Y Employees will have 
access to training and 
development to support 
them in their revised job 
roles and working with 
modern business 
processes.

Housing Y

Crime Y

Work environment Y Employees engaged 
with ‘One Council’, 
focussed on delivering 
vision and outcomes for 
the South Lakeland 
area.
Improved efficient 
business processes, 
stronger customer 
focussed service 
delivery. More efficient 
use of office 
accommodation.  Mobile 
and flexible working 
brings greater choice for 
employees in when and 
where they work. 

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet Y

Physical activity Y

Alcohol Y

Drugs Y

Risk taking behaviour Y

Smoking Y

Loneliness and 
isolation

Y

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication 
methods

Y Digitally enabled 
service delivery and 
business processes 
will enable better and 
timelier 
communications 

Page 64



Project, policy or programme:                    Customer Connect
Health Impacts Potential Impacts

Positive No 
impact

Negative Not 
sure

Comments Recommendations
Please tick the appropriate box

benefiting customers, 
Members, employees 
and wider 
stakeholders.

Active travel Y

Access to leisure Y

Access to culture Y

Access to green 
spaces

Y

Notes: 

The above assessment focusses on the Council as an organisation and its people. 

With regard to the impact of the Council, the Customer Connect programme aims to achieve 
service improvements and genuine efficiency savings rather than service reductions and 
scaling back the Council’s ambitions. It equips a forward thinking and agile Council which 
better addresses future challenges and opportunities. As a result the Council will continue 
and improve its impact on the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the district.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny, 13 July 2018

Cabinet Wednesday, 18 July 2018
Council, 24 July 2018

Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18

Portfolio: Finance Portfolio Holder

Report from: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager

Wards: All wards

Forward Plan: Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan 
as published on 19 June 2018 amended 21 June 2018

1.0 Expected Outcome
1.1 The expected outcome is that the Council’s financial performance for 2017/18 and 

impact on reserves be noted.

2.0 Recommendation
2.1 It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny note the note the outturn figures 

and make any comments to feed into Cabinet on 18 July 2018;
2.2 It is recommended that Cabinet:-

(1) note the outturn figures and variance explanations set out in the report 
and appendices;
(2) note the contributions to and from reserves detailed in Appendix 1a; 
and
(3) request Council approve the revised Capital Programme in Appendix 3 
and the funding of the Capital Programme in Appendix 4.

2.3 Council is requested to approve the Capital Programme and funding set out in 
Appendix 3 and 4. 

3.0 Background and Proposals
General Fund Revenue Expenditure and Outturn

3.1 Appendix 1a shows the final overall General Fund outturn against budget for 
2017/18 and Appendix 1b shows service expenditure and income variances against 
budget. Explanations are included in Appendix 1b generally where variances are 
over £10k.  Overall net service expenditure shows an underspend of £945k against a 
gross revenue budget of circa £55m which is equal to 1.7%. 

3.2 Major variances after carry-forwards included:

a. Expenditure on Customer Connect £230k lower than budgeted; this 
underspend has been transferred back into the Customer Connect 
reserve with delegation to Senior Management Team;

Page 67

Item No.7



b. Community Housing Fund £136k lower than budgeted due to delays on 
individual projects by third parities.  The use of the Community Housing 
reserve will be reduced for 2017/18.

c. Homelessness including Town View Fields Hostel £113k higher than 
budgeted.  Supporting People grant was lower than budgeted, additional 
staff and homelessness prevention costs.

d. Car Parking £147k overall net underspend, mainly due to £129k demand 
led income surplus.

e. Lake Windermere £110k overall net overspend, mainly due to lower than 
expected income

f. Waste collection, kerbside recycling and streetcare £222k overall net 
overspend, mainly due to additional employee costs offset by additional 
income from sale of materials

3.3 After carry forwards totalling £486k, the variance reduces to £459k (0.8% of the 
gross revenue budget). This net underspend is £160k greater than had been 
projected as part of Q3 financial monitoring. The variances which remain are being 
reviewed as part of the efficiency planning work and updated Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 

Table 1: Summary of service variances by type of expenditure
2017/18 2017/18 2017/18
Working 
Budget

Actual Variance

£000 £000 £000
Employees 14,776 14,929 153 
Premises 3,394 3,380 (14)
Transport 2,222 2,173 (49)
Supplies & Services 8,057 4,949 (3,108)
Contracted Services 2,096 1,863 (233)
Transfer Payments 18,985 16,723 (2,262)
Recharges (1,346) (1,310) 36 
Capital 7,353 7,349 (4)
Total Expenditure Variances 55,537 50,056 (5,481)

Income (38,049) (33,513) 4,536 
Net Service Variances 17,488 16,543 (945)
Non-service Net Expenditure (see Table 2 for detail) (17,488) (16,589) 899 
Net Underspend transferred to General Reserve 0 (46) (46)

3.4 Table 1 shows the majority of the variance relates to transfer payments, of which the 
major item is housing benefit payments, and supplies and services.  The underspend 
on housing benefit payments is offset by a reduction in subsidy grant received.  The 
variance on supplies and services relates to a number of budgets across a variety of 
services, as shown in Appendix 1b, and includes £2.16m budgeted for flood 
resilience grants which have been treated as capital payments rather than revenue 
payments.  

3.5 The final position on service expenditure shows a reduced requirement of £945k in 
the year.  This is not the final position on the General Fund working balance 

Page 68



however, as a number of transactions are made to reflect statutory accounting 
practices. Contributions to and from reserves and corporate interest payments and 
receipts are shown in Appendix 1a. The net impact of these will be a net increase in 
the contribution to General Fund working balance of £46k. Major variances included:

a. The Council joined a Cumbria Business Rates pool from 1 April 2014 which 
aimed to reduce NNDR levy paid to the Government under the new process.  
The actual saving due to the Council as a result of the pool for 2017/18 was 
£668k, £211k more than budgeted.  This has to be earmarked for economic 
development as part of the pooling agreement.

b. Lower than budgeted contributions to capital programme, reflecting profiling 
changing in the capital programme detailed in section 3.9 below.

c. There have been a number of changes to the budgeted transfers to and from 
reserves.  These are detailed in Appendix 1a and mainly relate to differences 
in timing between the recognition of income and expenditure between years.

3.6 The movement on the General Fund working balance is shown in the following table:

Table 2: Summary General Fund Variances

Description Variance
£000 £000

Carry forward requests (486)

Other service variances (459)
 (945)

Increased net interest receivable (55)

Additional Minimum Revenue Provision 16 

Accounting for Collection Fund (16)

Support to capital programme (490)

Additional income from Non-Domestic Rates pool (211)
Other net increases in contributions to and from 
reserves

1,655 

Net Underspend transferred to General Reserve (46)

3.7 The Council, on 28 February 2014 approved the General Fund working balance 
should be set at £1.5m and that any surplus above this level should be transferred to 
the General Reserve.  Accordingly the net underspend after all other transfers to 
reserves, totalling £46k, has been transferred from GF working balance to the 
General Reserve.

3.8 Revenue carry forwards were approved at Council on 22 May 2018 subject to the 
actual expenditure being in accordance with the projected underspend.  No 
amendments are proposed to the approved carry-forwards which are noted in 
Appendix 1.

Capital Expenditure
3.9 Appendix 2 shows the approved Capital Programme and expenditure and funding 

for 2017/18.  There was an underspend of £2,415k with carry forwards of £3,248k.  
The overspend overall after carry forwards is due to the late transfer of expenditure 
from revenue to capital relating to Locally Important Projects and flood resilience 
grants.  

Page 69



Table 3: Capital Expenditure 2017/18
Actual Expenditure 6,595 

Revised Capital Programme 9,010 

Net underspend before carry forwards (2,415)

Approved carry forwards 3,248 

Variance after carry forwards 833 

Capital Carry Forwards
3.10 Appendix 2 includes the approved carry forward of items within the capital 

programme and relate to projects that have either underspends or additional income 
received during 2017/18.  The largest items relate to housing schemes where 
payments are dependent on the actions of third parties (£490k Community Housing 
Fund, £495k Right to Buy Replacement) and the Vehicle and Plant Programme 
where a number of vehicles were delivered at the end of March but were not 
registered and taxed until April 2018 so the expenditure is recognised in 2018/19.

3.11 Appendix 3 shows a revised Capital Programme for 2018/19 – 2022/23 including the 
carry forwards approved in May 2018 and the requests set out below.   

Other Capital Programme Requests

3.12 The revised Capital Programme incorporates several other requests for amendments 
to the capital expenditure.  The main changes are:

a. Reprofiling of spend between years to match the latest projected spend profile 
for disabled facility grants.

b. Application of £161k of the Customer Connect Reserve to fund in-year 
commitments, approved by Corporate Management Team under delegation.

c. Inclusion of £4.67m of European Regional Development Fund grant income 
and expenditure relating to the North Kendal industrial area flood risk 
management scheme requested by Cabinet on 6 June 2018. 

d. Inclusion of the revised Customer Connect programme costings, as set out in 
the report elsewhere on the Cabinet and Council agenda.    

3.13 Appendix 4 shows the suggested funding of the revised Capital Programme for 
2018/19 – 2022/23 adjusted for actual income and funding applied in 2017/18.  The 
funding of capital programme will be reviewed during 2018/19 as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan and 2019/20 Budget Process.

3.14 The capital programme will be fully reviewed as part of the annual budget process to 
ensure it meets the Council plan priorities, is affordable and is deliverable.

Reserves
3.15 Appendix 5 summarises the balances on the Council’s reserves and working 

balances from 31 March 2017 to 31 March 2023.  Appendix 1a shows the detailed 
movements on reserves and the comparisons with budgeted movements for 
2017/18.  The majority of these were approved by Council on 22 May 2018 with a 
small number being approved under delegated powers by the Assistant Director 
Resources.

3.16 The Council’s Reserve Policy, which sets out the desired level of reserves, both 
overall and for each reserve, is reviewed annually as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

Page 70



4.0 Consultation
4.1 The report presents historic data in relation to out-turn for 2017/18. Budget holders 

and Members have been presented with monitoring information throughout the year. 
Budget and Portfolio Holders have been consulted with respect to variances and 
carry forward requests.

5.0 Alternative Options
5.1 No alternative options are proposed. Not approving the proposed capital programme 

may challenge service delivery during 2018/19 and beyond. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities
6.1 This report forms a key part of the financial governance arrangements that support all 

Council priorities.

7.0 Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1 As detailed in the report.

Human Resources
7.2 This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council.

Legal
7.3 This report has no direct legal implications.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

Assessment? No    

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: out-
turn relates to a historic review of activities already approved as part of the 2017/18 
Budget.

Equality and Diversity
7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No     

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Out-
turn relates to a historic review of activities already approved as part of the 2017/18 
Budget.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
Out-turn position not 
disseminated to Members and 
Officers.

Financial position and 
performance not 
embedded into wider 
organisational strategies

Reporting of out-turn to 
clarify performance during 
2017/18 and usable 
reserves position to 
support ongoing activity.

Contact Officers
Peter Hunt, Interim Chief Accountant, p.hunt@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk, tel 01539  
793147

Page 71

mailto:p.hunt@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No. Name of Appendix

1a General Fund Expenditure and Income Variances 2017/18 summary

1b General Fund Expenditure and Income Variances 2017/18 by service

2 Capital Expenditure 2017/18

3 Revised Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2022/23 

4 Capital Income and Financing 2018/19 to 2022/23

5 Reserves and Working Balances 2017/18 

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available

2017/18 budget book https://tinyurl.com/y6v6x4vl

Quarter 3 budget monitoring https://tinyurl.com/y7h7ehne

2017/18 Revenue and Capital 
Carry forward report

https://tinyurl.com/y9gusy4r

Tracking Information
Signed off by Date sent
Legal Services 19/6/18
Section 151 Officer 19/6/18
Monitoring Officer 19/6/18
SMT 20/6/18

Circulated to Date sent
Assistant Director 19/6/18
Human Resources Manager 19/6/18
Communications Team 19/6/18
Leader 21/6/18
Committee Chairman N/A
Portfolio Holder 21/6/18
Ward Councillor(s) N/A
Committee This report: 13/7/18
Executive (Cabinet) This report: 18/7/18
Council This report: 24/7/18

Page 72

https://tinyurl.com/y6v6x4vl
https://tinyurl.com/y7h7ehne
https://tinyurl.com/y9gusy4r


Appendix 1a

General Fund Expenditure and Income Variances 2017/18 Summary 

2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Approved 

Budget

Working 

Budget

Actual Variance Carry-

forward

Comment

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Resources 3,131.0 2,833.2 2,671.7 (161.5) 0.0 Details in Appendix 1b

Performance and Innovation 2,359.9 2,521.1 1,984.4 (536.7) 100.0 Details in Appendix 1b

Strategic Development 4,340.5 3,341.7 3,028.9 (312.8) 279.7 Details in Appendix 1b

Neighbourhood Services 6,056.1 8,790.3 8,856.5 66.2 105.8 Details in Appendix 1b

Net Service Expenditure 15,887.5 17,486.3 16,541.5 (944.8) 485.5 

Corporate items

Interest payable 567.0 567.0 563.7 (3.3)

Interest Receivable (99.7) (99.7) (152.1) (52.4)

Effect of Statutory and Proper Accounting 

Practices

  Reversal of Capital Charges (5,247.8) (5,331.4) (5,331.4) 0.0 

  Minimum Revenue Provision 433.4 433.4 449.8 16.4 

  Adjustments relating to Pensions 0.0 (730.0) (730.0) 0.0 

Support to Capital Programme 678.5 2,083.5 1,593.7 (489.8) See below for detail

Transfer from Reserves (1,670.6) (3,860.8) (3,707.2) 153.6 See below for detail

Transfer to Reserves 979.0 979.0 2,526.3 1,547.3 See below for detail

Parish grant 92.0 92.0 92.0 0.0 

SLDC Budget 11,619.3 11,619.3 11,846.3 227.0 

Retained Business Rates (3,037.3) (3,037.3) (3,037.3) 0.0 

Business Rate Pool (457.0) (457.0) (668.0) (211.0)

Revenue Support Grant (249.4) (249.4) (249.4) 0.0 

Rural Services Delivery Grant (347.9) (347.9) (347.9) 0.0 

New Homes Bonus Adjustment 0.0 0.0 (5.1) (5.1)

Transition Grant (115.4) (115.4) (115.4) 0.0 

Council Tax (9,892.5) (9,892.5) (9,892.4) 0.1 

Parish Precepts 1,563.4 1,563.4 1,512.4 (51.0)

Surplus on Collection fund 916.8 916.8 956.8 40.0 

Net General Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

General Fund working balance:

Balance 1 April 2017 (1,500.0) (1,500.0) (1,500.0) 0.0 

Surplus/deficit for year 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Balance 1 April 2018 (1,500.0) (1,500.0) (1,500.0) 0.0 

P
age 73



2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Approved 

Budget

Working 

Budget

Actual Variance Carry-

forward

Comment

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

SUPPORT TO CAPITAL PROGRAMME:

IT Replacement Reserve 40.0 40.0 68.3 28.3 The higher than expected spend reflects the un-even nature of spend on IT 

replacements.  The budget has been increased to £80k per year from April 

2018.

Major Repairs Reserve:

Kendal Leisure Centre 0.0 0.0 327.4 327.4 The use of reserves to fund this project to renew structural elements of KLC 

was originally budgeted in 2016/17 rather than 2017/18.

Parks various 0.0 60.0 13.0 (47.0) This use of major repairs fund is to fund play areas where work was ongoing at 

the end of the financial year and will be carried-forward to 2018/19.

Revenue Funds for Capital

Coronation Hall 0.0 0.0 44.3 44.3 )

Direct Revenue Financing )

Coronation Hall 102.5 102.5 38.1 (64.4) )

Castle Dairy 30.0 30.0 48.2 18.2 This project is now completed but the final retention was still awaited from the 

contractors which may require the remaining budgeted contribution.

Kendal Town Hall stonework 286.0 286.0 296.8 10.8 This project is now completed apart from the retention payment.

Ferry Nab 0.0 0.0 45.9 45.9 Additional revenue income has been used to offset additional costs of the 

capital scheme at Ferry Nab.

Footway Lighting 0.0 0.0 5.4 5.4 

South Lakeland House car park 30.0 30.0 42.5 12.5 Although most of the budget for this scheme is in 2018/19 there was a 

overspend against the 2017/18 budget, which will be offset in 2018/19.

Car Park surfacing 130.0 130.0 100.3 (29.7) The remainder of the budgeted spend will now occur during 2018/19.

Car Park machine upgrade 0.0 140.0 0.0 (140.0) The card-readers had not been delivered at the end of the financial year.

New Homes Bonus

Locally Important Projects (LIPS) 0.0 637.9 215.9 (422.0) Bids to use the whole of the annual allocation for LIPS grants were approved 

during 2017/18.  The remainder of the spend will fall into 2018/19 onwards as 

schemes are delivered.

Kendal Parks playground 0.0 30.0 0.0 (30.0) Consultation complete and tenders were received Feb/March. The scheme is 

due for completion in June/July so the budgeted contribution requires re-

profiling into 2018/19.

Town View Fields Hostel 60.0 107.1 161.3 54.2 The additional contribution from revenue to fund this scheme was vired from the 

planned maintenance budget under delegation to the Corporate Asset 

Manager.

Flood Reserve: Rothay Park 0.0 0.0 186.3 186.3 This project is on-going, including the new play area and works to the river 

walls.  Use of the reserve to fund the works was originally budgeted in 2016/17.

Community Housing Fund 0.0 490.0 0.0 (490.0) No capital spend in year as more time needed to work up schemes for 

acquisition and delivery.  Carry-forward of budget approved, corresponding 

adjustment to reserves required in 2018/19

678.5 2,083.5 1,593.7 (489.8)

The works are now completed but there remainder of the budget is earmarked 

for Ulverston Community Enterprise.

P
age 74



2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Approved 

Budget

Working 

Budget

Actual Variance Carry-

forward

Comment

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

CONTRIBUTIONS TO RESERVES:

General Reserve 200.0 200.0 200.0 0.0 Annual contribution

General Reserve 86.0 86.0 86.0 0.0 One-off contributions agreed 2017/18 budget

General Reserve 0.0 0.0 46.0 46.0 * Transfer of GF working balance at 31/3/18 above £1.5m to General Reserve in 

line with working balance policy.

Carry-forward Reserve 0.0 0.0 427.7 427.7 Carry-forwards of unspent revenue budgets from 2017/18 to 2018/19: See 

appendix 1a for details.

Building Control Reserve 0.0 0.0 44.9 44.9 Write-off building control in-year trading deficit for 2017/18: in line with practice 

in previous years it is proposed the deficit is written-off rather than carried-

forward.  

Fund of Revenue Monies for Capital 

Purposes

100.0 100.0 100.0 0.0 Annual contribution.  This reserve is used to fund capital expenditure or to off-

set costs originally budgeted as capital which have to be transferred to revenue 

e.g. aborted schemes.

Second Homes Reserve 46.0 46.0 46.0 0.0 Annual contribution earmarked for affordable housing.

New Homes Bonus 0.0 0.0 702.4 702.4 Annual grant received from Government less the small member grants and 

LIPs grant paid in year, earmarked for LIPS and affordable housing.

General Fund Properties Major Repairs 

Reserve

50.0 50.0 50.0 0.0 Annual contribution.  This reserve is used to fund major repairs to Council 

property to avoid large swings in annual costs.

IT Replacement Reserve 40.0 40.0 40.0 0.0 Annual contribution for 2017/18 to fund the costs of replacement IT networks 

and equipment to avoid large swings in annual costs.

Licensing Act Reserve 0.0 0.0 76.1 76.1 In-year trading surplus, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

Local Land Charges Reserve 0.0 0.0 28.6 28.6 In-year trading surplus, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

s106 Reserve 0.0 0.0 10.9 10.9 Mainly contributions received in year from developers for the costs of open 

spaces and play areas which are transferred to individual reserves and used to 

fund the costs of maintenance.

NNDR: Retained Levy from Pool 457.0 457.0 667.7 210.7 The Council is a member of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool.  This contribution 

to the NNDR pool reserve represents the levy avoided by SLDC through 

membership of the pool.  The monies must be used for economic development 

and are allocated during the next budget cycle.  The increased income is mainly 

due to changes in how the Government has treated small business rate relief 

and changes in the provision for future appeals.

979.0 979.0 2,526.3 1,547.3

P
age 75



2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Approved 

Budget

Working 

Budget

Actual Variance Carry-

forward

Comment

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

CONTRIBUTIONS BETWEEN RESERVES:

General Reserve 0.0 (1,000.0) (1,000.0) 0.0 

Customer Connect 0.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 0.0 

General Reserve 0.0 0.0 (10.0) (10.0) *

Carry-forward Reserve 0.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 *

General Reserve 0.0 0.0 (47.3) (47.3)

Statutory Duties 0.0 0.0 47.3 47.3 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM RESERVES:

General Reserve: contribution to costs (180.3) (180.3) (180.3) 0.0 This contribution to the temporary costs of the Streetscene restructure was 

approved by Human Resources January 2016 from the Streetscene contractor 

reserve.  In March 2017 the Streetscene contractor reserve was closed and the 

balance was transferred to General Reserve.

General Reserve: 2016/17 carry-forwards 0.0 (978.4) (978.4) 0.0 This transfer is to increase the revenue budget in 2017/18 for revenue budgets 

carried-forward from 2016/17, as approved in May 2017

General Reserve: 2017/18 growth (74.0) (74.0) (74.0) 0.0 Growth bids approved 2016/17 for 2017/18

General Reserve: 2016/17 carry-forwards (165.0) (165.0) (165.0) 0.0 Carry-forwards from 2016/17 approved February 2017

General Reserve: other timing adjustments (113.0) (113.0) (113.0) 0.0 Other budgets transferred between years

General Reserve: Redundancy costs 0.0 0.0 (49.0) (49.0) * Transfer of redundancy costs approved by HR Committee 27 March 2018

Flooding Reserve 0.0 0.0 (186.3) (186.3) The flooding reserve was set up to fund the costs associated with Storm 

Desmond and has been used to fund of works in Rothay Park.

Customer Connect 0.0 (234.4) (21.6) 212.8 The Customer Connect reserve was set up to fund the costs of implementing 

the Customer Connect project.  The use of the reserve matches the actual 

spend during the year.

Kendal Employment Development Fund 0.0 (13.7) (13.7) 0.0 This reserve was set up from developer contributions to fund employment 

development initiatives in Kendal.

Community Housing Fund 0.0 (670.5) (47.8) 622.7 This reserve was set up from Government grant for developing community-led 

housing initiatives, the use of the reserve matches actual spend.  As noted in 

Appendix 2 there was slippage in delivery of capital spend.

Statutory Duties: Health and Safety 0.0 (30.0) (25.1) 4.9 To fund costs of health and safety case, approved Q2 monitoring

Environmental Liabilities 0.0 (58.8) (58.8) 0.0 To fund 5-year extension of environmental insurances

Fund of Revenue Monies for Capital 0.0 0.0 (44.3) (44.3) Capital expenditure: Coronation Hall

General Fund Major Repairs Reserve 0.0 0.0 (327.4) (327.4) Capital expenditure: Kendal Leisure Centre

General Fund Major Repairs Reserve 0.0 0.0 (13.0) (13.0) Capital expenditure: Sandylands Playground

IT Replacement Reserve: (40.0) (40.0) (68.3) (28.3) Funding capital expenditure

This transfer was approved as part of the 2018/19 budget process to ensure 

adequate funds are available to deliver the Customer Connect project.

This transfer is to ensure the balance on the statutory duties reserve remains at 

£150k.  The reserve was used during 2017/18 to fund a temporary solicitor and 

the costs of a health and safety prosecution.  If the Council wins the health and 

safety case, any costs received by the Council will be transferred into the 

statutory duties reserve.

The carry-forwards at the end of 2016/17 included £10k relating to 2018/19 and 

2019/20 which should now be included in the new carry-forward reserve.

P
age 76



2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Approved 

Budget

Working 

Budget

Actual Variance Carry-

forward

Comment

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Economic Development Reserve 0.0 (100.0) (51.6) 48.4 Contributions to economic development schemes, reduced by carry-forwards to 

2018/19

Social Lettings 0.0 (20.0) (20.0) 0.0 This scheme has now ended, reserve used to offset additional homelessness 

costs 2017/18

NNDR: Retained Levy from Pool to fund 

growth

(143.2) (143.2) (143.2) 0.0 To fund 2017/18 growth related to Economic Development, approved February 

2017

Planning and Housing Delivery Grant 0.0 (40.0) (40.0) 0.0 This transfer is to offset cost of the Community Infrastructure Levy officer not 

met by the admin element of the levy

Building Control Reserve 0.0 0.0 (44.9) (44.9) In-year trading deficit, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

Hackney Carriage Licensing Reserve 0.0 0.0 (11.6) (11.6) In-year trading deficit, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

Misc Licensing Reserve 0.0 0.0 (31.8) (31.8) In-year trading deficit, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

Gambling Licensing Reserve 0.0 0.0 (12.7) (12.7) In-year trading deficit, now required to be transferred to trading reserve.

s106 Contributions 0.0 (3.2) (8.2) (5.0) The use in-year of contributions received in previous years from developers for 

the costs of open spaces and play areas.

Statutory Duties: Insurance 0.0 (19.0) 0.0 19.0 This use of the reserve was to fund the SLDC share of a pre-1992 insurance 

claim liability: the Council is now not required to fund these costs.

Statutory Duties: Property Solicitor 0.0 (22.2) (22.2) 0.0 This is to fund the additional costs of a temporary Solicitor post, approved as 

part of the Q3 Corporate Financial Monitoring

NNDR reserve to cover NDR collection fund 

deficit

(955.1) (955.1) (955.1) 0.0 This contribution reflects the timing difference where the Government have 

changed the business rates relief system and grants to reimburse for new or 

increased reliefs are recognised in-year but the resulting reduced business 

rates income from ratepayers is recognised in later years.

(1,670.6) (3,860.8) (3,707.3) 153.5

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 78



Appendix 1b

Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Year-End 

Carry 

Forward 

Requested

Commentary 

ECL Legal
Council Organisation 

and People
47,028 -30,250 -16,621 -157 -16,778 0 0 Purchase orders for cases not completed in year, outstanding

ERB Revenues and Benefits Finance 145,723 -100,742 -17,087 -27,894 -44,981 0 0

£29k additional new burdens grants, where changes were managed 

within existing resources. Reduced software costs offset by additional 

postage costs resulting from change in reference numbers from 

system conversion.

ERS Employee Relations
Council Organisation 

and People
16,586 0 -16,474 -112 -16,586 0 0 Saving from vacant HR Manager post for part of the year

GBN Council Tax Benefits Finance 350,923 -65,826 -4,250 -18,296 -22,546 0 0 Council Tax Support admin grant in excess of expected budget

GBT
Housing Bens Local 

Scheme
Finance 52,760 -36,300 -11,263 5,972 -5,291 0 0

GFN NNDR Cost of Collection Finance 382,217 -324,902 -2,185 10,755 8,570 0 0
The replacement of the Revenues and Benefits system in early 2018 

has delayed issuing summons into 2018/19

GFS
Unapportionable 

PensionAdj
Finance 50,400 0 -48,135 0 -48,135 0 0

This underspend relates to the difference between expected pension 

contribtuions, based on estimated percentage of pay, and actual fixed 

payments to the Pension Fund.

GFT Council Tax Cost Collect Finance 682,420 -169,016 51,337 -11,707 39,630 0 0
The replacement of the Revenues and Benefits system in early 2018 

has delayed issuing summons into 2018/19

GRA Rent Allowances Finance 19,471,774 -19,289,435 -2,357,949 2,297,029 -60,920 0 0 Reduced write-offs

GRB
Discretionary Housing 

Bens
Finance 75,060 -74,000 29,550 -29,550 0 0 0

The Council received an additional allocation of funds from the 

Government which has been paid out in full.

GSE District Special Expenses Finance 55,726 -41,700 -7,561 40,437 32,876 0 0

This variance is offset by an adjustment to the parish prcepts figure 

shown in non-service expenditure (appendix 1a) due to amended 

treatment of district lighting expenses.

GTH Other Items Finance 24,000 0 8 -28,676 -28,668 0 0
The additional income relates to one-off adjustments for credit notes 

from utility suppliers not matched to individual properties.

GUV Universal Credit Finance 25,000 -25,000 -24,846 25,000 154 0 0

This budget was to meet additional costs of implementing Universal 

Credit but there have been delays in rolling out UC nationally, 

including to South Lakeland.

Other Resources 1,618,987 -8,233 -2,281 3,496 1,215 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Resources 22,998,604 -20,165,404 -2,427,758 2,266,296 -161,461 0 0

Performance and Innovation

ECU Customer Services Housing and Innovation 230,466 0 -230,466 0 -230,466 0 0

Remaining budget relates to the Customer Connect Project.  Contract 

staff £147k; training £13K; consultancy £45k; software £20k; 

underspend to be transferred back to the Customer Connect reserve 

with delegation to Senior Managemnt Team.

ERI Information Services Housing and Innovation 43,565 0 -43,381 -185 -43,565 0 0
Net salary underspend £29k due to vacant posts partly offset by 

corresponding reduced recharge to Eden.

EXS Policy and Performance
Council Organisation 

and People
44,221 -12,648 -21,051 -10,522 -31,573 0 0

Underspend on apprentice levy £21k (budget corrected for future 

years); received Community Safety Partnership admin grant £8k, and 

Department for Communities and  Local Government Transparency 

grant £8k.

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the revenue budget variance projections  based on data up to 31/03/2018

Resources

P
age 79



Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Year-End 

Carry 

Forward 

Requested

Commentary 

GCG Community Grants Culture and Well Being 808,776 0 -96,390 0 -96,390 0 72,000

Community Grants underspend £90k, of which require carry forward 

to fund commitments £72k (unspent balance of previous year's carry 

forward not required).This is due to grants agreed in 2017/18 where 

the cultural projects across South Lakeland will be delivered in 

2018/19: £30k Brewery, £30k Tour of Britain, £5k NOW Centenary, 

£6.5k Gateway, £500 Westmorland Music.

GEL Elections
Council Organisation 

and People
545,100 -376,227 -11,679 -20,717 -32,396 0 0

European Referendum expenditure miscoded to District Elections in 

previous year - timing issue.  

GER Electoral Registration
Council Organisation 

and People
296,474 -32,563 -58,210 6,592 -51,617 0 28,000

Net underspend due to reduced costs of Individual Electoral 

Registration pilot £30k; underspend equipment 32k; canvass reverts 

to old style in 2018/19 therefore carry forward required £28k to fund 

additional training, software and canvass costs.

GMM Members
Council Organisation 

and People
400,965 0 -27,625 0 -27,625 0 0 Underspend due to Members' unclaimed allowances £21k.

GPR Consultation
Promoting South 

Lakeland
42,070 0 -10,881 0 -10,881 0 0

Underspend of previous year's carry forward £10k - Quality of Life 

Survey

Other Performance and Innovation 540,268 -9,350 -13,045 816 -12,228 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Performance and Innovation 2,951,905 -430,788 -512,727 -24,014 -536,741 0 100,000

Strategic Development

EPX Offices
Council Organisation 

and People
29,973 -21,414 -23,173 14,614 -8,559 0 0

GBC Building Control Housing and Innovation 593,660 -309,472 6,794 -30,887 -24,093 0 0

Chargable income £31k in excess of expected budget, due to 

demand led increase, and changes regarding Approved Inspectors 

working regulations (this has helped reduce the trading account 

deficit to £45k).

GCH Community Housing Fund Housing and Innovation 183,049 0 -135,366 0 -135,366 0 0

Underspend £135k due to delay in initiation of individual projects; 

underspend to be transferred back to the Community Housing Fund 

reserve with delegation to Senior Managemnt Team.

GCS Caravan Site Economy 174,131 -386,283 54,737 -88,865 -34,128 0 0
Demand led increases in expenditure and income, causing net 

income surplus £34k in excess of expected budget.

GDC Development Control Housing and Innovation 1,308,586 -638,715 -27,903 60,522 32,620 0 0

Income shortfall £61k, due to key developments being postponed or 

discontinued; partially offset by underspend due to vacant posts £10k, 

and net arboricultural underspend £19k.

GDS Dangerous Structures Environment 64,616 -60,824 -54,815 42,199 -12,616 0 0

Volume variance as expenditure can be recovered via a recharge, so 

income and expenditure should offset and net to zero. £13k net 

difference is due to an accounting adjustment to reduce bad debt 

provision.

GED Economic Development Economy 717,833 -56,803 -89,304 8,903 -80,400 0 79,400

Mintworks income surplus in excess of expected budget £21.6k, carry 

forward required to part fund 2018/19 Homelessness 2018/19 fixed 

term posts; underspend on committed Economic Development 

projects and their funding (includidng Grange Lido) £57.8k to be 

transferred back to Economic Development reserve with delegation to 

Senior Management Team. 

GEN Housing Enabling Role Housing and Innovation 1,235,810 -692,520 1,376 -31,350 -29,974 0 30,000
Late notification and receipt of unbudgeted MHCLG Custom Build 

Grant £30k, carry forward required to fund Service commitments.

P
age 80



Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Year-End 

Carry 

Forward 

Requested

Commentary 

GHL Town View Fields Hostel Housing and Innovation 432,624 -289,464 -7,248 53,205 45,957 0 0

Supporting People grant income lower than budgeted causing income 

shortfall £63k; partially offset by income surplus £10k, and security 

expenditure underspend £6k. 

GHM Homelessness Housing and Innovation 649,270 -387,026 -31,299 97,934 66,635 0 26,500

Salary overspend including redundancy costs £40k; prevention 

underspend £17k, carry forward required to fund service delivery due 

to changes in regulations; Homelessness New Burdens grant £9.5k 

carry forward required to part fund Homelessness 2018/19 fixed term 

posts; Social Lettings Scheme was winding down so both expenditure 

and income were lower than budgeted, overall there was a net 

income shortfall of £45k on this scheme, also due to benefit changes.

GIL
Community Infrastructure 

Levy
Housing and Innovation 79,776 -46,672 -264 33,960 33,695 0 0

SLDC can retain 5% of CIL income to fund CIL officer post, but CIL 

admin levy income was lower than expected causing £34k shortfall.

GLC Local Land Charges Housing and Innovation 300,878 -250,000 -55,551 -23,896 -79,447 0 0

Accounting adjustment to reduce provision £36k; underspend on 

other local authority charges £15k; received MHCLG Property 

Searches New Burdens grant £25k (this has resulted in increasing 

the trading account surplus by £29k). 

GLP Local Plans Housing and Innovation 655,345 -4,110 -87,791 -19,257 -107,048 0 94,800

Neighbourhood Plan grant received but not spent in year £20k, carry 

forward required to support Grange plan and referendum; Strategic 

Flood Risk Assesment underspend due to delay £33.8k, require carry 

forward to complete; Kendal Town Centre Masterplan underspend 

due to delay £25.4k require carry forward to complete. NWCC surplus 

income £10.2k require carry forward to fund 2018/19 fixed term 

support assistant post; late receipt of MHCLG Brownfiled Land 

Registers New Burdens grant £5.4k require carry forward to fund 

service committments. 

GMK Markets Economy 199,050 -197,348 -34,760 15,672 -19,088 0 0

Salary underspend £12k due to staff transfer to Kendal Town Hall. 

Utilities (recharged to Ulverston Community Enterprises) lower than 

expected. Income from markets lower than expected, reflecting the 

smaller number of stalls attending.

GPH Public Halls Culture and Well Being 843,465 -113,088 8,487 9,771 18,258 0 0 Salary overspend £12k due to staff transfer from Kendal Market.

Other Strategic Development 1,371,052 -2,043,715 31,793 -11,003 20,791 0 49,000

Total Strategic Development 8,839,118 -5,497,454 -444,286 131,523 -312,764 0 279,700

EUN Community Services
Council Organisation 

and People
48,595 -191 -47,697 -707 -48,404 0 0

Salary underspend £73k due to vacant posts and maternity leave; 

Streetscene redundancy costs £29k to be funded from the general 

reserve.

GCK Car Parks Economy 2,715,079 -4,438,046 -18,556 -128,505 -147,061 0 0
Demand led income surplus of £129k against budget (includes 

income compensation for Glebe Road car park £78k).

GCL Community Leisure Culture and Well Being 72,308 -1,803 -51,875 54 -51,820 0 50,000

Active Travel underspend £20k, require carry forward to fund British 

Cycling £10k 2018/19 and £10k 2019/20; GLL profit share unspent 

budget £30k require carry forward to fund sport development projects 

including work at the Glebe.

GCM Cemeteries Environment 321,181 -220,143 4,119 22,020 26,138 0 0 Demand led income shortfall £22k.

GDY SLDC Depots Environment -8,997 -2,108 12,197 -1,092 11,105 0 0 Minor variances

GFW Flood Warning Environment 3,845,170 -3,479,095 -2,187,288 2,162,000 -25,288 0 0
Propertly Flood Resilience Grant scheme completed end January 

2018, underspend on SLDC employee budget £21k.

Neighbourhood Services

P
age 81



Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Year-End 

Carry 

Forward 

Requested

Commentary 

GGK Car Park Enforcement Economy 122,115 -132,149 -6,067 16,101 10,034 0 0 Demand led income shortfall on penalty charge notices

GGR
Glebe Road Recreation 

Ground
Culture and Well Being 59,708 -59,426 -51,548 59,426 7,878 0 0

GLW Lake Windermere Culture and Well Being 1,433,925 -1,356,446 4,434 106,450 110,884 0 0
Demand led income shortfall on moorings £45k; income shortfall on 

encroachments £22k due to revised agreement.

GMA
Hackney Carriage 

Licences

Council Organisation 

and People
115,155 -87,206 -32 -27,001 -27,034 0 0 Demand led income surplus against budget £27k.

GOT
Environmental Health 

Other
Environment 122,479 -7,000 -18,059 2,000 -16,059 0 14,300

Underspend on budget code Contributions to Organisations £10.1k 

due to time constraints. Require carry forward to complete funding of 

a number of public health projects to deliver in 18/19 including our 

commitment to the healthy weight declaration which was signed off by 

cabinet in March 2018 and other outcomes linked to the H&W 

agenda: CCC Business Bike grant income underspend £4.2k require 

carry forward to complete project.

GPK Parks Environment 1,652,744 -75,063 -4,225 -30,477 -34,702 0 14,500

Various underspends and overspends on expenditure within the 

Parks service resulting in almost cost neutral variance. Underspend 

on aboricultural work delayed due to bad weather £16k, of which 

require carry forward £14.5k to complete commitments. Pear Tree 

Park S106 funding received £11k.

GWR Waste Recycling Environment 277,217 -161,000 3,861 20,233 24,094 0 0 Demand-led bring site credits shortfall £20k.

GWC Waste Coll Disposal Client 386,029 -46,000 -64,977 1,062 -63,916 0 0 Underspend on now completed APSE waste collection review £68k.

GWK Kerbside Recycling Client 383,361 -1,387,602 -87,750 -52,894 -140,645 0 27,000

Demand-led surplus on sale of materials £55k; net underspend on 

waste contract review and advertising £87k; require carry forward for 

advertising of recycling and promotion of service on new and existing 

vehicles £27k.

STG
Street Cleansing 

Contractor
1,592,522 -1,299 46,296 412 46,708 0 0

STS Transport 65,301 -91,388 30,605 -4,518 26,087 0 0

SWK
Kerbside Recycling -

Contractor
4,679,131 -46,150 356,473 -2,167 354,306 0 0

Other Neighbourhood services 2,863,055 -363,665 -16,410 20,272 3,862 0

Total Neighbourhood Services 20,746,078 -11,955,780 -2,096,500 2,162,667 66,167 0 105,800

Total Cost of Services 55,535,705 -38,049,426 -5,481,271 4,536,472 -944,799 0 485,500 0

Net GF 17,486,279

Environment

Overspend on employee costs £391k (which includes corporate 

vacancy saving budget £109k); Streetscene redundancy costs £20k 

(to be funded from the general reserve); demand led net overspend 

on tipping and disposal £34k. 

P
age 82



Appendix 2

Summary

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Approved re-

profiling to 

2018/19 

onwards

£
1,421,140 2,218,336 797,196 581,600

1,827,440 903,276 -924,164 689,600

2,746,130 1,223,567 -1,522,563 1,187,400

3,015,650 2,250,587 -765,063 790,200

Total 9,010,360 6,595,766 -2,414,594 3,248,800

AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Approved re-

profiling to 

2018/19 

onwards

£

Commentary 

KIP01

Locally Important Projects 

(previoulsy presented within 

revenue)

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
397,900 1,528,678 1,130,778 186,300

Budget allocated to projects but circumstances on several 

projects (£180k) will lead to payment being delayed until 2018/19. 

Expenditure includes year-end adjustment £1,317,095.16 for 

flood grant provision.

KIT19
Replacement Revs and Bens 

System

Housing and 

Innivations/ 

Finance

360,000 363,125 3,125 0 Project complete.

KIT27 Mobile Working

Housing and 

Innovation/ 

Environment

0 0 0 0 Budget re-profiled to 2018/19.

KIT30 Digital Innovation Project
Housing and 

Innovation 
52,900 28,485 -24,415 0

Project has commenced, spend to be in line stage payments on 

new system

KIT90 IT Replacement Fund
Housing and 

Innovation
75,400 68,339 -7,061 0

Spend in year on replacing and and renewing IT assets and 

Integra upgrade

KXF51 Access to Services
Housing and 

Innovation
0 -10,000 -10,000 0

886,200 1,978,627 1,092,427 186,300

KAH10

Affordable Homes, Town 

Centre Properties and  Empty 

Homes

Housing and 

Innovation
654,300 282,195 -372,105 99,000 £250k underspend as one scheme is no longer deliverable. 

KAH12 Town View Fields works
Housing and 

Innovation
159,300 161,327 2,027 0 Scheme complete.

KAH13
Commuted Sums Affordable 

Housing

Housing and 

Innovation
0 0 0 0

No spend expected in 2017/18 due to timing of delivery partner's 

scheme.

SLDC 2017/18 Capital Outturn Period 12

Performance and Innovation

Total Performance and Innovation

Strategic Development

Reliant on 3rd party progress/demand led

Reliant on SLDC/Partner progress

SLDC scheme anticipate full spend in year

Other SLDC schemes

P
age 83



AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Approved re-

profiling to 

2018/19 

onwards

£

Commentary 

KCD01 Castle Dairy
Economy and 

Assets
139,400 119,468 -19,932 19,900 Work finished, pending final payment.

KCH01 Community Housing Fund
Housing and 

Innovation
490,000 0 -490,000 490,000 Carried forward to 2018/19 as this is a ring-fenced fund.

KDE04
Former Knitwear Factory 

Ulverston

Economy and 

Assets
139,000 49,846 -89,154 89,100 Scheme complete.

KGD21 Mand Disabled Fac Grants
Housing and 

Innovation
717,740 574,279 -143,461 82,400 Demand-led grant scheme. 

KIL01
Community Infrastructure 

Levy

Economy and 

Assets
0 4,672 4,672 0

KLH02
Ulverston Asset Transfer 

programme

Economy and 

Assets
102,200 82,433 -19,767 19,800

Brogden St work andAge Concern building refurbishment 

complete. Remainder of budget likely to be earmarked for capital 

bid by UCE - scope of UCE scheme yet to be determined.

KLH03 Kendal Town Hall stonework
Economy and 

Assets
300,000 296,823 -3,177 3,200

Works currently on site. Architect and Principal Designer have 

notified SLDC of further stonework that will deteriorate to an 

unacceptable level within the next 25 years. This additional 

stonework is being costed and further information will be 

provided. Work will complete early 2018/19. Total spend of £300k 

expected.

KMR21 Kendal Museum alterations
Economy and 

Assets
0 0 0 0

Pending arrangements with Kendal College taking over 

management.

KPE18
Towpath Trail Kendal-

Lancaster
Environment 140,000 0 -140,000 140,000

Grant agreements with IWA (£20k) and CCC (£120k) close to 

completion. Payment date will be in 2018/19.

KRE04
Grange Regeneration 

Programme
Environment 0 0 0 0 This may form part of the larger LIDO scheme to start next year.

KRE53 Kendal Public Realm Environment 137,800 118,300 -19,500 16,300

Works completed end of November 2017. Costs well within 

budget due to reduced scope of works following public 

consultation.

KRE55 New Road Common Environment 318,740 87,717 -231,023 231,000 Expected that the scheme will complete in spring 2018.

KRE60 Waterhead Public Realm Environment 0 1,516 1,516 0
Final contract retention payment on improvement works carried 

out last year higher than order value.

KRE63 The Glebe Public Realm Environment 400,000 400,000 0 0 Complete

KRT10 Right To Buy Replacement
Housing and 

Innovation
751,000 83,000 -668,000 495,000

£83k spend for S106 acquisitions - £495k payment for Ulverston 

Town Hall delayed until 2018/19. 

KXB27
Energy Saving Building 

Enhancement

Economy and 

Assets
20,200 0 -20,200 20,200

Awaiting general asset review, incorporating SLH, Kendal and 

Ulverston depots, to determine best use of funds. 

4,469,680 2,261,576 -2,208,104 1,705,900Total Strategic Development

P
age 84



AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Approved re-

profiling to 

2018/19 

onwards

£

Commentary 

KDP02 Kendal Depot Environment 0 0 0 0
To be removed from programme, subject to wider corporate asset 

review.

KEG35
Flood Impact Works Rothay 

Park
Environment 393,460 186,286 -207,174 207,300 New play area opened end of June, £185k underspent. 

KEV01
Electric Vehicle Charging 

Point
Environment 0 0 0 0

To be removed from programme at this time, to be considered 

within wider car parking strategy

KFL01 Footway Lighting Environment 39,500 5,368 -34,132 24,400 Reactive work to footway lights as advised by CCC.

KLC01
Leisure Centres inc KLC 

changing room refurbishment

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
487,000 327,433 -159,567 159,600 Scheme value engineered to fit with available budget. 

KLL14 New Patrol Boat Lake Admin 0 0 0 0

KLL17 Ferry Nab redevelopment Lake Admin 137,900 95,256 -42,644 42,600
Complete, final account paid. Remaining issues to be resolved 

2018/19.

KLR31
Nobles Rest park 

improvements
Environment 0 64,357 64,357 -5,000

Works commenced on site earlier than anticipated in March, will 

complete in 2018/19.

KMR31 Festival Infrastructure
Culture, Media 

and Leisure
64,800 0 -64,800 64,800 Budget to be reviewed as part of 18/19 process

KMR32
Wordsworth Trust 

contribution

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
0 0 0 0

Award of contribution subject to second stage of HLF funding 

being awarded - if HLF is successful,contribution will be made in 

2018/19.. 

KMR33
Braithwaite Fold Caravan 

Park
Lake Admin 25,000 700 -24,300 24,300 Scheme to complete in 2018/19.

KNM51 Play Areas Environment 57,300 34,547 -22,753 22,700
Some funding outcomes not successful. New funding strategies 

currently being developed to allocate funds to appropriate years. 

KNM52 Sandylands Playground Environment 12,100 13,000 900 0 Project complete.

KNM54 Rinkfield Playground Environment 91,450 88,003 -3,447 3,500 Complete

KNM55 Hallgarth Phase 2 Environment 0 0 0 0

KNM56 Millerground Play Project Environment 15,000 11,711 -3,289 3,300
Work on site dependant upon planning permission and final cost. 

Most of scheme budget (£135k) re-profiled to 2018/19.

KNM57
Play Space Audit 

Implementation
Environment 0 0 0 0

Work will be programmed with other play projects.  Funds have 

been re-profiled into 2018/19 year.

KNM58 Kendal Parks playground Environment 1,000 590 -410 0 Scheme due for completion in June/July 2018.

KNM59
Lightburn Park MUGA & 

playground
Environment 90,170 4,318 -85,852 85,800 Project will complete in 2018/19.

KNM60 Abbot Hall Playground Environment 25,000 0 -25,000 23,000 Project will take place in 2018/19.

KNNM61 Yew Tree Playground Grange Environment 5,000 0 -5,000 5,000 Project will take place in 2018/19.

KPY38
Westmorland Shopping 

Centre Car Park 

Economy and 

assets
101,500 101,417 -83 0 Complete

Neighbourhood Services

P
age 85



AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Approved re-

profiling to 

2018/19 

onwards

£

Commentary 

KPY42 Car Park machines update
Economy and 

assets
140,000 -140,000 140,000

Quotations received amd meeting mid-March to arrange works. T 

& Cs when determined will show phasing of payments, will fall 

into 2018/19. 

KPY43
Rydal Rd Car Park bridge 

works

Economy and 

assets
0 0 0 0

Further investigation required as to scope of scheme - will not be 

commenced until the 2018/19 financial year.

KPY44
Town and Car Park/public 

information Signs

Economy and 

assets
32,400 6,464 -25,936 16,200 Installation work to take place March/April.

KPY45
SLH Car Park - structural 

repair and re-surfacing works

Economy and 

assets
30,000 42,459 12,459 -12,500

Immediate structural and drainage repairs started on site 15th 

January. Remaining works to be programmed for 2018/19. 

Overspend in 2017/18 will be met by re-allocating budget back 

from 2018/19.

KPY46 Car Park Resurfacing
Economy and 

assets
130,000 100,261 -29,739 29,700 Work complete, retention outstanding.

KPY48 Parkside Rd Car Park
Economy and 

assets
13,000 3,600 -9,400 9,400 Will complete in 2018/19.

KRE61 Waterhead Public Jetty Environment 28,900 1,895 -27,005 27,000 Being progressed by LSH; due to be completed in year.

KRE65 The Glebe Planting Environment 50,000 0 -50,000 50,000 Work to take place in spring 2018.

KSC91
Refurb Replace Recycled 

Bins
Environment 60,000 79,402 19,402 0

Replacement on-going as existing bins reach the end of their 

useful life.

KSC91 Vehicle Purchase Environment 1,624,000 1,188,498 -435,502 435,500
Order placed for outright purchase of Hako sweepers that are 

currently leased (£408k), delivery date will be early April. 

3,654,480 2,355,562 -1,298,918 1,356,600

9,010,360 6,595,766 -2,414,594 3,248,800

Total Neighbourhood Services

GRAND TOTAL

P
age 86



Appendix 3

Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 

Revised

2018/19 

Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 

and adj

2018/19 

Revised
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Play Areas (including community funded schemes) 282.0 139.0 142.0 281.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 361.0

Children's Play Space Audit Action Plan Implimentation 0.0 60.0 0.0 60.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 60.0

Millerground Public Open Space, Access and Play Project 15.0 135.0 3.3 138.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 138.3

Grange Regeneration 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 157.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 157.3

Nobles Rest 0.0 193.4 0.0 193.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 193.4

Ferry Nab Redevelopment Phase 1 137.9 0.0 42.6 42.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.6

Waterhead Public Jetty 28.9 0.0 27.0 27.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 27.0

Public Realm - The Glebe phase I and II 450.0 0.0 50.0 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0

Kendal Town Centre Public Realm 137.8 0.0 19.5 19.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 19.5

New Road Common (approved Council 12 Oct 2017) 318.7 0.0 231.0 231.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 231.0

Kendal Leisure Centre (including changing rooms) 487.0 0.0 159.6 159.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 159.6

Wordsworth Trust contribution 0.0 42.0 0.0 42.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.0

Festival Infrastructure 64.8 0.0 64.8 64.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 64.8

Flood impact works Rothay Park 393.5 0.0 207.2 207.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 207.2

Footway Lighting 39.5 25.0 24.4 49.4 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 149.4

IT Replacements** 75.4 80.0 0.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 400.0

Customer Connect 52.9 0.0 290.0 290.0 300.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 590.0

Mobile Working 0.0 120.0 0.0 120.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 120.0

Revs and Bens system 360.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Town and Car Park signing 32.4 0.0 16.2 16.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 16.2

Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park Refurbishment 101.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

South Lakeland House carpark works 30.0 390.0 -12.5 377.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 377.5

Car park re-surfacing 130.0 0.0 29.7 29.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 29.7

Vehicle & Plant Programme (inc bins and boxes) 1,684.0 225.5 435.5 661.0 1,711.0 594.0 499.0 690.0 4,155.0

Sweeper purchase 0.0 508.0 0.0 508.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 508.0

Capital Programme 2018/19 - 2022/23

P
age 87



Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 

Revised

2018/19 

Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 

and adj

2018/19 

Revised
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Disabled Facilities Grants 717.7 661.0 82.4 743.4 661.0 661.0 661.0 603.0 3,329.4

Right to buy replacement scheme 751.0 0.0 495.0 495.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 495.0

Affordable & Empty Homes, Town Centre Properties. 654.3 260.0 99.0 359.0 260.0 260.0 260.0 260.0 1,399.0

S106 funded affordable homes purchase 0.0 146.0 0.0 146.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 146.0

Town View Fields works 159.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cross-a-Moor junction improvement 0.0 300.0 0.0 300.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 300.0

Community Housing Fund 490.0 0.0 490.0 490.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 490.0

Kendal Museum contribution 0.0 85.0 0.0 85.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.0

Coronation Hall alterations 102.2 60.0 19.8 79.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 79.8

Energy-saving building enhancements 20.2 129.0 20.2 149.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 149.2

Former Knitware Factory (Ulverston) site clearance 139.0 0.0 89.1 89.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 89.1

Kendal Town Hall stone work 300.0 0.0 3.2 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.2

Castle Dairy flood damage reinstatement 139.4 0.0 19.9 19.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 19.9

Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail 140.0 0.0 140.0 140.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 140.0

LIPS 397.9 252.8 186.3 439.1 165.8 145.3 98.8 188.0 1,037.0

Car Park surfacing 0.0 310.0 0.0 310.0 25.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 335.0

Grange Promenade Structural works 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 300.0 300.0 225.0 250.0 1,175.0

Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extention 25.0 190.0 24.3 214.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 214.3

Burton Hertiage Grant Scheme (funded from LIPS) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 0.0 105.0

Kendal Castle (funded from LIPS) 0.0 42.0 0.0 42.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.0

Car Parking Machines 140.0 0.0 140.0 140.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 140.0

Parkside Road, Kendal car park 13.0 151.0 9.4 160.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 160.4

Disabled Toilet improvements 0.0 50.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0

ERDF funded flood defence works 0.0 0.0 1,556.7 1,556.7 1,556.7 1,556.7 0.0 0.0 4,670.1

Bids subject to further assessment:

Ulverston Leisure site

Further implementation of play area audit

P
age 88



Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 

Revised

2018/19 

Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 

and adj

2018/19 

Revised
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Accomodation review

Car park investments***

Rydal Road car park access options

Ulverston Waste Recycling site

Employment site land acquisition

Kendal Depot review 

Affordable Housing including land acquisition

Grange Lido works

Total 9,010.3 4,654.7 5,105.6 9,760.3 5,296.8 3,677.0 1,903.8 2,116.0 22,753.9

*any further proposals subject to Cabinet approval

**revised budget to reflect increase contribution to IT reserve

***subject to detailed review of car parking strategy including potential new car parks at Oxenholme and Arnside, double decking options on existing car parks, provision in Kendal, 

Braithwaite fold surfacing and electric charging points

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 90



Appendix 4

Capital Funding 2018/19 - 2022/23

Balance April 

2018

£000

Estimated 

Income

£000

Use in capital 

programme

£000

Potential Balance 

March 2023

£000

General

Usable Capital Receipts 1,744 347 -1,599 492

VAT Shelter receipt 831 1,000 -99 1,732

New homes bonus (capital)**** 1,271 1,843 -2,825 289

Earmarked or allocated

Revenue (LIPS) 185 1,427 -1,427 185

IT replacement reserve 74 400 -400 74

Major Repairs Reserve 307 650 -260 697

General Revenue contributions 587 1,428 -1,432 582

Cap grants and contributions (inc S106) 593 4,960 -5,520 33

Disabled Facilities Grants 359 3,017 -3,329 47

Community Housing Fund* 2,309 0 -490 1,819

Right to Buy receipt** 3,788 3,500 -495 6,793

Borrowing

Funding from borrowing***. 0 4,877 -4,877 0

Total 12,048 23,449 -22,754 12,743

*Ring fenced for Community Housing Schemes, £2.36m less £235k funding revenue budgets

**Ring fenced to support replacement of affordable housing.

***'Prudential Borrowing'; this may not result in taking on new loans but requires revenue charge to cover the cost over the assets' life

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 92



Movements on Reserves 2017/18 Appendix 5

Balance 1 

April 2017
Transfers in

Transfers 

out

Balance 31 

March 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

General Reserve (8,308) (332) 2,615 (6,025)

Carry-forward Reserve 0 (438) 0 (438)

Statutory Duties Reserve (150) (47) 47 (150)

Flooding Costs Reserve (200) 0 186 (14)

Debt Redemption Reserve (455) 0 0 (455)

Economic Development Fund (219) 0 52 (167)

Kendal Employment Development Fund (14) 0 14 0

Revenue Funds for Capital (531) (100) 44 (587)

Building Control Fee Income Reserve 0 (45) 45 0

Second Homes Income Reserve 0 (46) 0 (46)

IT Replacement Reserve (102) (40) 68 (74)

Revs and Bens IT reserve (10) 0 0 (10)

LABGI (Local Authority Business Growth Initiative) (5) 0 0 (5)

Planning Delivery Grant Fund (58) 0 40 (18)

Local Land Charges Reserve (66) (28) 0 (94)

Local Arts Strategic Partnership Reserve (30) 0 0 (30)

New Homes Bonus Reserve (755) (702) 0 (1,457)

General Fund Major Repairs Reserve (597) (50) 340 (307)

Social Lettings Reserve (20) 0 20 0

NNDR Surplus Reserve (956) 0 956 0

Cumbria NDR Pool Income Reserve (777) (535) 143 (1,169)

Cumbria NDR Pool volatility Reserve (166) (133) 0 (299)

Commuted Sums Reserve (150) (11) 8 (153)

LSVT Environmental Warranties (341) 0 59 (282)

Customer Connect Reserve (323) (1,000) 22 (1,301)

Marshall Hooper Reserve (37) 0 0 (37)

Hackney Carriage Licensing 0 0 12 12

Miscellaneous Licensing 0 0 32 32

Liquor Licensing 0 (76) 0 (76)

Gambling Licensing 0 0 13 13

Community Housing Fund (2,357) 0 48 (2,309)

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves (16,627) (3,583) 4,764 (15,446)

GF Working balance (1,500) - - (1,500)

Total Usable Reserves (18,127) (3,583) 4,764 (16,946)

Summary: £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening balance at 1 April 2017 (18,127) (18,127)

Transfers to Reserves (2,526) (2,526)

Transfers from Reserves 3,707 3,707

Transfers between Reserves (1,057) 1,057 0

Closing Balance at 31 March 2018 (18,127) (3,583) 4,764 (16,946)

This appendix summarises the movements on individual reserves and the closing balance by reserve at 

31 march 2017.  The Medium Term Financial elsewhere on this agenda includes the Policy on Reserves 

and Balances including the purpose for each reserve and the expected contributions to and use of 

reserves over the 5-year MTFP period.

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Friday, 13 July 2018
Cabinet Wednesday, 18th July 2018

Council Tuesday, 24th July 2018
Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 and 

2018/19 Strategy Update

Portfolio: Finance Portfolio Holder

Report from: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)

Report Author: Claire Read – Financial Services Officer

Wards: Not Applicable

Forward Plan: Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan 
as published on 19 June 2018 (amended 21 June 2018)

1.0 Expected Outcome
1.1 The attached report reviews treasury performance during 2017/18 against the 

Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. This is a historic review for noting by 
members.

1.2 The report also recommends updates to the counterparty limits approved as part of 
the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy, to enable the council to include 
counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness.

2.0 Recommendation
2.1 It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet:-

(1) Consider the 2017/18 Treasury Management Annual Report and update 
to the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy; and

(2) Recommend that Council approve the 2017/18 Treasury Management 
Annual Report and update to the 2018/19 Treasury Management 
Strategy 

2.2 It is recommended that Council:-
(1) Approve the 2017/18 Treasury Management Annual Report and update 

to the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy
3.0 Background and Proposals
3.1 The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local Government Act 

2003 to produce an annual treasury management report. This is to include a review 
of activities and the actual Prudential and Treasury Indications for 2017/18. The 
report at Appendix 1 meets the requirements of both the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 

Page 95

Item No.8



Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code).

3.2 In line with requirements of the code, the Treasury Management Framework 
(including Prudential Indicators) was approved prior to the start of the financial year 
by Council on 22nd February 2017. Detailed reports have been presented to 
Performance Sub-Committee, Cabinet and Council throughout the year.

3.3 The level of actual external debt has not changed during 2017/18. Gross borrowing 
remained below the Capital Financing Requirement, showing that the Council has not 
funded revenue activity through borrowing, a key prudential indicator.

3.4 The Council’s investments have outperformed bench mark rates resulting in a 
weighted average return of 0.80%. When broken down by investment types, each have 
outperformed the relevant benchmark rate by between 0.05% and 0.79%. Interest 
receipts from investments were 52k more than budget in part due to the change in bank 
rate from 0.25% to 0.50% in November 2017 and the positioning and diversification of the 
investment portfolio. 

3.5 Interest payable on borrowing was in line with budget as no new borrowing was 
expected or taken in 2017/18. As a result of using internal cash balances to fund 
capital rather than borrowing.

3.6 Due to savings in interest, July 2017 saw the end of the payback period for the 
premium paid when the Council repaid early £7.7m of debt in 2013/14.

3.7 Looking forward, there continues to be a significant level of uncertainty in the 
financial markets. Officers will keep this under constant review with support from the 
Council’s external treasury advisors (Link Asset Services). The current strategy of 
using internal cash to fund prudential borrowing continues to minimise the interest 
rate gap (where loans cost more than investments earn) and to help reduce 
counterparty risk.

3.8 Approve the extension of the Counterparty limits to investments with the colour 
purple or yellow under the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service. Purple and 
yellow institutions have the highest level of creditworthiness and will have the same 
duration and amount overlays as orange and blue counterparties. See appendix 2 for 
breakdown.

4.0 Consultation
4.1 The Treasury Management Framework satisfies statute and guidance issued by 

Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and CIPFA. It is a 
mainly technical document that reflects the decisions made as part of the wider 
budget process. It was prepared in consultation with the Council’s Treasury Advisor 
(Capita Asset Services). Senior management and the Portfolio holder have been 
consulted. The report presents historic data on treasury performance during 2017/18.

5.0 Alternative Options
5.1 There are no alternative options, the report presents historic data on treasury 

performance during 2017/18

5.2 Not to update the Counterparty limits.

6.0 Links to Council Priorities
6.1 The Treasury Management Framework including Prudential Indicators forms part of 

the corporate governance arrangements that support all Council priorities.

Page 96



7.0 Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1 The report is historic with the financial and resources implications forming part of the 

out-turn report for 2017/18

Human Resources
7.2 This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council

Legal
7.3 This report has no direct legal implications

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

Assessment? No     

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: TM 
out-turn relates to a historic review of activities already approved as part of the 
2017/18 TM Framework 

Equality and Diversity
7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No     

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: TM 
out-turn relates to a historic review of activities already approved as part of the 
2017/18 TM Framework 

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
Reporting is not compliant with 
the statutory guidance.

Members do not have the 
opportunity to scrutinise 
the Treasury function.

Full year TM report to be 
presented to Scrutiny, 
Cabinet and Council.

Investment and borrowing 
activity is outside of the 
approved TM framework.

The Council is exposed to 
an unauthorised level of 
Treasury related risk.

Robust governance 
arrangements to control 
day to day operations, 
based on the approved 
strategy, with regular 
reporting of compliance.

Contact Officers
Claire Read, Financial Services Officer; tel 01539 793152; 
Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk.

Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)

Appendix No. Name of Appendix
1 Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18

2 Update to 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy

Page 97

mailto:Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk


Background Documents Available

Name of Background document Where it is available
Council Minute C/81 (2016/17) https://goo.gl/hmDcNT

Council Minute C/85 (2017/18) https://goo.gl/XieZo1

Tracking Information
Signed off by Date sent
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer 20/06/2018
Monitoring Officer 20/06/2018
SMT 20/06/2018

Circulated to Date sent
Assistant Director 20/06/2018
Human Resources Manager N/A
Communications Team N/A
Leader N/A
Committee Chairman N/A
Portfolio Holder 21/06/2018
Ward Councillor(s) N/A
Committee 13/07/2018
Executive (Cabinet) 18/07/2018
Council 24/07/2018

Page 98



Appendix 1

The purpose of this appendix is to detail the Council’s performance against the Treasury 
Management Framework, including Prudential Indicators, for 2017/18.

Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18
Purpose

1. The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 
to produce an annual treasury management report including a review of activities and 
the actual Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/18. This report meets the 
requirements of both the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

2. This report includes: 

 Capital activity during the year;

 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital 
Financing Requirement, CFR);

 Reporting of the required prudential and treasury indicators;

 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation to 
this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;

 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;

 Review of debt and investment activity.

Summary
3. During 2017/18 the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements. 

Detailed reports have been presented to Performance Sub- Committee, Cabinet and 
Council throughout the year. There were no breaches of any indicators or limits during 
the year. 

4. Tables 1-3 compare the 2017/18 actuals against 2016/17 actuals and the 2017/18 
revised indicators, which were included in the 2018/19 Treasury Management 
Framework.

5. The key statistics in relation to 2017/18 are as follows:

Table 1: Capital expenditure, Capital Financing Requirement and cash resources.

2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Feb 18 
estimate Actual 

£000 £000 £000
Capital expenditure 6,225 9,654 6,596

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 17,176 18,374 17,992

External debt 12,800 12,800 12,800

Total Investments (inc. call accounts) 21,823 17,658 18,912

Page 99



6. The items in Table 1 have broadly come out in line with the revised estimate with 
variances mainly being due to reprofiling of the capital programme.  

7. Gross borrowing did not change during 2017/18, remaining lower than the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR, see Table 3). This shows that the Council was not 
funding any revenue activity through borrowing, a key prudential indicator.

The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2017/18
8. The Council incurs capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities may 

either be:

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant 
impact on the Council’s borrowing need;

 Un-financed capital expenditure which leads to an increase in the Council’s CFR. 
This increases the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP, see 13 below) charged to 
the Revenue account to ensure that resources are set aside to pay for the asset 
over its useful life. 

9. Table 2 below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

Table 2: Capital expenditure and financing.
2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Feb 18 
estimate Actual 

£000 £000 £000
Capital expenditure 6,225 9,654 6,596
Resourced by:   

·          Capital receipts 1,947 3,501 1,537

·          Capital grants 2,763 1,796 2,198

·          Revenue Reserves 841 2,726 1,593

Unfinanced capital expenditure 674 1,631 1,268

Explanations of the variances are included within the out-turn report to Council on 
24 July 2018. The main reason for the decrease against the February 2018 estimate 
is re-profiling of spend to 2018/19 onwards and presentation of revenue items that are 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS).

10. The current premium level on the Council’s borrowing is circa 83% (i.e £830k premium 
per £1m repaid), which would take around 23 years to repay. This has increased from 
quarter 3 where the rate was 81% and around 21 years to repay. At this level it is not 
viable to make a repayment. We will keep the premium amount under review and if 
repayment does become viable it may be possible for some core cash to be used to 
repay debt rather than being deposited in longer term investments.

Page 100



Borrowing need and external debt limits
11. The CFR represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure. 

It increases when the Council incurs capital expenditure and reduces as resources are 
applied to the capital expenditure.

12. The CFR is the cumulative unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been ‘paid 
for’. It can be understood in terms of an outstanding ‘mortgage’ balance on the 
Council’s non-current assets. 

13. There are statutory controls in place to ensure that the cost of capital assets is charged 
to revenue over the life of the assets. This is the annual MRP charge. 

14. The total CFR can also be reduced by:

 the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or 

 charging more than the statutory minimum revenue charge (MRP) each year 
through a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP). 

15. The Council’s 2017/18 MRP Policy (as required by CLG Guidance) was approved as 
part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2017/18 on 22nd February 2017. 
The Council’s CFR for the year is shown in Table 3, and represents a key prudential 
indicator.  

Table 3: CFR movement

2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Feb 18 
estimate ActualCFR

£000 £000 £000
Opening balance 16,873 17,176 17,176 
Add unfinanced capital expenditure (as above) 674 1,631 1,268 
Less MRP (371) (433) (449)
Closing balance 17,176 18,374 17,995 

Actual Debt and the cost of debt
16. Table 4 shows the limits set for debt and the actual debt for 2017/18 along with the 

ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream, a key indicator.

Table 4: Summary of debt and debt cost indicators

2017/18
£000

Authorised limit 24,400

Operational boundary 18,400

Actual Maximum gross borrowing position 12,800

Estimate of Financing Costs : Net revenue stream 6.81%

Actual Financing Costs : Net revenue stream 6.62%

17. The authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by section 3 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  This is set along with the operational boundary, the “expected 
borrowing position”, by Council prior to the start of the financial year giving officers the 
power to borrow up to the authorised limit. 

Page 101



18. In practice the operational boundary is the limit for planned borrowing to support the 
Capital Programme. The authorised limit is in place to enable the Council to breach 
the operational boundary for short periods in exceptional circumstances.

19. As demonstrated in Table 4 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within both 
its authorised limit and operational boundary for 2017/18.

20. In order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the medium term the 
Council’s external borrowing must only be for a capital purpose and not to support 
revenue expenditure. The closing CFR was £17,995k, whereas external borrowing 
was £12,800k; the Council was ‘under-borrowed’ by £5,195k. This means internal cash 
balances are being used rather than taking on external loans. 

21. The ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream identifies the trend in the cost of 
capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment income). This 
shows the percentage amount of the net revenue stream which is spent before the 
Council provides any services.  From Table 4 we can see that the actual is broadly in 
line with the estimate.

Treasury Position as at 31 March 2018 
22. The Council’s debt and investment position is organised by the treasury management 

service to manage risk, to ensure the security of investments and maintain adequate 
liquidity for revenue and capital activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these 
objectives are well established both through Member reporting and through officer activity 
detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.  

23. At the beginning and the end of 2017/18 the Council‘s treasury position was as follows:

Table 5: Investment position and Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

24. At 31 March 2018 the Council had a total of £18.912m invested with £15.502m invested in 
fixed term investments and £3.41m on call. 

25. Chart 1 illustrates how these are split between core and operational balances. The 
difference being that core funds can be invested for over 1 year whilst operational 
investments are required for to meet payments on a more day to day basis.

31/3/2017 
Principal

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life

31/3/2018 
Principal

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life 

£000 %  yrs £000 %  yrs
External Borrowing:   
PWLB loans 12,800 4.43% 37.76 12,800 4.43% 36.76
CFR 17,176   17,995   
Over/ (under) borrowing (4,376)   (5,195)   
Investments and cash:   
Cash 9,800 0.46% Call 3,410 0.25% Call
Investments 12,023 0.67% 0.63 15,502 1.10% 0.22

Page 102



Chart 1: 2017-18 Profile of investments

O
pe

ni
ng

 B
al

an
ce

12
/0

4/
20

17
24

/0
4/

20
17

06
/0

5/
20

17
18

/0
5/

20
17

30
/0

5/
20

17
11

/0
6/

20
17

23
/0

6/
20

17
05

/0
7/

20
17

17
/0

7/
20

17
29

/0
7/

20
17

10
/0

8/
20

17
22

/0
8/

20
17

03
/0

9/
20

17
15

/0
9/

20
17

27
/0

9/
20

17
09

/1
0/

20
17

21
/1

0/
20

17
02

/1
1/

20
17

14
/1

1/
20

17
26

/1
1/

20
17

08
/1

2/
20

17
20

/1
2/

20
17

01
/0

1/
20

18
13

/0
1/

20
18

25
/0

1/
20

18
06

/0
2/

20
18

18
/0

2/
20

18
02

/0
3/

20
18

14
/0

3/
20

18
26

/0
3/

20
18

0
5,000,000

10,000,000
15,000,000
20,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
35,000,000
40,000,000
45,000,000

Core Investments Fixed Operational Call Operational

26. During 2017-18 we have increased the amount held as core investments and we will 
continue to monitor our longer term investment position against the medium term financial 
plan (MTFP) and capital programme.

27. Table 6 shows how the Council’s investments have performed by type of investment.

Table 6: Investment Performance

 Average 
Investment

Average 
Annual 
Return

Average 
Maturity Benchmark

Variance
Call Accounts 5,636,811 0.25% Liquid 0.20% 0.05%
Fixed Operational 7,787,655 0.37% 109.05 0.29% 0.09%
Fixed Core 2,503,429 1.11% 134.43 0.40% 0.71%
Total 15,927,896 0.80%    

28. Each class of investment performed above the relevant benchmark rate.

29. Interest receipts are £52k over budget, this is in part due to the change in bank rate from 
0.25% to 0.50% in November 2017 and the positioning and diversification of the investment 
portfolio. 

30. As part of the treasury strategy limits were set on the maturity structure of the debt and 
investment portfolio. Performance against these is set out in Table 7.

Page 103



Table 7: Maturity structure of borrowing and investments

31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2018
 Actual Approved Actual

Fixed Interest Borrowings:    
Under 12 months 0.00% Up to 25% 0.00%
12 Months to 2 Years 0.00% Up to 25% 0.00%
2 - 5 Years 0.00% Up to 25% 0.00%
5 to 10 years 0.00% Up to 100% 0.00%
10 to 20 years 0.00% Up to 100% 0.00%
20 to 30 Years 0.00% Up to 100% 6.25%
30 to 40 Years 53.12% Up to 100% 46.87%
40 years plus 46.88% Up to 100% 46.88%
 100.00%  100.00%
Investments:    
Greater than 1 year £3m £9 M £3 M

31. Limits were also set regarding the Council’s exposure to fixed and variable rates on its 
borrowing, as Table 8 shows the actual exposure is within the limit set.

Table 8: Fixed and variable rate borrowings:

31/03/2017 31/03/2018 31/03/2018
 

 Actual Approved  Actual 
  £m £m  £m 

Fixed rate 12.8 24.4 12.8
Variable rate (maturing<1 year) 0.0 0.0 0.0

32. As expected no new borrowing was undertaken during 2017/18. The approved limit is 
the authorised borrowing limit which is set based on a worse case scenario.

Economic background (information provided by Link Asset Services)
33. Following much speculation the Bank of England raised the base rate from 0.25% to 

0.50% in November 2017.

34. Initially following the rise expectations of another rate rise fell before the February 2018 
meeting turned the tide in favour of a rise. We will continue to monitor the situation as 
expectations continue to ebb and flow. 

35. Growth in the UK economy stayed at 1.8% for a second year. Moving from one of the 
fastest growing G7 nations to falling behind the US and the Eurozone.  GDP growth 
forecasts remain weak as there has been little evidence of building pressure on wage 
increases despite remarkably low unemployment

36. Inflation rose to a high of 3.1% in November before falling back to 2.5% at the end of 
the year. Whilst still above the Bank of England’s target of 2%, the bank’s forecast is 
for the rate to just over 2% within two years.

37. Going forward, there is significant uncertainty in the market as the UK negotiates its 
exit from the EU. The Council will continue to monitor market conditions and to transact 
within the approved 2018-19 Treasury Management strategy.

Page 104



38. The US economy grew by 2.3% in 2017. In October 2017, the Fed also became the 
first major western central bank to make a start on unwinding quantitative easing by 
phasing in a gradual reduction in reinvesting maturing debt.  

39. Overall the Eurozone grew by 2.3% in 2017 however the ECB is still struggling to get 
inflation up to its 2% target and in March, inflation was still only 1.4%. 

Conclusions
40. The Council has operated in line with its Treasury and Prudential Indicators and has 

seen good performance relative to external benchmarks in the year. There continues 
to be uncertainty over base rate rise.

41. The capital programme out-turn has led to no new borrowing being required. Current 
bank base rates mean that the early repayment premium has made repaying debt too 
expensive. Officers and Capita Asset Management will continue to monitor the 
situation and our debt portfolio. 

Page 105



Appendix 2

Update to 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy
1.1 As part of the Councils Counterparty selection policy, contained within the 2018/19 

Treasury Management Strategy, the council applies the Link Asset Services 
creditworthiness service. 

1.2 As part of the creditworthiness service, a modelling approach is used to combines 
credit ratings, credit Watches and credit Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which 
is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product is a 
series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
counterparties and provides a suggested duration. These are:

 Yellow 5 years 
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days  
 No colour not to be used 

1.3 The Council then applies an overlay setting the maximum money and time limits. 
Currently we have no limits set for the colour Purple, 24 months, and Yellow, 60 
months, which practically means they are not available for use as counterparties.

1.4 To enable Purple and Yellow counterparties, the highest rated counterparties, to be 
used please can you approve the following amendment to Table 5 of the 2018/19 
Treasury Management Strategy 

Counterparty Limits (table 5 of 2018/19 Treasury management Strategy)
Criteria Money

Limit
Time
Limit

UK Banks Yellow, Purple, Blue or 
Orange

£3m 1 year

UK Banks Red £3m 6 Months

UK Banks Green £3m 100 Days

Non UK Banks Yellow, Purple, Blue or 
Orange

£3m 190 Days

Non UK Banks Red £3m 6 Months

Non UK Banks Green £3m 100 Days

Banks No colour £0m n/a

Building Societies Top 5 by Asset size 
and assets> £2 billion

£3m 6 months

Building Societies Top 6-10 by Asset size 
and assets> £2 billion

£2m 6 months

Debt Management Account 
Deposit Facility - DMADF

n/a Unlimited 6 months

UK Gilts, Treasury Bills n/a Unlimited 5 years

Page 106



Criteria Money
Limit

Time
Limit

Local Authorities N/A £5m 2 Years

Money Market Funds
- LVNAV
- CNAV Government 

Funds

AAA £5m Liquid

Multilateral Development 
Banks and Supranational 
Organisations

AAA £3m 2 Years

Other Collective Investment 
Schemes 
e.g. Enhanced Money Market 
Funds &  Bond Funds

AAA S1/V1 £2m 1 Year

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 13 July 2018

Cabinet 18 July 2018
Council 24 July 2018

Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24

Portfolio: Finance Portfolio Holder

Report from: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)

Report Author: Shelagh McGregor (S151) & Helen Smith – Financial Services
 Manager

Wards: (All Wards) 
Forward Plan: Not applicable

1.0 Expected Outcome

1.1 This report presents the draft Medium Term Financial Plan, incorporating the 
Financial Strategy and the Budget Strategy (referred to collectively as the MTFP). 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet are being asked to consider the Plan 
prior to Council being asked to approve it at their 24 July meeting. The Plan ensures 
the Council has a sound basis for allocating resources and effective financial 
management over the medium term. The overall position will be constantly reviewed 
and reported over the rest of 2018 and early 2019 as part of the budget process and 
update reports.

2.0 Recommendation
2.1  It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 

(1) Consider the Draft Medium Term Financial Plan; and 
(2) Agree comments to be taken forward for consideration at the Cabinet 

meeting on 18 July 2018; 

2.2  It is recommended that the Cabinet:- 
(1) Consider comments from Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
(2) Consider the Draft Medium Term Financial Plan; and 
(3) Agree comments to be taken forward for consideration and approval at          

the Council meeting on 24 July 2018. 

2.3 Council is requested to consider any comments raised and to approve the 
Medium Term Financial Plan

3.0 Background and Proposals
3.1 The Council has produced a MTFP for several years.  The financial projections were 

last reported to Council in February 2018.  The national economic outlook has been 
based on forecasts produced by the Office of Budget Responsibility and the Bank of 

Page 109

Item No.9



England in March 2018.  The assumptions used within the financial model will be 
closely monitored and updates provided during the 2019/20 budget setting process.  

3.2 The Draft MTFP is attached at Appendix 1 (the document includes 8 supporting 
documents).  The annual revenue budget deficit projections before Customer 
Connect savings total c £1.3m for 2019/20 rising to £3.6m by 2023/24 based on a 
number of assumptions as detailed in the draft. The Customer Connect programme 
will generate £1.55m of recurring annual savings reducing the expected deficit in 
2023/24 to £2m.  Savings plans in addition to the Customer Connect Programme are  
being developed to provide a balanced position. Overall the Council is in a positive 
financial position compared to most local authorities with adequate General Fund 
balances and reserves, robust financial management practices and an excellent track 
record in achieving efficiency savings.  The overall position will be constantly 
reviewed and reported over the rest of 2018 and early 2019 as part of the budget 
process and update reports.  

3.4 The MTFP, once approved, will form the basis of the budgets to be prepared during 
the remainder of 2018/19 for approval in February 2019.  However, the MTFP and 
the budget strategy provide only the broad framework.  Individual decisions, 
particularly the level of Council Tax, will be approved during the budget process, and 
no later than the end of February 2019, based on the latest projections available.

4.0 Consultation
4.1 Various modes of consultation are being undertaken including consideration of this 

Plan by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Senior Management Team, 
Operational Managers, and Members prior to the request for approval at the 25 July 
2017 Council meeting. 

5.0 Alternative Options
5.1 The assumptions forming the MTFP could be amended. This is not recommended, 

as the proposals are regarded as the most appropriate option when considered 
against the need to secure financial resilience and deliver the Council Plan priorities. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities
6.1 The MTFP indicates the resources available to fund the Council Plan and how these 

resources will be allocated. 
7.0 Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1 As detailed in the report.

Human Resources
7.2 This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council. 
Legal
7.3 The report recommendations enable the legal requirement to set a balanced budget 

by the end of February to be complied with.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

Assessment?  - No     

7.5 The Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Assessment is carried out as part 
of the future years Budget Report that will follow this strategic direction. 

7.6 There are no additional Health, Social, Economic or Environmental impacts as a 
result of the report.

Page 110



Equality and Diversity
7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

7.8 An Equality Impact Analysis is carried out as part of the future years Budget Report 
that will follow this strategic direction. 

7.9 There are no additional Equality or Diversity impacts as a result of the report.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
The Council does not have 
adequate arrangements for the 
identification and addressing of 
financial risks

Potentially expenditure 
could exceed resources 
available

A full analysis of the key 
risks are detailed within 
the MTFP.

Robust short, medium and 
long term planning.

Contact Officers
Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager

Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No. Name of Appendix
1 Draft Medium Term Financial Plan

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available
2018/19 Budget report

Tracking Information
Signed off by Date sent
Legal Services 22/6/18
Section 151 Officer 22/6/18
Monitoring Officer 22/6/18
SMT 22/6/18

Circulated to Date sent
Assistant Director 22/6/18
Human Resources Manager 22/6/18
Communications Team 22/6/18
Leader 22/6/18
Committee Chairman 22/6/18
Portfolio Holder 22/6/18
Ward Councillor(s) N/A
Committee N/A
Executive (Cabinet) 18/7/18
Council 24/7/18

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

South Lakeland District Council 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
Including Financial Strategy and Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2023/24 

Contents 

South Lakeland District Council Medium Term Financial Plan ............................................... 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................ 2 

1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 3

Financial Planning Horizons and Financial Planning ....................................................... 3 

2. Financial stability ............................................................................................................... 4

3. Financial strategy .............................................................................................................. 4

4. Vision for South Lakeland and local context .................................................................... 6

5. MTFP Revenue ................................................................................................................. 8

Financial context ............................................................................................................... 8 

Economic Outlook ............................................................................................................. 8 

Key issues and assumptions ............................................................................................ 9 

6. Sensitivity analysis and scenario planning ..................................................................... 20

7. Reserves ......................................................................................................................... 21

8. Capital ............................................................................................................................. 23

9. Consultation strategy, approval and communication process ........................................ 25

10. Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) ............................................................................... 25

11. Conclusion and way forward ........................................................................................... 26

Appendix 1

Page 113



 

2 

Executive Summary 

a) The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is to enable South 
Lakeland District Council to ensure the effective planning and allocation of resources 
to enable the Council to meet the objectives it has set out in its Council Plan. This 
has been prepared at a time of considerable uncertainty with regard to the economy 
(including Brexit) and the Government’s approach to public sector funding. The 
MTFP will be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 13 July, by 
Cabinet on the 18 July before approval at Council on the 24 July 2018. Regular 
update reports will be provided as part of the 2019/20 budget process. 

b) The financial position over the medium term shows an annual revenue budget deficit 
of £0.6m for 2019/20 rising to £2.0m by 2023/24. This is dependent upon the prompt 
and full delivery of the Customer Connect programme and all other savings approved 
and anticipated in the 2018/19 Budget; and that the underlying assumptions around 
income and expenditure changes are robust. Work to implement these savings and 
ensure a balanced budget for 2019/20, and to ensure an improved position for 
2020/21 onwards will continue.  

c) The Government planned changes to local authority funding from April 2020 
increases uncertainty, particularly following the end of the current multi-year 
settlement which covered 4 years from 2016/17 to 2019/20.  The Council also 
generates £10m of income through fees and charges annually.   

d) Capital Funding –A major review of assets is underway and this will require changes 
in current spending and funding plans.  

e) Reserves - the Council’s reserves are projected to total £12m by the end of 2018/19, 
of which £4m are earmarked and a further £2m is planned to be expended during 
2019/20. The risk assessment proposes that the Council should also maintain 
general reserves of circa £6m. 

f) Overall the Council’s financial position remains strong as shown by the adequate 
General Fund balances and reserves, robust financial management processes and 
an excellent track record in achieving efficiency savings. Challenging times are 
ahead however to identify and decide upon options that will provide the solution to 
the remaining deficits as stated in paragraph b) above. 

 

Shelagh McGregor, Chief Finance Officer, SLDC, June 2018

Page 114



 

 

3 
 

1. Introduction 

 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a rolling 5-year plan that takes 
into account: 

 The external financial environment 

 The overall financial demands of services 

 The Council’s existing and projected financial resources 

 The Council’s priorities and stated aims in the Council Plan 

 The major service strategies and plans 

 The MTFP was last approved in July 2017 and sets the context for the 2018/19 budget 
setting process. 

 In common with all the public sector, the medium term outlook for the Council is 
extremely challenging and in order to protect and improve services an ambitious and 
ongoing programme of savings is key to success. The Council has a good track record 
for reacting promptly to changes in the financial situation and delivering a longer term 
approach to savings. 

Financial Planning Horizons and Financial Planning 

 Different techniques are used when considering the short, medium and long-term 
financial planning horizons since each makes a distinctive contribution to the financial 
health of an organisation: 

 Long-term planning horizon is focused on enabling the transformation of the 
organisation with an emphasis on being strategic and customer-led, future 
orientated, proactive in managing change and risk, outcome focused and 
receptive to new ideas. This is seen in the Financial Strategy. 

 Medium-term planning horizon is focused on supporting performance with an 
emphasis on responsiveness to customers, efficient and effective, and with a 
commitment to improving performance. This is seen in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

 Short-term planning horizon is focused on securing stewardship with an 
emphasis on control, probity, meeting regularity requirements and 
accountability. This is seen in the annual budget process which shows the 
detail from the Medium Term Financial Plan for the following year to set the 
Council tax. 

Page 115



 

 

4 
 

 The Council operates a medium term revenue and capital investment programme over 
a five year period. The programme is revised annually to roll forward so as to 
incorporate a new year, as well as to review and revise the old financial years. The 
Council constantly reviews the form and content of its MTFP to ensure it meets good 
practice 

 The future impact of all issues have been considered as part of the 2018/19 budget 
setting process, including those which were already known about which may not 
impinge on our budgets until after the first year (2018/19). Appendix 1 includes the 
key stages involved in producing the budget for 2019/20. 

2. Financial stability 

 The issue of financial stability is one that requires strong corporate governance 
supported by effective procedures, processes and controls with Council-wide 
involvement in supporting an integrated approach to the preparation of soundly based 
capital and revenue bids for resources. The MTFP is based on sound financial 
assumptions that are based on robust assessments. The ‘robustness’ of the MTFP is 
highlighted in the Appendices to this strategy which show the key elements of the 
Council’s financial management framework. The risks log at Appendix 7 summaries 
the key financial risks facing the Council and the steps to be taken to mitigate these 
risks. 

 The medium-term financial planning process has been in place for a number of years 
and is an established part of the budget setting process. It provides a forecast of the 
cost of continuing to provide existing levels of service and the resources that are likely 
to be available to the Council over the period. It identifies any shortfalls and sets out 
how this will be managed. This document is reviewed regularly during the year, regular 
review and update is essential to ensure the MTFP takes full account of any changes 
in the Council’s aspirations, strategic and service delivery priorities, changes in 
Government legislation, financial regulation and funding streams. 

3. Financial strategy 

 The Council’s financial strategy is: 

a Balanced budgets: Maintain a balanced budget position, and to set a medium 
term financial plan maintaining and strengthening that position 

b Five year budgets: the Council sets budgets for a five year period. 

Page 116



 

 

5 
 

c Strong financial management: The Council controls and monitors the actual 
position of the authority on a regular basis setting out actions to correct any 
emerging issues; 

d Understanding of key cost-drivers: The Council analyses and reviews the 
key elements of the service areas including the use of benchmarking; 

e Asset maintenance: the Capital Programme should ensure adequate 
programmes of maintenance to sustain values of key assets, especially 
income-generating assets. 

f Legal transactions: the approval and adoption of the Council’s Constitution, 
particularly the Budget and Policy Framework, Financial Procedure Rules and 
the Contract Procedure Rules set foundations for ensuring legal transactions 
alongside the whole system of internal control reviewed annually in the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

g Affordable investment; to undertake a prudent level of capital investment to 
meet the Council’s strategic priorities and remain within prudential borrowing 
limits 

h Maximise resource base; the Council will ensure the best use of physical and 
other assets including staff time; 

i Value for money; Continuous review of budgets to ensure resources are 
targeted on key objectives and deliver value for money to local taxpayers. 

j Working with others: to ensure all services are delivered by the most 
appropriate body. This may require the Council to work in partnership or to 
facilitate provision by other bodies. 

k Minimise financial risk including holding reserves as appropriate and 
sustainable levels of debt. 

3.2. The Council has a duty to ensure value for money in everything it undertakes.  Value 
for Money (VFM) is an assessment of whether or not we obtain the maximum benefit 
from the goods and services we both acquire and provide, within the resources 
available to achieve it. This assessment includes considerations about suitability, 
quality, whole life costs and the relationship between economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness and is summarised as: 

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and 
deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and 
local people.” 
 

Page 117



 

 

6 
 

3.3. Value for money remains an integral part of the external audit opinion. The latest 
general feedback was that the Council had consolidated previous improvements and 
demonstrates good value for money across our services 

3.4. The Council’s Value for Money Strategy was last approved in July 2014 as part of the 
MTFP process and provides a framework on how the Council aims to maximise its 
resources. 

 The rest of this paper uses these principles to construct the Medium Term Financial 
Plan for 2019/20 – 2023/24. 

4. Vision for South Lakeland and local context  

 The MTFP aims to support the Council’s overall vision for the District: “Making South 
Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore”. 

 The Council Plan sets out the strategic approach to how the Council will shape 
delivery of the outcomes. The priorities will be delivered by ensuring we are equipped 
to provide the best, most cost effective services through: 

 a flexible and skilled workforce 
 our community leaders 
 a sustainable budget 
 improved customer engagement and communication. 

4.3. The Council plan details the Council’s Corporate Priorities, which are 

 Economy: “Enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable economic 
growth”. 

 Housing: “Providing homes to meet need”. 

 Environment: “Protecting and enhancing our place”. 

 Culture and Wellbeing: “Improving wellbeing, reducing inequality and 
supporting cultural activities”. 

The Council has a long term ambition for “1000 jobs and 1000 affordable homes for rent”. 

 A number of major strategic reviews are currently underway including: 

 Customer Connect programme to create a single view of the customer to put 
them at the heart of everything we do and enable them to have better access 
to services at times which are more convenient to them. 

 Corporate Property Strategy update and review of core corporate assets, 
including South Lakeland House; 

Page 118



 

 

7 
 

 Implementation of housing alternative funding model; 

 the Kendal Town Centre Masterplan and use of Community Infrastructure 
Levy, replacement of the Local Plan with a new framework and Objectively 
Assessed Need; 

 the Leisure Facilities Strategy and future of Ulverston Leisure Centre; 

 the implementation of the Environment Agency’s Kendal Flood Relief Scheme, 
a major programme which will require the engagement of the Council as owner 
of land, local planning authority and as accountable body for elements of 
external capital funding which may be applied in the Scheme;  

 the Economic Development Strategy for South Lakeland, and the wider 
Morecambe Bay functioning economic, housing, health and travel to work 
area. 

These may require changes in current spending and funding plans. 

 The Council is committed to working with partners and other key stakeholders to 
deliver services within South Lakeland. This includes 

 Formal arrangements, such as Cumbria Local Economic Partnership (LEP), 
Cumbria Business Rate Pool; 

 Agreed joint statement of intent of collaborative working with the Borough of 
Barrow in Furness and Lancaster City Council on economic development and 
other related initiatives; 

 Formal contractual arrangements as a result of competitive tendering; 

 Transfer of assets or management of assets between organisations; 

 Sharing of premises; 

 Informal collaborations. 

 Some shared arrangements exist for providing services within the organisation: 
currently South Lakeland shares IT with Eden District Council and are jointly 
implementing the digital element of the Customer Connect programme. 

Page 119



 

 

8 
 

5. MTFP Revenue  

Financial context 

 The Budget Reports for 2018/19 included updates of the financial model and 
concluded that the Council’s future financial outlook was likely to continue to be 
challenging over the next few years as reductions in overall public spending and 
changes in local government funding. Meeting new cost pressures requires a rigorous 
approach to identifying efficiencies, enhanced productivity, and reprioritisation of 
spending within services. 

Economic Outlook 

 The UK economy continues to grow slowly. The underlying momentum appears less 
robust within manufacturing and construction.  Forecasters have lowered their growth 
projections from 1.7% to 1.3% in 2019 and from 2 to 1.4% in 2021. The Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) shows South Lakeland’s economy has become the fastest 
growing in Cumbria, out-performing neighbouring district authorities and overtaking the 
cities of Lancaster and Carlisle. Meanwhile South Lakeland has this year been listed 
as one of the North West’s top five ‘vibrant economies’ by accountants Grant 
Thornton.  Tourism had a £1.24 billion economic impact on South Lakeland in 2017, 
up nearly 4% on 2016. 

5.3 Inflation measured using the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has remained well above 
the Bank of England target of 2% with the latest rate for April 2018 CPI at 2.4%.  The 
forecasts for future years reduces this to 2% by mid-2020. 

 The RPI measure is predicated to remain at a higher level compared to CPI. It is 
important to note that some of the Council’s contracts are linked to either RPI or RPIX 
as an inflationary increase (although this is reviewed as part of each procurement 
process with the aim of moving to CPI on all contracts where appropriate and the 
grounds maintenance contract has now moved from RPI to CPI). 

 The Bank of England base rate has returned to 0.5% from the historical low level of 
0.25%. This low level has had a major impact on the Council’s investment income. 
The base rate of interest is predicted to increase slightly from March 2019: 

Base rate 
projections 

March 
2018 

Sept 
2018 

March 
2019 

Sept 
2019 

March 
2020 

May 2018 0.5% 0.5% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 
May 2017 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50% 

 

Page 120



 

 

9 
 

Interest rates have been predicted to increase beyond 0.5% in 18 months for the 
last eight years and have not. The financial model prudently assumes base rate 
remains at 0.5% for the duration of the model. 

Key issues and assumptions 

Inflation 

 The MTFP financial model assumes pay inflation of 2% for 2019/20 and onwards. The 
financial impact of a 1% movement in pay inflation is around £140k change in the 
general fund employee budget. The employee budget is reduced by 4% (£550k) for 
vacancies and turnover: this reduction is monitored regularly.  The Council follows 
national pay awards and the national local government pay spine.  A new pay spine 
has been announced as part of the 2018/20 pay agreement which will require a review 
of the Council’s pay grades.  This review will be carried out during summer 2018 and 
will be fed into the 2019/20 budget process.  This new spine will reflect the 
Government’s National Living Wage. 

 In the MTFP financial model inflation on contract prices has been uplifted by 
appropriate indices as stated in the conditions of the contracts. No inflationary 
increase has been applied to the general services budget, except specific items such 
as utilities where inflation is unavoidable. We will continue to monitor the impact of this 
policy, including the impact at contract renewal. The financial impact on running costs 
of a 1% movement in inflation is around £284k. 

Business Rates and Government Grant  

 The Government introduced fundamental changes to the way local government is 
financed from April 2013. In particular, non-domestic rates (also known as business 
rates) are no longer pooled and redistributed in full nationally; instead local authorities 
retain a proportion of business rates locally.  

 A number of changes are planned by the Government from April 2020 which may 
have a significant impact on the business rate income retained.  As a result the level of 
income from business rates is particularly difficult to predict from April 2020.  The 
financial model assumes the annual reduction in funding from business rates, 
Revenue Support Grant and Rural Services Delivery Grant that has been seen since 
April 2013 will continue from April 2020 onwards.  Nationally it is expected that the 
cash amount of funding for local authorities remains static from April 2020, although 
this is dependent on the outcome of the Government’s 2019 Spending Review. The 
Fair Funding Review, also due to be introduced from April 2020, is expected to 
prioritise social care and other services provided by other authorities in 2 tier areas 
over services provided by district councils.  There is also a 

Page 121



 

 

10 
 

baseline reset due in April 2020 which will redistribute growth in business rates from 
the areas where the growth has occurred to areas of greater need.  Again, it is 
generally considered that this is unlikely to benefit district councils. 

 The Council has been a member of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool since it was 
established in 2014.  From April 2018 the pool has admitted Copeland Borough 
Council so now includes all six Cumbrian district councils and Cumbria County 
Council.  This has increased the expected volatility of income from the pool as 
Copeland district includes Sellafield which has a high rateable value and has had 
large reductions in rateable value in the past.  The Cumbrian Pool retained £4.2m of 
levy in 2017/18 that would otherwise have been paid to the Government, of which 
South Lakeland received £667k, which is earmarked for economic development 
through the Pool income reserve. 

 The Cumbrian bid for a business rate pilot pool was unsuccessful for 2018/19 but it 
has been proposed that another bid should be submitted for 2019/20.  Pilot authorities 
will forgo all general Government grants in return for retaining a higher proportion of 
business rates.  The Cumbria bid for 2018/19 expected additional rate income, above 
the levels generated by the existing pool that would be retained by the seven 
authorities of £9m of which this Council was expected to receive £158k and Cumbria 
County Council £6m. 

 Since 2013 the Government has been reducing the proportion of funding to Councils 
paid as Revenue Support Grant so Councils become more reliant on business rate 
income.  Under the old system the Council received £3.0m of grant in 2013/14 but this 
dropped to £0.25 for 2017/18.  The Council will receive no Revenue Support Grant for 
2018/19 and is due to pay £613k of negative Revenue Support Grant to the 
Government in 2019/20 through an increase in tariff from business rates. District 
Councils continue to express their objection to this aspect of the Government’s 
proposed allocation of resources. 

 The final settlement for 2018/19 indicated that the Council will receive £348k of Rural 
Services Delivery Grant in 2019/20 but from April 2020 this will also be absorbed into 
the Fair Funding Review and business rate reset.  Rural Services Delivery Grant and 
Transition Grant were introduced for a limited period by the Government to reduce the 
impact when the funding formula was frozen in 2013 without increasing funding for the 
additional costs of providing services in areas of high population sparsity. 

 As a result of the Government’s cuts to Council income and changes in funding from 
grant to rate retention the Council’s income from these sources has reduced.  This 
reduction is expected to continue for district councils due to the notable pressure to 
increase funding for social care while total local government funding beyond the 
current 4-year finance settlement is expected to be unchanged from the 2019/20 level.  
The table and chart below show Government support since 

Page 122



 

 

11 
 

2012/13 and the projected income until 2024.  There is an opportunity for politicians 
from rural areas to lobby for increased funding through SPARSE and similar 
organisations.  

Year 

Business 
Rates 

Retained 

Revenue 
Support 
Grant 

Rural Delivery 
and Transition 

Grant 

Total 
Formula 

Grant 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
2012/13 (actual) 0 4,786 0 4,786 
2013/14 (actual) 2,206 3,095 0 5,301 
2014/15 (actual) 2,709 2,472 0 5,181 
2015/16 (actual) 2,769 1,813 0 4,582 
2016/17 (actual) 3,167 934 547 4,648 
2017/18 (actual) 3,226 249 463 3,938 
2018/19 (budgeted) 3,868 0 433 4,301 
2019/20 (provisional) 2,924 0 348 3,272 
2020/21 (estimate) 2,756 0 0 2,756 
2021/22 (estimate) 2,241 0 0 2,241 
2022/23 (estimate) 1,725 0 0 1,725 
2023/24 (estimate) 1,328 0 0 1,328 

 

New Homes Bonus Scheme 

 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) Scheme was introduced in 2011/12 as a way to 
encourage local authorities to facilitate housing growth. In essence, for every net 
additional property built or brought back into use, the Government match funds the 
additional Council tax, with an additional amount for affordable homes, for the 
following four years above a threshold of 0.4% growth in taxbase (equivalent to 210 
homes for this Council). The grant is top sliced from Revenue Support Grant and paid 
as a un-ring fenced revenue grant and it is split 80% to district councils and 20% to the 
relevant county council. 

New Homes 
Bonus 

2017/18 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 

Grant 1,130 
(actual) 

875 
(actual) 

644 598 488 612 

 For the purpose of the MTFP, the income from New Homes Bonus beyond 2018/19 is 
estimated to increase based on a net additional 320 new homes per annum and that 
payments will be made for four years.  

 The Council resolved to earmark the monies from the NHB into an earmarked reserve 
to be split 60:40 between support for affordable housing and Locally Important 
Projects (LIPs), including community led planning. The locally important projects 
element includes use of NHB to fund a budget of £51,000, allowing 

Page 123



 

 

12 
 

£1,000 for each member for community projects identified by each member in their 
wards. Any unspent grant at the end of the year returns to the main LIPs budget. 

 There is increasing pressure on the Council’s capital programme as presented by the 
Property Services Asset Strategy being developed. For more details see section 8 
below. It is proposed that the use of the NHB resource and others will be reviewed in 
order to consider the growing demands. The extending of the use of this resource has 
been approved to some extent by the Council as part of the 2018/19 Budget; for 
example there are capital programme bids funded from LIPS, i.e. the Kendal to 
Lancaster Towpath trail and enhancements to Millerground. 

Council Tax 

 The Council is committed to do all it can to reduce the financial burdens placed upon 
its residents and the Council was able to freeze its average band D Council tax for the 
five consecutive years from 2010/11 to 2015/16. Since 2016/17 there is now an 
expectation from Government that annual increases in Council tax will form an integral 
part of the resources supporting local authorities. There is also an assumption, built 
into the Government’s calculation of Spending Power, that Council’s will increase 
Council tax by the maximum permissible amount. 

 The Localism Act gives local communities the power to approve or veto excessive 
Council tax rises. The Secretary of State will determine a limit for Council tax; if an 
authority proposes to raise taxes above this limit they will have to hold a referendum to 
approve or to veto the rise. From 2016/17 until 2017/18 this level was the higher of 2% 
or £5.  As part of the 2018/19 Local Government Finance Settlement this increased to 
the higher of below 3% or £5 in February 2018.    

  The MTFP assumes the Council’s average band D Council tax will increase by £5 per 
annum but the maximum permissible would be 2.99% or £5.70. The Council has 
limited income generated from Council tax; for every £1 increase in the average Band 
D Council tax there is only an additional £45k of income: if the Council were to 
increase by the maximum permitted an additional £32k could be generated for 
2019/20. 

  Due to the uncertainty surrounding the level of future business rate income due to 
system changes and the unpredictability of external income then Council tax is the 
most stable of income sources for the Council. Therefore any decision to change 
levels of Council tax must consider the medium and long-term implications on the 
Council’s financial stability. 

 The decision on Council tax is reviewed every year as part of the budget and Council 
tax setting process. The Council has a history of retaining lower levels of Council tax 
increases.  

Page 124



 

 

13 
 

Council tax on Second Homes 

 The Council currently benefits from a Second Homes agreement which returns 50% of 
the additional Council tax collectable on second homes within the district as a result of 
the reduction in the discount on second homes being reduced from 50% to 10% which 
otherwise would have been received by Cumbria County Council. This second homes 
agreement commenced from April 2009 for 10 years so will expire in March 2019.  
Cumbria County Council has indicated it is not minded to renew the agreement. 

 Under the arrangement the Council receives an additional revenue income of £700k 
per year which is earmarked for affordable housing. This funding has been used to 
fund a number of housing-related services including contributions to extra care 
housing provision, the handy person scheme to enable people to remain in their own 
homes for longer and the draught-buster scheme to reduce fuel poverty.  

 The assumption in the financial forecast currently is that any reduction in income from 
the agreement can only be offset by a reduction in expenditure.   The Council is in the 
process of reviewing this issue to make the case for a new Second Homes 
Agreement. If this proves unsuccessful, options will be developed for the Council to 
consider. 

Taxbase for Council Tax Setting 

 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 included a number of ‘technical changes’ to 
Council tax that give Councils the opportunity to change existing discounts or 
exemptions and to introduce premiums. In order to offset the additional costs of the 
Council tax Reduction Scheme, the Council opted to remove the discount on second 
homes from (previously 10%) and amend the discounts for certain empty properties. 
Properties that are classified as empty for more than 2 years will pay a 50% premium. 

 The Council have not amended the Council tax Discounts and Premiums since their 
implementation in 2013 and as it stands there are no proposals to amend these at this 
time with the exception of a reduction for care leavers from April 2018. The Councils’ 
Council tax Base is determined annually as part of the budget process. Officers will 
not report regarding these charges in future unless there is a proposal to change them 
or their levels. 

 The financial model assumes the taxbase will increase by around 250 properties each 
year, in line with the projections for New Home Bonus. Although the total number of 
properties completed is expected to exceed this level (c320 properties) it is necessary 
to reflect the reductions due to some of those properties becoming holiday lets, or 
eligible for single person discount of 25%, or eligible for Council tax reduction scheme 
discounts. It is assumed there will be no changes in the levels of discounts granted 
and levels of discounts are being closely monitored to see if this 

Page 125



 

 

14 
 

assumption is reasonable. 250 new properties will generate around £48k pa of 
additional Council tax. 

 The Chancellor announced in the 2017 Budget that Councils will be given the option to 
increase the premium on empty homes from 50% to 100%.  This is unlikely to 
generate more than £25k annually for the Council.  No detail has been published yet 
about when this would take effect so has not been included in the financial model. 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 The Government localised support for Council tax from April 2013 so the Council has 
the discretion to decide who should pay less Council tax and how much less they 
should pay.  

 Councils are required to review their schemes on a regular basis: in December 2017 
Council resolved not to change the existing scheme except to apply the annual 
upratings aligned to other means tested benefit schemes. This means the Council’s 
scheme has not reflected the changes announced by the Government including 
removal of family premium for new claims, limiting the number of dependents additions 
and reduction of backdating period from six months to one month. The MTFP 
assumes no change to the existing scheme. 

Universal Credits 

 Universal Credits were to be introduced between 2013 and 2017 through the Welfare 
Reform Act. Universal Credits is an integrated working-age credit that will provide a 
basic allowance with additional elements for children, disability, housing and caring. It 
will support people both in and out of work. For local authorities, this means the link 
between Housing Benefit and Council tax discounts will be broken and that universal 
credits will be administered by the Department of Work and Pensions. As Universal 
Credit only applies to new working age claim it is assumed the Council will continue to 
administer housing benefit for the duration of the MTFP. 

External Income 

 The Council relies on a number of external income sources and over the last few 
years the economic downturn affected our income streams, in particular in service 
areas linked to building and housing e.g. land charges and building control income. A 
number of significant fees, including liquor licences and planning application fees are 
set by Government. The Government increased planning fees during 2018 but with 
conditions attached on the use of the additional income to be applied to the 
improvement of the planning service. The Local Government Association has 
campaigned for local freedom for authorities to set fees based on local circumstances. 

Page 126



 

 

15 
 

 Income from fees and charges are a key element of financial sustainability for the 
Council.  Income from car park charges exceed all other income sources except 
Council tax. Overall the fees for pay and display and pay on exit parking have not 
increased since 2011/12.  Income however has shown steady growth since then due 
to improvements at the various sites, enforcement and small changes at individual 
sites where usage was previously low.  The recent Early Bird trial extensions are 
seeing mixed results with ticket sales 25% down at one location but slightly up at 
another.  Individual decisions on tariffs and discounts should be based on experience 
at each site, including the implications for traffic management, usage, economic 
development, revenue and the output from the Car Park strategy included in the 
2018/19 revenue growth bids.  In-year decisions should be approved in line with the 
Corporate Charging Policy and the Financial Procedure Rules. Future income flows 
from car parking may change as the balance between tourism and retail is expected to 
change in the future. 

  Any proposals to reduce income streams are treated as growth bids. All fees and 
charges are set in accordance with the Council’s Policy on Fees and Charges, last 
approved in July 2017. 

 The Council has a good history of debt collection. The Council continues to build on 
this to maximise income received and minimise income written off. Monitoring 
information which is produced monthly has been enhanced to provide information on 
evaluating the effectiveness of debt recovery actions, associated costs, and the cost of 
not recovering debt promptly. 

 The financial model assumes income from external charges in general increases by 
2% annually with the exception of recycling credits (assume frozen) and includes 
reviewing individual charges to ensure the balance of income generation is 
appropriate. 

External Interest and Investment 

 Historically a key income stream for the Council has been the income generated from 
investment of cash balances. Every 1% of movement in interest rates is equivalent to 
approximately £300k in income; however the actual interest earned will also be 
affected by the level of cash balances available.  

 The financial model assumes interest rates remain constant at 0.5% for the period of 
the model. While commentators predict an increase during 2019 experience suggests 
the predicted increase will be later than expected. This assumption will be revisited if 
the base rate changes. If interest rates increase on investments then there will be an 
off-setting increase on any new borrowing.  

Page 127



 

 

16 
 

 Nationally revenue resources have declined, which has increased pressure to 
maximise returns on investments. The Council is required to follow Government 
regulations which require investments to be rated based on security, liquidity and 
return, in that order of importance. The Council’s income from investments is 
controlled by its Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy, part of the 
Prudential Code for Local Authorities which sets out how Councils can borrow and 
invest. 

Pensions 

 South Lakeland District Council employees are eligible to be members of the Local 
Government Pension scheme, of which the Government sets the terms and conditions 
nationally. This is a statutory condition of employment available to all local government 
employees. 

 The most recently published actuarial valuations (2016) for the whole fund show that 
the South Lakeland Council element of the fund continues to be in deficit. The Council 
pays employer contributions based on a set percentage contribution for future service 
accrual and a fixed monetary contribution each year for past service liability instead of 
a set percentage contribution covering both. This should avoid the reduction in 
recovery of past service liability as staffing levels decline following reduction or 
transfer of services. Following the revaluation the Council’s current employee costs 
increased from 14.3% to 16.2% but the deficit plan lump sum reduced: the overall 
pension contributions remain broadly the same as under the last revaluation. 

 The fixed contribution for past service liability for the 3 years from April 2017 to March 
2020 was paid as a single lump-sum payment to the pension fund in April 2017. The 
pension scheme can use a wider variety of investment to generate higher returns than 
those available to SLDC. A similar prepayment was made in April 2014 which saved 
the Council around £230k over the three year period. It is assumed similar 
arrangements will continue and that there is no change in the overall costs of pensions 
over the life of the financial model. 

Service Demand and Other Budget Pressures 

 The Government expects local authorities to take a major part to revitalise the local 
economy and at the same time bear a significant part of the Government’s overall 
austerity measures from reduced funding. Nationally the greatest pressure on demand 
for services is due to the aging population profile and is mainly affecting immediate 
health and social care budgets. There has been little concentration on longer term 
preventative measures such as housing, employment and leisure, many of these 
services are provided by district councils in 2 tier areas.  Councils have increased 
requirements to prevent homelessness and have also seen an increase in the number 
of cases.  National changes to housing benefits have reduced the 

Page 128



 

 

17 
 

effectiveness of the local social lettings scheme which reduced homelessness by 
working with local landlords to guarantee income.  

 During 2016/17 the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee held a Tackling 
Poverty workshop. Incomes tend to be lower than the national average in South 
Lakeland and the number of families on the lowest wages is increasing. SLDC have a 
building financial resilience together project, this is a collaborative initiative with public, 
private and third sector partners. The partnership has agreed an action plan broken 
down into 7 task groups: 

1: Increase partner collaboration and publicise support available 
2: Build local wealth 
3: Increase access to skills and education 
4: Reduce Fuel Poverty 
5: Food waste and re-distribution 
6: Increase sign up to Environment Agency Flood warning service 
7: Investigate Poverty Truth Commission taking place in Morecambe 

Progress from these task groups is being monitored at regular partnership meetings. 
The Council aims to provide long term strategies that will have a genuine effect on 
future levels, such as educational and skills attainment, housing affordability, access 
to work and healthy lifestyles.  

 The 2019/20 – 2023/24 financial model assumes levels of demand will remain 
constant. Increases in demand are addressed as a service budget pressure within the 
annual budget setting process. 

 One area of expected increase in spend is the cost of insurance. The costs have 
increased partially due to Government changes in IPT, higher rebuild estimates and 
the Council’s claims history, particularly due to the December 2015 floods.  The 
Council will carry out a tendering process for insurance services during 2018/19 and 
has already increased the budget for insurance in 2019/20 by £93k. 

 The Council has seen an increase in the costs of collection of waste and recyclables. 
The Council offers a fortnightly 5-stream waste collection service to all residents.  An 
external review in late 2017 has concluded that vehicle numbers and staffing levels 
were insufficient and over reliance on agency staff had resulted in considerable 
additional costs to the service.  New vehicles have now been delivered and a new 
staffing structure was approved in March 2018 and was reflected in the budgets 
approved in February 2018.  However, it has proved difficult to recruit drivers.  
Consultation is commencing with unions and staff regarding a new job description and 
associated regrading for 44 staff.  This will initially increase costs by just over £40k in 
2018/19 (part year) rising to £175k by the end of the MTFP period.  

Page 129



 

 

18 
 

 Government changes to the management of homelessness, including the 
requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act, have increased the Council’s costs 
both through the number of homeless cases increasing by 750% since 2015 and more 
resources needed for each case.  Over the same period the number of homelessness 
prevention and relief cases increased from 280 to 387.  Officers are monitoring the 
impact of the changes. 

 The Council will monitor trends in the economy, particularly the predicted change in 
town centres from retail to other uses while the importance of tourism to the local 
economy has increased.  The impact of these changes on the Council’s service 
delivery and balance between costs and income streams will be kept under review.  

Customer Connect  

 The Council has recognised that transformational change will be required to deliver 
the improvements to services within the significant reductions in resources available in 
future years. The Customer Connect Programme has three elements: digital, people 
and places. The programme should deliver a more efficient way of working for 
everyone, faster and better services, value for money for taxpayers, more time to help 
vulnerable residents, improved customer satisfaction and a highly-skilled modern 
workforce. 

 In another report on this Council meeting’s agenda the financial implications of the 
Customer Connect Programme are included. That report provides an update on the 
approach now proposed. This report includes the costs and efficiencies set out in that 
report.  

 It is estimated that the proposed investment of c£3.848m will deliver annual revenue 
efficiencies of c£1.550m when the project is fully implemented. This will require an 
additional budget of £2.547m after taking account of the £1.3m provision currently 
approved. It is proposed that unapplied reserves provide the revenue funding of this 
additional amount with the capital element funded from capital receipts. A review of 
the level of reserves and the current risks that apply has been undertaken which 
identifies scope to utilise these funds.    

The SLDC Efficiency/Savings Plan 

 The Council, as part of its annual Budget Process, reviews the savings delivered and 
those still required to enable the following years’ Budgets to balance. The delivery of 
the savings included in the February 2018 Budget is closely monitored. Substitute 
savings are developed where initial plans are delayed or unlikely to be achieved. 
Additional savings are developed where the deficit projections increase. 

 The financial impacts of the Customer Connect programme are 
included in the budget projections.  The balancing annual deficits 

Page 130



 

 

19 
 

as set out in the table at section 5.57 below will be met through additional savings 
options currently being developed. These will be set out in updated budget reports 
provided between September 2018 and February 2019. 

2018/19 General Fund Budget 

 As part of the 2018/19 budget setting process, information was examined relating to 
the level of existing resources in each service areas, including the number of staff 
employed and comparisons have been drawn with historical expenditure data to 
identify savings areas. All budget options have been considered in the context of 
current service performance and priorities and all the growth bids went through a 
challenge process. The details of the 2018/19 general fund revenue budget, including 
growth and savings can be found in the 2018/19 Budget report submitted to Council in 
February 2018. 

The Projected Net Budget Position 

 The financial model (detailed in Appendix 2) shows deficits over the future 5 year 
period of between £1.3m and £3.6m before savings from Customer Connect are 
included. These projections also include £500k for uncommitted pressures and growth 
from April 2019 onwards. While costs over the six-years of the model are reducing 
overall there is a big estimated reduction in income from business rates and 
Government grant due to expected changes in the Government’s scheme for Council’s 
to retain business rate income, as set out above.   

  2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
Indicative 

£000
Service Expenditure 30,303.3 29,894.1 28,013.8 28,356.6  28,798.7 29,276.4 
Uncommitted 
Pressure/Growth 

0.0 500.0 500.0 500.0  500.0 500.0 

Service income (13,480.2) (13,433.7) (13,695.1) (13,800.5) (14,081.4) (14,260.3)
Net service expenditure 16,823.1 16,960.4 14,818.7 15,056.1  15,217.3 15,516.1 
Corporate items (16,462.1) (15,666.3) (12,879.6) (12,574.6) (12,127.5) (11,930.1)
Sub-total before impact 
of Customer Connect 

361.0 1,294.1 1,939.1 2,481.5  3,089.8 3,586.0 

Further Savings from 
Customer Connect 

(361.0) (740.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0)

Net projected deficit 
June 2018 

0.0 554.1 389.1 931.5  1,539.8 2,036.0 

 These projections are based on the achievement of all savings proposals approved to 
date and that the underlying assumptions around income and expenditure changes 
are robust. First draft projections to 2023/24 suggest the deficit will increase in line 
with trends over the last 4 years mainly as a result in the reduction in Government 
grant. Further work will be carried out to test the underlying assumptions: updates on 
the projected deficit for 2023/24 will be reported during the 
2019/20 budget setting process. 

Page 131



 

 

20 
 

 The Council is focused on achieving savings, primarily through efficiencies. During the 
budget and planning process there is an emphasis on ensuring resources are directed 
to priority areas in line with the Council Plan, with service efficiencies monitored and 
reviewed highlighting where further savings can be made. 

 The Budget Strategy for 2019/20 must concentrate on closing the revenue deficits, 
either through increases in income or reductions in expenditure. Where capital 
expenditure is required to generate future revenue savings it should be prioritised. 
Unless funding from earmarked resources, no revenue budget growth bids (including 
reductions in income) should be accepted until all budget pressures are funded and 
the 2019/20 budget deficit is met. 

6. Sensitivity analysis and scenario planning 

 Risk Management is a key feature of the Council’s financial planning process. The 
Council is very aware of the need for effective risk management and considers that the 
assessment and minimisation of all types of risk to be vital. It has an adopted Risk 
Management Strategy in place, and the financial risks to the Council are assessed in 
the context of the Council’s overall approach to risk management. 

 To mitigate risk the Council regularly monitors its budgets.  The corporate Risk 
Management process is used by South Lakeland to identify, monitor and report on 
risks.  Quarterly performance monitoring reports provide a platform for the Members to 
scrutinise the financial and non-financial performance (e.g. local and national 
indicators). 

 Details of the risks facing the Council were discussed in section 5 and the table below 
summarises the financial implications if assumptions made in the MTFP change in the 
future (the details of which are included in section 5 also). This gives some indications 
to the kind of risks which need to be allowed for in considering the level of reserves in 
future years. 

Assumption: impact over 6-years of a 
1% change in 2018/19  

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
Total over 

6-year 
period 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Inflation: pay award 1% higher than 
assumed (2% currently assumed) 

133.3 134.4 136.0 138.7 141.8 145.0 829.2 

Pension contribution: contribution rate 1% 
higher than expected (25% currently 
assumed) 

99.6 100.3 101.4 103.4 105.6 107.8 618.1 

Inflation on contracts: 1% higher than 
expected (2% currently assumed) 

141.4 142.4 143.4 144.4 145.4 146.4 863.4 

Page 132



 

 

21 
 

Assumption: impact over 6-years of a 
1% change in 2018/19  

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
Total over 

6-year 
period 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Average investment interest rate 1% higher 
than assumed (although this depends on 
timing as some investments are at fixed 
rates), current assumption 0.5% base rate 

340.5 386.1 416.6 417.4 434.1 451.5 2,446.2 

Retained business rate income: overall 
rates collectable 1% lower than assumed 

125.5 128.0 130.5 133.1 133.1 133.1 783.3 

Income from car parks 1% lower than 
assumed 

42.9 43.7 44.6 45.5 46.4 47.3 270.2 

Income from council tax 1% lower than 
assumed (current assumption £5pa band D 
increase) 

86.3 89.0 91.8 94.6 97.4 100.3 559.5 

 Some of the greatest risks are around the assumptions relating to income from 
business rates from April 2020 when the current multi-year settlement ends. The 
MTFP assumes the level of annual reductions in Government funding since 2013 will 
continue from April 2020. There are also a number of variables that will have an 
impact on income from business rates. Depending on the assumptions made, income 
retained by the Council from 2020/21 could vary by around 30% or £900k. 

 All local authorities are required to ensure there are sufficient resources available to 
meet the expenditure in the year: the Council receives a formal report from the Chief 
Finance Officer (for SLDC the Assistant Director Resources) as part of the budget 
setting process. The Council continuously monitors factors that may push a local 
authority into tipping into unstainable expenditure, including intelligence from other 
bodies including Grant Thornton and the Local Government Association. Not all 
authorities share the same level of resilience or risk. Providing the assumptions in this 
MTFP are sound, the policies and recommendations are followed and the savings 
targets are met the Council is not expected to fall into deficit. 

7. Reserves 

 The Council will retain its approved minimum Working Balance level of £1.5m, 
reviewing this regularly in the light of changing financial risk assessment. Risks to the 
Council’s financial position could derive potentially from budget overspend, loss of 
investment income, contractual/legislative failure or challenge and emergency events. 
Historically, the Council has a good record of outturn financial position being within 
budget, therefore this is not seen as a high risk to the Council and it is not necessary 
to make additional significant provision. 

 The Council also considers the impact of holding monies unnecessarily in reserves 
given the ongoing impact of the economic downturn to local 

Page 133



 

 

22 
 

residents and taxpayers. The then Department for Communities and Local 
Government was critical of councils holding significant reserves in difficult economic 
times, encouraging them if at all possible to release some of them. The External 
Auditor closely examines the Council’s actual and projected reserves position each 
year as part of the Value for Money assessment to ensure the amounts held are 
sufficient but not excessive. It should be stressed that there is no theoretically “correct” 
level because the issues that affect an authority’s need for reserves will vary over 
time. 

 The level of risk posed by contractual or legislative failure and emergency events is 
difficult to predict, but it would be a low probability with a potentially high impact. 
However, it is not appropriate to set aside large amounts of reserve against the 
possibility of this happening. Appendix 3 assesses the main financial risks facing the 
General Fund revenue accounts and the suggested appropriate level of reserve 
required to offset this risk, were it to materialise. 

 In setting budgets and projections for individual years, it is important that the use of 
reserves is sustainable and not increasing and creating an unsustainable future 
problem. The fundamental principle within the Council’s Policy on Reserves and 
Balance governing the use of reserves is that they should not be used to fund 
recurring expenditure. If exceptional circumstances make this a necessity, the use of 
the reserve should be clearly stated and approved as an exception to the rule. 

 Levels of reserves are expected to be circa £11.6m by 31/3/19 of which around £3.6m 
are either earmarked by statute, legal agreement or the purpose for which a grant has 
been given. A summary of the levels of reserves at the start and end of 2018/19 are 
shown below. Use of reserve is only included in the projections when the associated 
expenditure is included in the capital programme or revenue budgets.  A copy of the 
policy for reserves and balances can be found in Appendix 4 including details of the 
projected balance on each reserve.   

Table 6: Projected Balances on Reserves 

  31/03/2018 31/03/2019 31/03/2020 31/03/2021 31/03/2022 31/03/2023

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Reserves (8,600) (6,684) (4,893) (5,093) (5,293) (5,493)

Capital Reserves (2,424) (1,343) (1,215) (1,132) (1,055) (1,033)

Earmarked Reserves (4,392) (3,570) (3,560) (3560) (3,560) (3,560)

Total Reserves (15,417) (11,596) (9,668) (9,785) (9,907) (10,086)

Working Balance (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) 1,500) (1,500) (1,500)

Total Reserves and 
Working Balance 

(16,917) (13,096) (11,168) (11,285) (11,407) (11,586)

 General Reserves includes the Customer Connect Reserves which will be used during 
2018/19 and 2019/20 to fund the Customer Connect programme. 

Page 134



 

 

23 
 

 The balances beyond March 2019 are less certain as expenditure from reserves and 
working balances to meet unexpected demands obviously cannot be predicted, for 
example it was expected that around £1m of reserves was required to reinstate flood 
damaged property not covered by insurance or Government grant following the 
December 2015 floods.  

8. Capital 

Capital spend and funding 

 The Council’s Capital Budget Strategy sets out how the Council will manage its capital 
investments in the future. It is agreed on an annual basis and serves the following 
purposes: 

 It sets out how capital contributes to the achievement of the Council’s 
corporate objectives. 

 It establishes the criteria for the allocation of capital resources. 

 It provides a framework for the administration of capital projects and monitoring 
of outcomes 

 The Capital Budget Strategy is reviewed and approved annually as the basis for the 
preparation of the new Capital Programme. Appendix 5 updates the Capital Budget 
Strategy to reflect the current financial situation. All capital investment and disposal 
decisions have been made with reference to the strategic objectives within the Council 
Plan. 

 The Council’s capital programme has, in general, been funded by the use of capital 
receipts, contributions, major repairs reserve or from capital grants. The current five 
year capital programme is underpinned by capital receipts generated through the 
housing transfer in March 2012. Income from the VAT shelter, linked to the housing 
transfer and arising from investment by South Lakes Housing, is reducing as a result 
of the increased use of in-house resources rather than external contractors by South 
Lakes Housing. The Capital Programme approved in February 2018 assumes £1.25m 
of VAT shelter between 2017/18 and 2022/23, £1m lower than the previous capital 
programme. Other capital income has declined significantly - capital grants have 
diminished and there are few non-earmarked capital receipts. 

 The Council receives a share of the proceeds of Right to Buy sales of houses 
transferred to South Lakes Housing in 2012. This income has to be treated as capital 
receipt and the Council has chosen to earmark it for use in providing new affordable 
housing. The Council has cumulative uncommitted, unspent receipts of £3.6m at 31 
March 2018 from this income agreement (with £495k committed to 

Page 135



 

 

24 
 

Ulverston Town Hall) and is expecting this to increase by £700k pa. The Council has 
approved, in principle, to use this money as a loan fund of up to £6m to allow housing 
associations to access low interest rate finance. 

 Other sources of income have changed, including the value of the New Homes Bonus 
as a result of the Government’s changes to the scheme (see para 5.17 above). The 
total amount of NHB is projected to drop to below £0.5m per year during the life of the 
current capital programme. The Government have introduced the Community Housing 
Fund which was initially used to assist in the provision of housing in areas 
experiencing high numbers of second homes and holiday homes. The Council 
received £2.3m of funding from this fund in 2016/17 which may be used for either 
capital or revenue expenditure. 

 The Capital Programme needs to reflect the capital expenditure necessary to maintain 
its key assets over the long-term, especially revenue generating assets such as multi-
storey car parks. Ideally any new schemes would bring alternate external funds or new 
capital receipts from the sale of assets. 

 The Council is currently preparing or updating a number of strategic documents 
including the Economic Development Strategy, Corporate Property Strategy, a Kendal 
Town Centre Masterplan and Housing Strategy: alternative models for delivery and a 
Leisure Facilities Strategy. The results of these reviews will require a fundamental 
review of the capital programme and the use of capital resources to ensure all capital 
projects are deliverable, affordable and contribute to the Council Plan objectives. 

 The capital programme for 2017/18 to 2022/23 was approved by Council in February 
2018. The programme shown at Appendix 6 has been updated for requested carry-
forwards from 2017/18, the addition of an externally funded flood relief scheme, 
Customer Connect and reflects the projected levels of resources. 

Revenue implications of capital programme 

 One of the key drivers for the Council’s approach to capital expenditure is revenue 
affordability. Most Capital Projects have financial implications on the annual Revenue 
Budget. The revenue implications can take a variety of forms and they include: 

 Capital financing costs 

 Loss of investment income 

 Annual non-capital financing costs, e.g. salaries, rent, rates, energy costs, on-
going maintenance costs and any income generated from the scheme or 
project 

 One of the largest revenue cost is the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). This is the 
statutory requirement to charge the revenue account with the 

Page 136



 

 

25 
 

principle cost of borrowing over the life of the asset created. For the purposes of this 
calculation, borrowing is treated as any expenditure not funded by capital receipts or 
contributions. 

 The Council has moved from using leasing to fund the purchase of vehicles and plant 
to outright purchase funded by borrowing.  The table below shows how the MRP is 
projected to increase to reflect the additional costs arising from using borrowing to 
fund the vehicle and plant replacement programme. Once a full cycle of vehicle and 
plant renewal is reflected in the MRP the annual increases will reduce.  

 2018/19 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2021/22 
£000 

2022/23 
£000 

Capital programme funded 
from borrowing 

1,383 1,711 594 499 690

Projected MRP 739 773 1,011 1,050 1,119
 
 The decisions of how to fund capital expenditure, including the treasury management 
decision of whether to borrow externally, are taken at the end of the financial year by 
the Assistant Director (Resources) under delegated powers. The decisions are based 
on the Treasury Management framework for the relevant financial year and ensuring 
value for money. 

9. Consultation strategy, approval and communication 
process 

 The Council carries out regular consultation with local people, customers, 
stakeholders, and partners organisations to establish current and future needs and 
priorities of the community. The MTFP is submitted to Cabinet annually for approval. It 
is subject to challenge and scrutiny through the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
before final approval by Council. 

 The MTFP is reviewed at least quarterly and forecasts are updated as necessary and 
reported as part of the Quarterly Corporate Financial Monitoring process and during 
the Budget process. 

 The Council consults on its budget proposals with business ratepayers in accordance 
with statutory requirements. 

10. Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) 

 The Council is committed to ensuring equality and diversity issues are given proper 
consideration. Equality Impact Assessments are an important part of our decision 
making to enable us to assess the impact of decisions on our 

Page 137



 

 

26 
 

residents, stakeholders and customers. Where the impact is high mitigation plans can 
be developed to reduce the impact of decisions. These are completed in accordance 
with national guidance and best practice. 

  In developing individual budget proposals officers have undertaken equality impact 
assessments. An overall equality impact assessment was prepared for the 2018/19 
budget process and proposals and this will be reviewed as part of each annual budget 
process. 

11. Conclusion and way forward 

 The MTFP should be considered in the context of the following issues: 

a The Council is in a very positive financial position as shown by the adequate 
General Fund balances and reserves, robust financial management practices 
and excellent track record in achieving efficiency savings 

b Further significant key decisions will still be needed to deliver savings while 
safeguarding frontline services to maintain a balanced budget beyond the 
Customer Connect programme. 

c Significant changes are expected to the local government finance system from 
April 2020 which are expected to reduce income available to the Council. 

d A number of major strategic reviews are currently underway including the 
Corporate Property Strategy and review of core corporate assets, review of 
housing alternative models for delivery, the Kendal Town Centre Masterplan 
and use of Community Infrastructure Levy, replacement of the Local Plan with 
a new framework and Objectively Assessed Need, the Leisure Facilities 
strategy and the Economic Development Strategy. These may require changes 
in current spending and funding plans. 

e Inflation and other budget pressures may increase spend above the 
projections included in the financial model. 

f Any changes to the financial position will be closely monitored and updates to 
the financial projections will be reported during the 2019/20 budget process. 

11.2. The financial position over the medium term is shown in Appendix 2. This currently 
shows an annual recurring deficit of c£2.0m to 2023/24 assuming the Customer 
Connect Programme delivers £1.5m pa.  Work is underway to develop the balancing 
£2m. Officers will continue to work on these figures to test the assumptions made and 
updates will be provided during the 2019/20 Budget Process. 

 

Page 138



 

 

27 
 

 

 

Appendices to the Medium Term Financial Plan 

1 Budget Process and Strategy 2019/20 – 2023/24 
2 General Fund Revenue Account Forecast 2018/19 – 2023/24 
3 Risk Assessment of the General Reserve & Working Balance  
4 Policy on Reserves and forecast reserves 2018/19 – 2022/23  
5 Capital Budget Strategy  
6 Capital Expenditure and Income Forecast  
7 Risk and Opportunity Log  
8 Glossary 

 

 
 
 
Document Author and contact details:  
Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk  
Accountable Director: Shelagh McGregor, S151 Officer (co-author) 
Document Reference: MTFP 2018-2023 
Previous review dates and changes made:  

 July 2017 full review 
 February 2018 updated financial position 

Date for review: July 2019 and at least quarterly update of financial model 

Page 139



Appendix 1 

1 

Budget process and strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 

By incorporating the Budget Strategy within the Medium Term Financial Plan the Council 
ensures the two parts of the budget process are seamless and consistent. The proposed 
budget strategy is shown below: 

Proposed 2019/20 Budget Strategy 

a. This proposed Budget Strategy explains the approach to setting a balanced 
budget for 2019/20 in accordance with the principles set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. Through the MTFP updates, corporate issues have been 
addressed that will alter the future years position from the budget that was 
approved on 27 February 2018. 

b. To address future deficits, savings options have been approved for 2018/19 and 
for future years. Savings will also be sought to provide funding for budget 
pressures to ensure the Council Plan priorities are delivered. Members will be 
asked to consider the range of options for savings put forward and which are to be 
consulted on. These may include: 

 increasing income 

 reducing costs by improving service efficiency including the use of assets 

 reduction of costs through cutting overheads 

 alternative service delivery mechanisms 

 ceasing to deliver services 

c. The detailed service and capital budgets will be reviewed to ensure that these 
remain reasonable, with reference to the 2017/18 out-turn, monitoring during 
2018/19 and the Service Managers’ knowledge of any changes due to take effect 

over the budgeting time frame. 

General Fund Services 

d. The overall General Fund Service budget strategy is that: 

 budgets will be updated by Finance for known, externally-driven changes to 
salaries including inflation; they will also update capital charges and 
recharges; 

 all establishment changes must be treated as growth bids or savings and 
forwarded to Human Resources Committee at the appropriate time; 

Page 140



Appendix 1 

2 

 virements and minor (less than £10k gross) cost neutral changes can be made 
to base budgets without bid documents; 

 changes identified as part of the Customer Connect programme and savings 
identified as part of the Corporate Savings Exercise will be worked up into 
budget amendments as part of the budget process;   

 all other changes, including those that are statutory or demand led will need to 
be brought forward for consideration as part of a budget amendment process, 
signed-off by the AD and Portfolio Holder. 

e. More detail of the approach is given below: 

1 Salary budgets are increased by known incremental advances. The 2018 pay 
award covered a two year period beginning April 2018 and included a 2% 
increase in April 2019 along with a new pay scale. From April 2020 2% will be 
included for inflationary pay awards. A 4% reduction will be allowed for 
vacancies and turnover on all salary cost centres; posts which are currently 
vacant will be budgeted at the scale mid-point; rates and thresholds for PAYE, 
NI and pension deductions will be updated. 

2 No allowance will be made for inflation in expenditure budgets unless 
contractually committed or unavoidable (e.g. energy, fuel and utility bills); the 
current inflation assumptions built in to the base will be reviewed and updated 
where necessary. Where a contract is due for re-tendering a review of the 
appropriate inflation rate and budget should be undertaken and a budget 
pressure bid prepared where necessary. 

3 Future year’s income base budgets already have inflationary growth built into 
them. Where this cannot be met or managed through reductions in 
expenditure, this will be identified as a budget pressure. 

4 Fees and Charges need to be consistent with income budgets. This process 
must involve: 

a. review of 2017/18 out-turn and any relevant multi-year trends; 

b. review of current 2018/19 budget position; 

c. review of future year income budget; and 

d. assessment of the options for any changes to fees (structures as well as 
tariff) and the impact of this on the income budget. 

e. For any service area where income budgets are £100k or more per 
annum, this process will be documented. All services will review the 
potential for new fees. 

Fees and Charges must be consistent with the Council’s Corporate Charging 
Policy as approved in July 2017. 

Page 141



Appendix 1 

3 

5 Existing base budgets will be challenged to identify savings that can be 
released to offset projected budget deficits. 

6 Budget Pressures: the delivery of the Council Plan requires constant review of 
budgets to ensure funding is available to deliver the Council Plan priorities. 
Any increases to expenditure or decreases to income base budgets (excluding 
1 and 2 above) will be either matched corporately by a compensating saving 
or will need to be submitted as budget pressures. The de-minimis is set at 
£10k. 

7 If the budget deficit is balanced then resources may be made available for 
growth bids: where growth is to be funded from earmarked resources only 
then bids will be accepted as part of the budget process. 

8 Reserves will be used in accordance with their agreed policies with the 
fundamental principle that they are not used to fund recurring expenditure. 

9 Effective consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Corporate 
Consultation strategy. 

10 Schemes which attract external funding need to be considered with reference 
to the Council Plan and capacity to deliver. 

11 The Budget assumes a £5 Council tax increase annually from April 2018 
onwards. The decision on the actual Council tax each year will be taken by 
Council in February and will be influenced by current Government policy and 
the influence of this on local government funding. 

12 The working balance contributions be reviewed against the current long-term 
target minimum General Fund working balance of £1,500,000 by 31 March 
2019; any surplus over this target should be transferred to the General 
Reserve. 

Capital 

f. The approach to setting the capital programme will be as follows: 

1 A longer-term view will be taken of spending needs to balance priorities and 
resources more evenly over the life of the capital programme. The Council’s 
property advisors will be consulted as to the on-going maintenance programme 
with the aim being to develop a 10 year programme for recurring capital costs. 

2 Bids for new initiatives which recover the investment in a 5 year period will be 
prioritised. Capital Bid documents will be required prior to a scheme being 
accepted as part of the Capital Programme. These are to be signed-off by the 
relevant Portfolio Holder and will be prioritised by Members as part of 
developing the 2019/20 to 2023/24 Capital Programme. Bids will be 
considered alongside future expected spend on major projects, as indicated in 
the capital programme. 

Page 142



Appendix 1 

4 

3 Schemes which attract external funding should be considered in the light of 
capacity to deliver these and need to be prioritised with reference to the 
Council Plan. 

4 Existing schemes within the programme will also be reviewed with reference to 
their progress and any external funding restrictions. 

5 Capital receipts will only be committed once they have been received. 
Although there are known sources of capital receipts (e.g. South Lakes 
Housing VAT Shelter/Right to Buy receipts), future aspirations will take into 
account the resources required to support unavoidable recurring costs. Right 
to Buy receipts will be earmarked for social housing to replace the units sold 
that generated the receipt. 

Budget Process 

g. The approach to the review of the current-year budget, based on budget monitoring, 
will continue. The Council’s Efficiency and Value for Money Strategy will be applied. 

The 5 year position will be set out as part of the process. 

h. Regular budget reports will be provided to inform Members on the emerging issues. 
This will integrate information from review of base budgets, higher level factors (such 
as the grant settlement) represented in the MTFP and the corporate savings process. 

i. Following approval of these proposals, Assistant Directors, managers and finance 
staff will work together on the preparation of budgets based on the strategy set out 
(ensuring consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holders). Work will continue to be 
undertaken on refining the options for reducing the deficits currently projected and 
inclusion in the future Budget reports. 

j. The Draft Budget and Council Plan will be consulted on in accordance with the 
Consultation Plan. The Draft Budget will also be subject to the statutory four week 
period post the 18 December 2018 Council meeting. 

  

Page 143



Appendix 1 

5 

First draft timetable 

The purposed of this appendix is to set out the timing of key events in the 2019/20 budget 
setting process 

High level 2019/20 Budget and Council Plan timetable 

Task Who Due date 

Update the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and Budget 
Strategy 

SMT and Cabinet Members/ 
FS Manager 

O&S 13 July (28/6 GK) 
Cabinet 18 July (2/7 GK) 
Council 24 July (5/7 GK) 

Preparation of detailed base 
budgets 

Budget Holders and 
Finance 

August – 28 November 
Cabinet (5/11 GK) 

Service Development 
Proposals & Review of 
Council Plan 
 
Complete Capital Bid Pro 
Forma 
Revenue Growth Bid Pro 
Forma 
Revenue Savings/Increased 
Income 
 
Vehicle and Plant budget 
proposals 

 
 
 
 
Finance, Budget Holders 
and Assistant Directors in 
consultation with Portfolio 
Holders and appropriate 
Members 
 
 
Jim Maguire, Chief 
Accountant 

 
 
Bid submission deadline 
of 30 August 2018 
 
Summary of the Budget 
process to date to be 
included in the 31 Oct 
Cabinet Reports (8/10 
GK) 
 
As above 

SMT Bid consideration Special SMT 6 Sept (4/9 GK)  
9am - 1pm 

Informal Cabinet/SMT 
Meeting to score the 
Revenue and Capital bids – 
Budget Prioritisation Meeting 

Assistant Directors, Cabinet 
Members and Finance 

14 Sept (12/9 GK) 
10-2pm 

Fees and Charges Lake Admin. 5 October (20/9 GK) 

Updated MTFP 
Fees and Charges options 

SMT/Cabinet Members 
Assistant Directors and 
Chief Accountant in 
consultation with Portfolio 
Holders 

 
Cabinet 31 October 
(8/10 GK) 

Quarter 2 Monitoring Chief 
Accountant/FSM/Finance 
PH and Cabinet Members 

O&S 26 October (GK 
11/10), 
Cabinet 28/11, and 
Council 18/12 

Page 144



Appendix 1 

6 

Task Who Due date 

Draft Budget Report 
including:  
1) Update MTFP 
2) Draft 5 year detailed Base 

Revenue and Capital 
Budgets 

3) Draft 5 year Budget 
Options for Service 
Growth and Savings 
(including increases in 
income) 

4) Draft Fees and Charges 
Options 

5) Repairs and Maintenance 
Budget 

1st draft Council Plan 

 
 
CFO and Assistant 
Directors 
 
Budget options aligned to 
corporate priorities and draft 
Council Plan 
 
Cabinet Members 

 
 
Special SMT 8/11 for 
Budget Report (GK 
6/11) 9 to 12 noon 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet 28 November 
(5/11 GK) 

Fees and Charges Licensing 06 Nov (22/10 GK) 

1st Draft Budget (as above) Cabinet (if needed) 
 
All councilor Budget Briefing 
Council (with Draft Council 
Plan) 
4 weeks statutory 
consultation period 
commences 

12 December (19/11 
GK) 
3.30pm 19 December 
(19/11 GK) 
 
From 19 December 

Draft Council Plan (including 
consultation with 
stakeholders) 

O&S 11 January (24/12 GK) 

1st Draft Budget 
Draft Treasury Management 
Strategy 
Relevant Service Budget 
Report extracts including 
Fees and Charges 

O&S 
 
 
Planning Committee 
Licensing Committee 
Lake Admin Committee 

11 January (24/12 GK) 
 
 
03 January (14/12 GK) 
15 January (28/12 GK) 
25 January (10/01 GK) 

2nd Draft Budget including 
consideration of O&S and 
other consultees comments 
on the 18/12 Draft Budget 
proposals 
2nd Draft Council plan (for 
approval including 
consultation feedback) 

Cabinet if needed for the 
Budget 

23 January (31/12 GK) 

Page 145



Appendix 1 

7 

Task Who Due date 

Quarter 3 Monitoring Chief 
Accountant/FSM/Finance 
PH and Cabinet Members 

O&S 1 Feb,  
Cabinet 06/02 and 
Council & 26/02 (GK 
14/01) 

Formulation of Final Budget 
proposal  
Final Council Plan (if not 
approved in Jan) 
Final Treasury Management 
Strategy 

Cabinet 6 February (14/01 GK) 

Approval of Budget, Council 
Tax and Treasury 
Management Strategy 
Adoption of Council Plan 

Council 26 February (28/01 GK) 

Highlighted dates are to be confirmed 

Page 146



Appendix 2
Financial Model June 2018

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24 
Indicative

£000
Expenditure
Employee Costs 14,358.7 14,421.3 14,624.5 14,984.8 15,273.8 15,568.7 
Running Costs 10,127.0 9,653.0 9,796.4 9,843.0 10,022.6 10,205.5 
Capital Charges 4,518.6 3,788.8 3,592.9 3,528.8 3,502.3 3,502.3 
Customer Connect 1,299.0 2,031.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Uncommitted Growth 0.0 500.0 500.0 500.0 500.0 500.0 
Total Service Expenditure 30,303.3 30,394.1 28,513.8 28,856.6 29,298.7 29,776.4 
Income
Car Parking Income (4,285.2) (4,372.2) (4,458.3) (4,546.2) (4,635.8) (4,727.2)
Contributions from other Local Authorities and 
Public Bodies

(781.1) (771.5) (771.9) (772.2) (772.5) (772.5)

General Income (4,234.1) (4,345.2) (4,336.6) (4,400.1) (4,383.2) (4,366.4)
Government Grants (481.4) (401.9) (560.7) (560.7) (590.7) (622.3)
New Homes Bonus (889.1) (658.1) (606.9) (490.6) (597.5) (597.5)
Lake Income (1,425.5) (1,459.5) (1,492.6) (1,518.6) (1,544.2) (1,570.2)
Recycling Credits (1,383.8) (1,425.3) (1,468.1) (1,512.1) (1,557.5) (1,604.3)
Total Service Income (13,480.2) (13,433.7) (13,695.1) (13,800.5) (14,081.4) (14,260.3)

Net Service Budget 16,823.1 16,960.4 14,818.7 15,056.1 15,217.3 15,516.1 

Corporate items
Interest Receivable (175.5) (199.0) (214.7) (215.1) (223.7) (232.6)
Interest Payable 567.0 747.8 765.6 780.6 801.3 822.5 

Other Governmnet Grants (433.5) (347.9) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Income from Council Tax (net of Parish 
Precept)

(8,629.1) (8,904.3) (9,182.0) (9,462.3) (9,745.0) (10,030.2)

Parish Grant 92.0 92.0 92.0 92.0 92.0 92.0 
Retained Business Rates (3,868.5) (2,923.7) (2,756.8) (2,241.2) (1,725.6) (1,328.6)
Contribution to pool Reserve 428.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 
Programme

817.5 618.5 567.3 451.0 586.5 586.5 

Minimum Revenue Provision 739.2 773.2 1,011.6 1,050.1 1,118.9 1,192.2 

Reversal of Capital Charges (4,518.6) (3,788.8) (3,592.9) (3,528.8) (3,502.3) (3,502.3)
Collection Fund surplus/deficit (24.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Transfers to/from Reserves (157.1) 296.9 430.3 499.1 470.4 470.4 
Transfers from Reserves: Customer Connect (1,299.0) (2,031.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total Corporate Items, Council Tax and (16,462.1) (15,666.3) (12,879.6) (12,574.6) (12,127.5) (11,930.1)

Projected Deficit before Customer Connect 361.0 1,294.1 1,939.1 2,481.5 3,089.8 3,586.0 
Additional Customer Connect savings (361.0) (740.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0) (1,550.0)
Projected Deficit June 2018 0.0 554.1 389.1 931.5 1,539.8 2,036.0 

Movements in draft budgets since Council February 2018:
2018/19

£000
2019/20

£000
2020/21

£000
2021/22

£000
2022/23

£000
2023/24

£000
Net draft budget (projected deficit) before 
Customer Connect February 2018 

361.0 1,193.6 1,808.3 2,310.8 2,915.8 new year

Additional costs of Customer Connect programme 1,299.0 2,031.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -
Use of Customer Connect Reserve (1,299.0) (2,031.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 -
Additional costs of waste collection 0.0 100.5 130.8 170.7 174.0 -

Net projected deficit June 2018 before Customer 
Connect

361.0 1,294.1 1,939.1 2,481.5 3,089.8 n/a

Approved Savings from Customer Connect (361.0) (770.0) (770.0) (770.0) (770.0) n/a
Further Savings from Customer Connect 0.0 30.0 (780.0) (780.0) (780.0) n/a
Net projected deficit June 2018 0.0 554.1 389.1 931.5 1,539.8 n/a

Page 147



RISK ASSESSEMENT OF LEVEL OF RESERVES: 31/3/19 Appendix 3

Potential Risk
Risk 

Score Weighting

Financial 
Exposure 

(£000)

Balance 
Required 

(£000) Comment (Basis of Financial Exposure)

Base Budget Contingency for inflation or other 
unanticipated rise.

4 50% 268 134 Assumed at 1% of Gross Revenue Budget

Underachievement of Charges Income targets and 
spending exceeds budgets

4 50% 498 249 Estimate of 5% Customer Receipts Income forecasts for 2018/19

Underachievement of Investment Income 4 50% 130 65 1% of exposure of average balance of £13m

Insurance Excesses 5 50% 47 24 Based on 10% of insurance premia payments

Potential costs of legal challenges 2 25% 700 175 Based on estimated cost of a public enquiry or legal challenge

Savings not achieved 2 25% 2,145 536 Savings target at 31/3/23 including customer connect

Vacancy target not delivered 2 25% 543 136 Staff vacancy target topsliced from salary budgets

Pay increase 3 50% 141 70 2% allowance made in budget for pay increase from April 2018.  Impact of additional 1% pay award

Increase in pension contributions 4 50% 360 180 Allowance for 1.5% increase in pension fund contributions at next triennial revaluation

Changes to existing government funding regimes 6 75% 1,852 1,389 50% of Total of RSG/transitional grant/Rural Services grant/NNDR retained funding, based on 2018/19 settlement

Changes to existing external grants 4 50% 1,669 834 50% of total revenue grants and contributions received, excluding benefit subsidy and formula grant

Impact of introduction of Universal Credit 2 25% 200 50 Increase in homelessness, changes in administration arrangements, reduction in collection rate etc

Changes to Homelessness requirements 2 50% 200 100 Changes in requirements for homelessness

Localisation of business rates 4 50% 227 114 Assume 5% reduction in rateable values based on 2017/18 estimate

Localisation of business rates 2 25% 1,016 254 Assume 25% of appeals allowed based on 2017/18 estimate

Council tax reduction scheme 4 25% 58 14 SLDC share, based on 10% increase in claims based on 2017/18 estimate

Risk Management 9 100% 500 500 Monies set aside to meet the one-off costs of risk management

Emergency Contingency 9 100% 1,000 1,000
Emergency contingency fund - Council practice to allocate £1m for any unforeseen emergencies.  Bellwin scheme 
cuts in at 0.2% of net budget and provides for up to 85% of eligible costs.  

11,552 5,824

11,552 Total Financial Exposure

Recommended Risk Base Reserve Balances 5,824 from above

2,888 25% of Total Financial Exposure

1,500 Estimated balance 31/3/19

4,324 Estimated balance 31/3/19

5,824

0 assumes use the recommended risk based balance

TOTALS

Maximum Risk Based Reserve Balances

 - General Reserve

 - General Fund Working Balance

Projected Level of Reserves

Minimum Risk Based Reserve Balances

Projected Level of Reserves (General Fund )

Projected (Shortfall)/Excess of Current Reserve Balance over Risk Based Reserves

P
age 148



Appendix 4 

1 

Policy on Reserves and Balances 

Purpose 

A Policy for Reserve and Balances represents good financial management and should be 
reviewed annually. 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 and Local Government Act 2003 set out that a 
range of safeguards to mitigate against local authorities over-committing themselves 
financially. These include: 

 the balanced budget requirement 

 Chief Finance Officers’ duty to report robustness of estimates and adequacy of 
reserves when considering the budget requirement. 

 Requirement for local authority to make arrangements for proper administration of 
their financial affairs and that the Chief Finance Officer is that responsible person 
(Section 151 duties) 

 the requirements of the Prudential Code. 

 the External Auditor will consider whether audited bodies have established 
adequate arrangements to ensure that their financial position is soundly based. 

Types of Reserves 

Reserves can be held for three main purposes: 

 a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves 

 a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this also 
forms part of general reserves 

 a means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked reserves, to meet 
known or predicted liabilities. 

The Council also holds other reserves that arise out of the interaction of legislation and 
proper accounting practice. This reserves are not resource backed and cannot be used for 
other purposes include : 

 a Pensions Reserve ( required under IAS19). This is a specific accounting 
mechanism used to recognise the Council’s share of pension fund liabilities in its 
balance sheet. As this is a reserve which arises from an accounting standard it is not 
available to finance Council expenditure. 

Page 149



Appendix 4 

2 

 a Revaluation Reserve – this records unrealised gains in the value of fixed assets. 

 a Capital Adjustment Account – this is a specific accounting mechanism used to 
reconcile different rates at which assets are depreciated under proper accounting 
practice and financed through the capital controls system. 

For each earmarked reserve held by the Council there should be a clear protocol setting 
out: 

 the reason for/purpose of the reserve 

 how and when the reserve can be used 

 procedures for the reserve’s management and control 

 a process and timescale for review of the reserve to ensure continuing relevance and 
adequacy. 

This Reserves and Balances Policy ensures that when establishing reserves, South 
Lakeland Council complies with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code) and in particular the need to distinguish between reserves and 
provisions. 

Under the Council’s Constitution, the power to establish financial reserves is limited to full 
Council except that Cabinet can set aside minor amounts (up to £100,000 in aggregate) 
where this would assist in the efficient operation of the Council’s activities. Similarly Council 
determines the use of reserves although Cabinet can make or adjust transfers from 
reserves up to £100,000 to assist in the Council’s financial management. . 

Policy 

This summary sets out the Council’s policy on each one. It details the level and 

nature/purpose of each reserve. In all cases these are based on an assessment of needs 
and risk. 

The fundamental principle governing the use of reserves is that they should not be used to 
fund recurring expenditure. If exceptional circumstances make this a necessity, the use of 
the reserve should be clearly stated and approved as an exception to the rule 

Page 150



Appendix 4
The purpose of this table is to set out the projected balance on the Council's usable reserves over the MTPF period.

Reserve Type Balance 
31/3/2017

Balance 
31/3/2018

Balance 
31/3/2019

Balance 
31/3/2020

Balance 
31/3/2021

Balance 
31/3/2022

Balance 
31/3/2023

Summary, Purpose and Commentary

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
General Reserve General (8,309) (6,024) (4,324) (4,524) (4,724) (4,924) (5,124) The main use of this reserve in recent years 

has been to fund the one-off costs of 
flooding, staff redundancy and early 
retirements to enable organisational 
reorganisation and the discontinuation of 
direct provision of services.  Unless allocated 
for a particular purpose, revenue budget 
under-spending and windfalls are added to 
the General Reserve.  (For more details of 
the risk and an assessment of the potential 
financial exposure please see the Risk 
Assessment of Level of Reserves).
The Medium Term Financial Plan 
provisionally assumes a £200,000 annual 
contribution to the Reserve, depending on 
quantification of the potential impact of these 
factors.  Any balance on the General Fund 
working balance above £1.5m is transferred 
to this reserve as part of the closure of 
accounts.

Statutory Duties Reserve General (150) (150) (150) (150) (150) (150) (150) Part of General Reserve earmarked for 
certain purposes: use delegated to SMT & 
reported as part of Corporate Financial 
Monitoring.  Includes £50k legal costs/by-
election contingency, £40k planning legal 
costs contingency, £60k enforcement legal 
costs contingency

Flooding Costs Reserve General (200) (14) 0 0 0 0 0 Part of General Reserve earmarked for the 
costs of remediation of December 2015 
floods, use delegated to Chief Finance 
Officer by Council February 2016

P
age 151



Reserve Type Balance 
31/3/2017

Balance 
31/3/2018

Balance 
31/3/2019

Balance 
31/3/2020

Balance 
31/3/2021

Balance 
31/3/2022

Balance 
31/3/2023

Summary, Purpose and Commentary

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carry-forward Reserve General 0 (438) (10) 0 0 0 0 Part of General Reserve earmarked for 

revenue budgets carried forward from 
2017/18 to future years.

Building Control Fee Income 
Reserve

Earmarked 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on building control.

Local Land Charges Reserve Earmarked (66) (95) 0 0 0 0 0 Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on local land charges.

Hackney Carriage Licensing 
Reserve

Earmarked 0 12 12 12 12 12 12 Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on licensing.

Licensing Act Reserve Earmarked 0 (76) (76) (76) (76) (76) (76) Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on licensing.

Misc Licensing Reserve Earmarked 0 32 32 32 32 32 32 Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on licensing.

Gambling Licensing Reserve Earmarked 0 13 13 13 13 13 13 Statutory ring fenced reserve to record 
surpluses and losses on licensing. 

Community Housing Fund Earmarked (2,357) (2,309) (1,819) (1,819) (1,819) (1,819) (1,819) income received from Government for 
Community Housing Fund not spent in year.

Commuted Sums Reserve Earmarked (150) (153) (3) (3) (3) (3) (3) Income received under various s106 
agreements not spent in year

Cumbria NDR Pool Income 
Reserve

Earmarked (777) (1,302) (1,232) (1,232) (1,232) (1,232) (1,232) Income from Cumbria NNDR pool, 
earmarked for economic development

Cumbria NDR Pool volatility 
Reserve

Earmarked (166) (166) (166) (166) (166) (166) (166) Share of NNDR pool income retained by pool 
to offset potential future deficits

P
age 152



Reserve Type Balance 
31/3/2017

Balance 
31/3/2018

Balance 
31/3/2019

Balance 
31/3/2020

Balance 
31/3/2021

Balance 
31/3/2022

Balance 
31/3/2023

Summary, Purpose and Commentary

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Customer Connect Reserve General (323) (1,301) (1,981) (0) (0) (0) (0) To fund the implementation of the Customer 

Connect Project, initially using the Customer 
Connect budgets from 2016/17 revenue 
budgets not spent during 2016/17.

Debt Redemption Reserve General (455) (455) 0 0 0 0 0 Underspend on budget for interest payment 
and MRP due to changes in capital 
programme, originally set aside for future 
costs of debt repayment, proposed transfer to 
Customer Connect Reserve

Economic Development Fund General (219) (167) (167) (167) (167) (167) (167) To encourage economic development in the 
District and to ensure that unused funds in a 
particular year can be carried forward.

General Fund Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital (597) (307) (177) (207) (237) (267) (297) To fund major repairs and maintenance to 
General Fund properties that are not 
capitalisable and would be difficult to 
accommodate in the annual planned 
maintenance programme.  The Reserve: 
• acts as a backstop for emergency major 

repairs 
• accumulates funds as necessary to meet an 

abnormal year in maintenance terms, 
• is able to assist in meeting regular 

maintenance costs. 

IT Replacement Reserve Capital (102) (74) (74) (74) (74) (74) (74) To fund the replacement of hardware and 
software with a preference for the updating of 
the corporate and networking infrastructure.

Kendal Employment Dev. Fund Earmarked (14) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) Assistance to eligible developing firms in the 
Kendal area

P
age 153



Reserve Type Balance 
31/3/2017

Balance 
31/3/2018

Balance 
31/3/2019

Balance 
31/3/2020

Balance 
31/3/2021

Balance 
31/3/2022

Balance 
31/3/2023

Summary, Purpose and Commentary

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
LABGI General (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) (5) To fund non-recurring initiatives that 

contribute directly to one or more of the 
Council’s priority initiatives, with a preference 

for economic development. This fund is now 
practically fully committed and should be 
closed once the committed spend is 
achieved.

Local Arts Strategic Partnership Earmarked (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) Monies provided towards Arts Strategy and 
related activities carried forward for use in 
subsequent years.

LSVT Environmental Warranties Earmarked (341) (282) (282) (282) (282) (282) (282) To pay for environmental insurance until 2032 
relating to warranties given as part of the 
housing transfer.

Marshall Hooper Reserve Earmarked (37) (37) (37) (37) (37) (37) (37) Monies left to the Council as a bequest to be 
used for housing for the elderly in Grange

New Homes Bonus Reserve Capital (755) (1,457) (1,085) (903) (690) (482) (331) New reserve to enable forward funding of 
eligible schemes through the Council's New 
Homes Bonus protocol

NNDR Surplus Reserve Earmarked (956) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) Timing gap between recognising s31 grant 
and recognising offsetting NDR collection 
fund deficits.

Planning Delivery Grant Fund Earmarked (58) (18) 0 0 0 0 0 Monies provided by Planning Delivery Grant 
in 2009/10 carried forward for use in a 
subsequent years.  This source of grant 
funding has now been discontinued and the 
fund will be closed when the current balance 
is spent.  

Revs and Bens Replacement 
Reserve

Capital (10) (10) 0 0 0 0 0 Transferred to Customer Connect Reserve 
following replacement of Revs & Bens system 
in 2017/18

P
age 154



Reserve Type Balance 
31/3/2017

Balance 
31/3/2018

Balance 
31/3/2019

Balance 
31/3/2020

Balance 
31/3/2021

Balance 
31/3/2022

Balance 
31/3/2023

Summary, Purpose and Commentary

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue Funds for Capital Capital (531) (587) (7) (22) (122) (222) (322) Monies provided from revenue to support the 

Capital Programme & fund expenditure that 
may not be capitalisable: annual contribution 
£100k

Second Homes Income Reserve General 0 (46) (46) (46) (46) (46) (46) Initiatives to enable the provision of 
affordable housing: transfer of unspent 
balance at end of year

Social Lettings Reserve General (20) 0 0 0 0 0 0 income from the social lettings scheme set 
aside for potential losses or repair bills

Total Reserves excluding 
working balance

(16,628) (15,447) (11,616) (9,688) (9,805) (9,927) (10,106)

GF Working balance (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) (1,500) Buffer against unforeseen & emergency 
expenditure in-year, inflationary demands, 
adverse cash flow, inability to use capital 
resources. 

Total Usable Reserves (18,128) (16,947) (13,116) (11,188) (11,305) (11,427) (11,606)

P
age 155



Appendix 5 

1 

Capital Budget Strategy 

1. Introduction 

1.1. This Capital Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to meeting community and 

service needs through its capital investment programme. The Council’s priorities, 

objectives and corporate outcomes are set out in its current Council Plan which 
was approved 19 December 2017. The Plan is supported by a set of annual 
service plans. The Capital Budget Strategy describes how the deployment of 
capital resources will contribute to the achievement of these objectives. The 
Capital Budget Strategy will continue to be reviewed with regard to its relevance in 
the changing context in which local government organisations work. 

2. Current Economic Context 

2.1. The current economic climate provides significant challenges for the Council. The 
demand for investment in the regeneration and renewal of infrastructure and 
assets continues, whilst at the same time the resources available to the Council 
are constrained by proposed reductions in public service expenditure following 
successive Comprehensive Spending Reviews. These reductions impact directly 
on the Council and on the resources available to partners. 

3. Council Assets 

3.1. The Council owned property, plant and equipment, assets, investment properties 
and heritage assets with a total net book value of £73m at March 2018. Council 
assets include 43 car parks, 186 parks and open spaces, 9 cemeteries, 5 depots 
and 3 sports centres. The Council also owns a large number of commercial 
properties and agricultural land used to generate income. 

4. Overarching strategy 

4.1. The Council’s Capital Budget Strategy is to deliver a capital programme that: 

 Contributes to the Council Plan, and the Council’s vision, values, 

strategic objectives and priorities 

 Is closely aligned with the Council’s Asset Management Plan 

 Supports service-specific and other plans and strategies 

 Is affordable, financially prudent and sustainable, contributes to better 
value for money 

4.2. The Capital Budget Strategy will be delivered through: 

Page 156



Appendix 5 

2 

 Effective political and corporate leadership 

 Adequate and effective performance management arrangements 

 Clearly defined processes for building and monitoring the capital 
programme 

 Clear policies on financing capital expenditure 

 Effective risk management arrangements 

 A clear procurement protocol 

4.3. In prioritising the Capital Programme, particular emphasis will be given to 
schemes that: 

 Achieve the Council’s priorities 

 Improve performance against national and local targets 

 Improve efficiency and effectiveness in service delivery, including 
through partnership working 

 Generate or increase income streams 

 Promote effective Asset Management, including DDA and Health & 
Safety issues 

5. Links to other plans and strategies 

5.1. This Capital Budget Strategy links to, and is consistent with, the following other 
plans and strategies: 

 Council Plan 

 Service Plans & Strategies 

 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Corporate Asset Strategy 

 Car Park Strategy 

 Risk Management Strategy 

 Procurement Strategy 

 Treasury Management Strategy 

5.2. The Council’s property management contractor will be updating the Corporate 

Asset Strategy during 2018/19. 

Page 157



Appendix 5 

3 

5.3. Although it is an Infrastructure planning authority, South Lakeland, as a lower tier 
authority, has a limited role in infrastructure delivery. Most of our critical 
infrastructure is delivered by infrastructure providers such as Cumbria County 
Council as County Highways Authority or County Education Authority. The South 
Lakeland Infrastructure Delivery Plan is subject to annual review in close 
consultation with the County Council and other providers. We also assist the 
County Council in applying for Local Growth Fund and other external funding for 
infrastructure delivery.  

5.4. The majority of Government funding to support capital development is channeled 
through the Local Growth Fund, administered by Cumbria Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP). There will be major infrastructure proposals arising out of 
Environment Agency flood recovery work over the next two to three years and this 
will require close monitoring. 

5.5. The process of preparing the Council’s next Local Plan, a single Local Plan which 
will supersede the current framework of Core Strategy, Land Allocations and 
Development Management Policies has commenced. The new plan is scheduled 
to be adopted by July 2020 so that the current plan is replaced before its time 
period expires. 

6. Affordability, sustainability, prudence and value for 
money 

The Prudential Code 

6.1. The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code) was introduced by the Local Government Act 2003. It sets out 
the concepts of affordability, sustainability and prudence as they apply to capital 
expenditure. 

6.2. A key objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure that the capital investment 
plans of the local authority are affordable, prudent and sustainable. To 
demonstrate that these objectives have been met the Code sets out the prudential 
indicators that must be used, and the factors that must be taken into account. 
These are designed to support and record local decision-making in a manner that 
is publicly accountable. 

Affordability 

6.3. The fundamental objective in determining the affordability of the authority’s capital 

plans is to ensure that the total capital investment remains within sustainable 
limits. This includes considering the impact on Council Tax. The Council is 
required to take into account all its current and forecast resources, together with 
the capital expenditure plans and revenue income and expenditure forecasts for 
the coming year and the following two years. This is done on a 

Page 158



Appendix 5 

4 

rolling basis, with regard to risk analysis and risk management strategies. Any 
significant known variations beyond this time frame must also be considered. 

Prudence and Sustainability 

6.4. Prudence and sustainability year on year are addressed through the prudential 
indicators for external debt, which must be set and revised taking into account 
their affordability. 

6.5. The key indicator of prudence laid down by the Code is that net external borrowing 
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year, plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This ensures 
that, over the medium term, net borrowing will only be for capital purposes. 

6.6. It is also prudent to carry out treasury management activities in accordance with 
good practice, and the Prudential Code sets a number of indicators to address 
this. 

South Lakeland District Council and the Prudential Code 

6.7. The Council addresses the issues of affordability, prudence and sustainability in its 
capital investment plans by complying with the requirements of the Prudential 
Code. This includes the setting of the prudential indicators by Council in February 
and the monitoring of treasury management through the Corporate Quarterly 
Financial Monitoring process. 

7. Value for Money 

7.1. It is important that best value for money is obtained from capital investment. The 
Council is committed to making continuous improvements to processes and 
practices to increase value for money. Those that are embedded or being 
developed include: 

 Improvements to procurement 

 Investing to improve performance and/or generate efficiency savings (spend to 
save) 

 Working with partners to improve efficiency 

7.2. In assessing capital bids the Council first considers whether the proposed capital 
investment represents the most efficient way of delivering the desired outcomes, 
i.e. whether there are alternative approaches to resolving the problem that provide 
greater value for money. 

  

Page 159



Appendix 5 

5 

8. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

8.1. The Council is required to make provision for the principal repayment of borrowing 
through a mechanism known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

8.2. The Local Government Act 2003 require local authorities to have regard to 
statutory guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision, the latest version of which 
was published in February 2018, require the Council to make ‘prudent provision’ 

for the repayment of debt using one of a number of options. The underlying 
principle is that the repayment of debt should be aligned to the useful life of the 
asset or assets to which it relates. 

8.3. The authority is required to prepare an annual statement of their policy on making 
MRP for submission to Council. The Council’s policy statement on MRP is set out 

in the annual Treasury Strategy, which is agreed by Council during Feb/March 
each year. 

9. Financing capital expenditure 

Overview 

9.1. Decisions on capital investment are made against the background of constrained 
resources, and the Council is heavily dependent upon capital receipts and grants 
from the Government to support its capital programme. Other available funding 
sources include prudential borrowing, third party contributions, and revenue 
contributions. These are all actively pursued to support capital investment. 

Capital Receipts 

9.2. Capital receipts are derived from asset sales. These could include income to the 
Council as lessor from finance leases. 

9.3. Asset sales come from a variety of sources. Generally speaking, 100% of asset 
sales can be used to support capital expenditure. Sometimes the asset sale is 
linked directly to a capital project, for example in a relocation scheme. More often, 
asset sales relate to surplus assets that are held corporately and are not specific 
to a scheme or service. 

9.4. The Council completed the transfer of its housing stock to South Lakes Housing, a 
registered social landlord, in March 2012. Under the terms of the transfer 
agreement the Council received both an initial capital receipt and will receive 
future capital receipts from the sale of houses, other assets and from a VAT 
shelter. 

9.5. The amount of receipts from asset sales is dependent on both the type of asset 
itself and on economic and market conditions. The current economic climate has 
significantly reduced the number of sales and the amount of receipts. 

Page 160



Appendix 5 

6 

Borrowing 

9.6. The Local Government Act 2003 introduced new flexibilities into the capital 
expenditure and financing rules governing local authorities. The new rules, 
contained in the ‘Prudential Code’, allow local authorities to set their own limits 

with regard to borrowing undertaken to support capital expenditure. Additional 
borrowing may now be undertaken, provided that it is, and can be shown to be, 
prudent, affordable and sustainable.  

9.7. In order for borrowing to be prudent, affordable and sustainable, there must be an 
identifiable, long-term source of revenue funding for the associated revenue (debt 
financing) costs. Ideally this will come from revenue savings or additional income 
arising directly from the capital scheme. For example, refurbishment of a building 
may generate maintenance and/or energy savings, or the building of a car park 
could generate income through charges. The cost of borrowing therefore should 
be offset by savings within the service that uses the asset. 

Government Grants 

9.8. The conditions attached to government grants vary according to the particular 
grant. Some will fund the full cost of the scheme, others just a percentage, with the 
local authority having to fund the balance. Most, but not all, grants are time-limited. 
Government grants tend to be focussed towards the Government’s priorities. 

Third Party Contributions 

9.9. As with government grants the conditions attached to third party contributions 
vary. This category of funding is becoming of increasing importance to the Council 
in a climate of stretched local government resources. Included here are: 

 Planning obligations funding from Section 106 agreements (developer 
contributions) 

 National Lottery grants 

 Contributions from local bodies. 

 Contributions from national bodies. 

Revenue Contributions 

9.10. In the past revenue contributions have been a fairly minor source of capital 
financing for the Council due to pressures on the revenue budget. They are, 
however, sometimes used to top up small shortfalls in the funding required for a 
particular scheme. 

  

Page 161



Appendix 5 

7 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

9.11. The Council has introduced a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) a levy on new 
housing and retail development outside the National Parks. Its purpose is to assist 
with the delivery of infrastructure necessary to support the growth proposed in the 
Local Plan. 15% of the CIL receipt also goes to the Parish Council for the area in 
which the development takes place. The levy is expected to raise around £17m 
between now and 2025. Because CIL is levied when planning permission is 
granted but paid in instalments after building has started, it will be some time 
before a significant sum accumulates.  

Reserves 

9.12. The Council uses a number of reserves to fund the capital programme. There are 
two main types: 

 Reserves used to collect specific funds to be used over a number of 
years, such as the Second Homes Discount reserve, the LAGBI reserve 
or the New Homes Bonus reserve 

 Reserves can be used to smooth the timing of the application of revenue 
contributions, for example the IT Reserve and the General Fund Major 
Repair Reserve. 

9.13. The Policy on Reserves and Balances gives details of the purpose of each 
reserve. 

10. Funding strategy 

10.1. The capital funding strategy is proposed as part of the overall Capital Budget 
Strategy and is therefore also reviewed on an annual basis. 

10.2. The Council’s capital funding strategy for 2018/19 to 2023/24 is set out below: 

10.3. Funding streams are allocated in the following ways: 

10.3.1. Capital receipts are not allocated or committed prior to receipt, unless 
inextricably linked to a specific project. 

10.3.2. CIL will be allocated in accordance with the approved scheme after the 
deduction of the parish share. CIL will only be paid once received and in 
accordance with the statutory timetable. 

10.3.3. General fund capital receipts received during the year will be added to the 
unearmarked general fund capital receipts reserve and taken into account as 
a potential funding source for new schemes or variations in the relevant 
financial year or the following financial year, subject to revenue budget 
considerations e.g. debt financing budget implications. 

Page 162



Appendix 5 

8 

10.3.4. Receipts from Right to Buy will be earmarked for replacement homes. 

10.3.5. General Fund capital receipts received from the capital portion of finance 
lease income on Council owned properties under IFRS rules will be 
earmarked for capital expenditure on the Council's property assets.   

10.3.6. The only call on the general fund major repairs reserve during the year would 
be for unforeseen high priority emergency capital works that cannot be 
financed from alternative sources. Agreement will be through the normal 
channels – that is the submission of a project appraisal or variation to 
Cabinet with final approval by Council. 

10.3.7. Hypothecated funding – i.e. funding linked directly to a specific scheme or 
service area, such as grants, third part contributions, revenue contributions 
and supported borrowing – is allocated 100% to the relevant scheme or 
service. 

10.3.8. Borrowing will be used to fund capital investment if the cost of the borrowing 
is affordable. Ideally the capital investment itself will produce revenue 
savings, which will cover the cost of borrowing to invest. 

10.3.9. The IT Replacement Reserve will only be used to fund the replacement of 
hardware and software with a preference for the updating of the corporate 
and networking infrastructure. 

10.3.10. The Fund of Revenue Monies for Capital Purposes will only be used to 
provide support to the Capital Programme, to supplement the capital finance 
available to the Programme by revenue contributions and to cover ‘grey area’ 
expenditure and allow flexibility in financing decisions. 

10.3.11. Underspends on schemes may not be automatically diverted to other 
schemes. This will be considered against the demands of the programme as 
a whole, any reserve project list and funding requirements for the following 
year. 

10.3.12. The funding strategy is used to determine the allocation of funding to the 
programme at the start of the year and throughout the year. Depending on 
the timing and restrictions of the funding streams, the most appropriate 
funding will be used at the year end. Finance staff, under the direction of the 
Chief Finance Officer, will apply the available funding to the outturn 
expenditure in line with the best interests of the Council. 

11. Revenue Implications of Capital Projects 

11.1. The revenue implications of capital projects are identified through medium term 
planning and the capital appraisal process, and fed into the Council’s medium 

term revenue budget to ensure that all revenue implications are taken into 
account. 

Page 163



Appendix 5 

9 

12. Leasing (Council as Lessee) 

12.1. Leases are classified in accounting terms as either finance or operating leases. 
This distinction is important because it dictates whether the lease must be 
classified as capital (finance leases) or revenue (operating leases), and different 
accounting treatment is required for each. 

12.2. Items financed through an operating lease are coded to and financed as part of 
the Council’s revenue budget. It is the responsibility of the budget holder to ensure 

that there is sufficient capacity in the revenue budget to fund the annual operating 
lease costs. 

12.3. The Council’s preference is not to enter into finance leases unless there are 

exceptional reasons for doing so. Where an operating lease is either not available 
or not suitable, a capital purchase funded by prudential borrowing generally offers 
greater benefits than a finance lease. The introduction of IFRS from April 2010 
reduced the number of instances where operating leases can be used to finance 
expenditure, particularly in the case of short life assets such as IT hardware, 
equipment and vehicles. Where this applies it is likely that such items will be 
purchased through the capital programme and financed by prudential borrowing, 
with the revenue cost of the borrowing met from the existing service budget. 

12.4. The accounting rules for leases will change for 2019/20 and consequential 
changes will be made to the 2019/20 Capital Budget Strategy. 

13. Prioritisation process 

Prioritising projects 

13.1. All bids for inclusion in the following years programme are considered according to 
a set of objective criteria to assist with the prioritisation of schemes and the 
allocation of funds. This ensures that, in a context of limited resources, the 
community vision and strategy and the Council’s vision, values, objectives and 

priorities form the framework for decisions about investment priorities, and that 
capital allocations are made using clear impartial criteria. 

13.2. The prioritisation process is linked directly to the information given on the 
completed project appraisals, with weighting given to schemes that strongly 
support the Council’s objectives and priorities, and those that fulfil an urgent legal 
or statutory requirement. 

13.3. In summary, each bid can be rated on the extent to which the project contributes: 

 The Council’s objectives and priorities 

 Legal commitments or statutory duties, including DDA & Health & Safety 
issues 

Page 164



Appendix 5 

10 

 Equalities 

 Improvements in performance indicators 

 Efficiency savings 

 Value for money 

 The delivery of service objectives 

 Effective Asset Management 

 Extent of ring fenced or specific funding 

 Levels of financial risk involved 

 Impact on the revenue budget and income generation 

13.4. Prioritisation of the bids enables officers to put forward a recommended 
programme that is within available resources. The weighting within the scoring 
framework will be reviewed on an annual basis as part of a policy of continuous 
improvement and to take into account any relevant factors. Bids for work required 
to meet a statutory or legal obligation will be given a high priority. 

13.5. The prioritised programme is for guidance only. Members are responsible for 
agreeing the capital programme and have the discretion to include or exclude 
schemes as they deem appropriate. 

14. Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2023/24 – Project 
Appraisals 

14.1. All bids for inclusion in the capital programme are supported by a project 
appraisal, the preparation of which is the responsibility of the budget holder or 
project manager. The project manager signs the appraisal to confirm that their 
Assistant Director, Director and Portfolio Holder are aware of and support the 
scheme. 

14.2. Project appraisals have been completed for capital programme bids since 2014. 
The appraisal pro-forma has been designed to ensure that the information 
gathered is sufficient in order to make decisions based on the criteria set out 
above. Project appraisals must consider carefully the deliverability of projects to 
avoid slippage of the capital programme. 

14.3. The de-minimus level set by the authority for capital expenditure is £10,000. 
Individual schemes must therefore be £10,000 and above to be included in the 
authorities capital programme. The only exception is where the funding for the 
project is external and requires the scheme to be capital. 

Page 165



Appendix 5 

11 

15. Monitoring the capital programme 

Project management and monitoring  

15.1. Project managers are responsible for the proper and effective control and 
monitoring of their projects, including financial monitoring.  This includes ensuring 
that: 

 Only capital expenditure is charged to the capital project; 

 Proper procurement processes are followed, in accordance with the 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

 Only expenditure properly attributable to the scheme is coded to the 
scheme; 

 The scheme expenditure is contained within the agreed budget, and that 
any ‘unavoidable’ variations are dealt with appropriately; 

 Realistic expenditure profiles are determined; 

 A realistic forecast outturn for the financial year and the project as a whole 
are calculated and kept under regular review; 

 Any slippage of expenditure from current to future years is identified; 

 Any grants or third party funding is applied for and all grant conditions met 

 The source of any revenue funding is identified. 

15.2. Project managers are also responsible for carrying out project reviews following 
scheme completion. The finance team is responsible for providing support and 
advice to assist project managers in managing and monitoring their capital 
budgets. It also has a key role in consolidating and co-ordinating the monitoring 
information that is required for reporting purposes. This involves reporting to 
Senior Management Team, Cabinet and Council. 

Capital Programme Monitoring 

15.3. The capital programme position is reported to Senior Management Team, Cabinet 
and Council as part of Corporate Financial Monitoring report and covers the latest 
programme and any amendments to be notified or approved, expenditure to date, 
and the forecast outturn. It also outlines the financing position and any steps 
needed to deal with potential financing difficulties. 

15.4. At year-end, an outturn report and carry-forward requests are taken to Cabinet 
and Council. These will include an analysis of programme slippage to the following 
year, including the reasons for that slippage and how it is to be financed. 

Page 166



Appendix 5 

12 

16. Changes to the Agreed Programme 

16.1. The programme for the coming year is set and agreed by Council prior to 1st April 
(at the February Council as part of the Budget process), but it is essential to also 
have a process that then allows for changes during the year. 

16.2. Changes may be required as a result of proposed additions to the programme, 
amendments to existing schemes or deletions from the programme. For example 
tenders may come in above or below estimate; difficulties may be encountered in 
implementation, which require a change of approach; funding may need to be 
released to support another more urgent priority. 

Proposed additions to the programme 

16.3. The need to add a scheme to the programme usually arises from either access to 
additional funding, such as a grant or third party contribution, or as a response to 
an unforeseen urgent issue (often related to legal or health and safety concerns). 

16.4. In order to bid for an addition to the programme, a project appraisal must be 
completed and signed off in the usual way. The funding for the project must be 
identified at this stage. Where there is no additional funding to support the bid, 
resources must be identified from within the existing programme. The prioritisation 
of the proposed addition will need to be considered with reference to any reserve 
list of projects, as well as projects already in the programme but not yet complete. 

16.5. The request for the addition will either be incorporated into the regular Corporate 
Quarterly Financial Monitoring report to Cabinet or Council, or approved by 
Cabinet and Council. 

Amendments to existing schemes 

16.6. If the proposed amendment is one of substance, which results in a scheme 
materially different from the original project appraisal, then the original project 
must be withdrawn, and a new project appraisal completed to support the new bid. 
If, however, the substance of the scheme remains the same, then the change can 
be dealt with through the Corporate Quarterly Financial Monitoring process. 

16.7. Formal variations to budgets for existing projects must be completed and 
authorized in the following circumstances: 

 Forecast total scheme outturn is materially in excess of budget 

 Additional funding has become available to support a scheme 

 A forecast overspend is to be funded by a forecast underspend in 
another project 

 Funding is released due to a forecast underspend on a scheme 

Page 167



Appendix 5 

13 

 A scheme is to be withdrawn from the programme 

17. Consultation 

17.1. Consultation generated by the corporate planning process extends to the Capital 
Programme. 

17.2. The detailed capital programme is shown at Appendix 6. 

Page 168



Appendix 6

Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 
Revised

2018/19 
Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 
and adj

2018/19 
Revised

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Play Areas (including community funded schemes) 282.0 139.0 142.0 281.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 361.0

Children's Play Space Audit Action Plan Implimentation 0.0 60.0 0.0 60.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 60.0

Millerground Public Open Space, Access and Play Project 15.0 135.0 3.3 138.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 138.3

Grange Regeneration 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 157.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 157.3

Nobles Rest 0.0 193.4 0.0 193.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 193.4

Ferry Nab Redevelopment Phase 1 137.9 0.0 42.6 42.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.6

Waterhead Public Jetty 28.9 0.0 27.0 27.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 27.0

Public Realm - The Glebe phase I and II 450.0 0.0 50.0 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0

Kendal Town Centre Public Realm 137.8 0.0 19.5 19.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 19.5

New Road Common (approved Council 12 Oct 2017) 318.7 0.0 231.0 231.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 231.0

Kendal Leisure Centre (including changing rooms) 487.0 0.0 159.6 159.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 159.6

Wordsworth Trust contribution 0.0 42.0 0.0 42.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.0

Festival Infrastructure 64.8 0.0 64.8 64.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 64.8

Flood impact works Rothay Park 393.5 0.0 207.2 207.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 207.2

Footway Lighting 39.5 25.0 24.4 49.4 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 149.4

IT Replacements** 75.4 80.0 0.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 400.0

Customer Connect 52.9 0.0 290.0 290.0 300.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 590.0

Mobile Working 0.0 120.0 0.0 120.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 120.0

Revs and Bens system 360.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Town and Car Park signing 32.4 0.0 16.2 16.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 16.2

Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park Refurbishment 101.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

South Lakeland House carpark works 30.0 390.0 -12.5 377.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 377.5

Car park re-surfacing 130.0 0.0 29.7 29.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 29.7

Vehicle & Plant Programme (inc bins and boxes) 1,684.0 225.5 435.5 661.0 1,711.0 594.0 499.0 690.0 4,155.0

Sweeper purchase 0.0 508.0 0.0 508.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 508.0

Capital Programme 2018/19 - 2022/23

P
age 169



Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 
Revised

2018/19 
Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 
and adj

2018/19 
Revised

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Disabled Facilities Grants 717.7 661.0 82.4 743.4 661.0 661.0 661.0 603.0 3,329.4

Right to buy replacement scheme 751.0 0.0 495.0 495.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 495.0

Affordable & Empty Homes, Town Centre Properties. 654.3 260.0 99.0 359.0 260.0 260.0 260.0 260.0 1,399.0

S106 funded affordable homes purchase 0.0 146.0 0.0 146.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 146.0

Town View Fields works 159.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cross-a-Moor junction improvement 0.0 300.0 0.0 300.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 300.0

Community Housing Fund 490.0 0.0 490.0 490.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 490.0

Kendal Museum contribution 0.0 85.0 0.0 85.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.0

Coronation Hall alterations 102.2 60.0 19.8 79.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 79.8

Energy-saving building enhancements 20.2 129.0 20.2 149.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 149.2

Former Knitware Factory (Ulverston) site clearance 139.0 0.0 89.1 89.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 89.1

Kendal Town Hall stone work 300.0 0.0 3.2 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.2

Castle Dairy flood damage reinstatement 139.4 0.0 19.9 19.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 19.9

Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail 140.0 0.0 140.0 140.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 140.0

LIPS 397.9 252.8 186.3 439.1 165.8 145.3 98.8 188.0 1,037.0

Car Park surfacing 0.0 310.0 0.0 310.0 25.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 335.0

Grange Promenade Structural works 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 300.0 300.0 225.0 250.0 1,175.0

Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extention 25.0 190.0 24.3 214.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 214.3

Burton Hertiage Grant Scheme (funded from LIPS) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.0 35.0 35.0 0.0 105.0

Kendal Castle (funded from LIPS) 0.0 42.0 0.0 42.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.0

Car Parking Machines 140.0 0.0 140.0 140.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 140.0

Parkside Road, Kendal car park 13.0 151.0 9.4 160.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 160.4

Disabled Toilet improvements 0.0 50.0 0.0 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0

ERDF funded flood defence works 0.0 0.0 1,556.7 1,556.7 1,556.7 1,556.7 0.0 0.0 4,670.1

Bids subject to further assessment:

Ulverston Leisure site

Further implementation of play area audit

P
age 170



Programme Spending by Project
2017/18 
Revised

2018/19 
Original 

Approved

Re-profiling 
and adj

2018/19 
Revised

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Total 2018/19 

to 2022/23

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Accomodation review

Car park investments***

Rydal Road car park access options

Ulverston Waste Recycling site

Employment site land acquisition

Kendal Depot review 

Affordable Housing including land acquisition

Grange Lido works

Total 9,010.3 4,654.7 5,105.6 9,760.3 5,296.8 3,677.0 1,903.8 2,116.0 22,753.9

*any further proposals subject to Cabinet approval

**revised budget to reflect increase contribution to IT reserve

***subject to detailed review of car parking strategy including potential new car parks at Oxenholme and Arnside, double decking options on existing car parks, provision in Kendal, 
Braithwaite fold surfacing and electric charging points

P
age 171



Appendix 6

Capital Funding 2018/19 - 2022/23

Balance April 
2018
£000

Estimated 
Income

£000

Use in capital 
programme

£000

Potential 
Balance 

March 2023
£000

General
Usable Capital Receipts 1,744 347 -1,599 492
VAT Shelter receipt 831 1,000 -99 1,732
New homes bonus (capital)**** 1,271 1,843 -2,825 289

Earmarked or allocated
Revenue (LIPS) 185 1,427 -1,427 185
IT replacement reserve 74 400 -400 74
Major Repairs Reserve 307 650 -260 697
General Revenue contributions 587 1,428 -1,432 582
Cap grants and contributions (inc S106) 593 4,960 -5,520 33
Disabled Facilities Grants 359 3,017 -3,329 47
Community Housing Fund* 2,309 0 -490 1,819
Right to Buy receipt** 3,788 3,500 -495 6,793
Borrowing
Funding from borrowing***. 0 4,877 -4,877 0
Total 12,048 23,449 -22,754 12,743

*Ring fenced for Community Housing Schemes, £2.36m less £235k funding revenue budgets
**Ring fenced to support replacement of affordable housing.
***'Prudential Borrowing'; this may not result in taking on new loans but requires revenue charge to cover the cost over the assets' life

P
age 172



Appendix 7 

1 

Medium Term Financial Plan Risks and Opportunities Log 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
1. Revenue budget and Capital 

Programme may not be 
integrated and aligned with 
Council Plan. 

Resources not directed to 
achieving corporate 
outcomes, leading to 
inappropriate spending. 

Low Marginal Both the revenue budget and the 
Capital Programme are now 
embedded in the corporate 
planning cycle.  All revenue 
budgets and capital programme 
schemes are linked to Council plan 
priorities 

2. The programme of budget 
reductions does not deliver the 
required level of savings to 
correct the forecast inherent 
budget deficit. 

Council will be forced to 
cut services and/or make 
knee-jerk and potentially 
irrational spending 
reductions. 

Low Critical Universal acceptance of the 
problem by heightened awareness.  
Clear direction and identification of 
measures by Members and 
Officers.  Strict project 
management to ensure that 
proposals are implemented. 

3. The Customer Connect 
Programme does not deliver 
the organisational changes and 
efficiency savings included in 
budget forecasts. 

Council will be forced to 
cut services and/or make 
knee-jerk and potentially 
irrational spending 
reductions. 

Medium Critical Clear direction and identification of 
measures by Members and 
Officers.  Strict project 
management to ensure that 
proposals are implemented. 

P
age 173



Appendix 7 

2 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
4. Result of Brexit may potentially 

change estimated levels of 
growth, inflation, interest etc. 

The Council may have to 
amend the capital and 
revenue spending plans to 
react to changes in 
funding and potential 
increased levels of 
expenditure 

High Serious Monitor impact of decision 

5. Resources cannot be identified 
to fund new service 
development. 

Corporate outcomes may 
not be delivered. 

Low Marginal Accurate assessments of spending 
needs to be built into the budget 
forecast.  Project management of 
reduction programme. 

6. Further loss of income from 
investments as interest rates 
reduce. 

Revenue budget unable to 
cope with reduced income 

Low Marginal Close monitoring of returns, 
already minimal levels of projected 
interest receipts. 

7.  Provisions for pay, price 
inflation are inadequate e.g. 
fuel 

 Income falls below targets 

 Government grant is 
withdrawn suddenly 

In-year budgetary 
pressure and potential 
overspending, 
jeopardising service 
delivery. 

Low Marginal Close monitoring and short-term 
use of revenue contingency 
provision and General Reserve 
followed by review for following 
year. 

8. Government  devolution 
approach diverts funding to 
other areas 

Reduction in funding for 
other services 

Medium Marginal Monitor proposals for extension of 
devolution 

9. The resilience of the budget is 
not re-enforced by the 
strengthening of reserves and 
balances. 

Budget may not be able to 
cope with unexpected 
events and spending plans 
may have to be curtailed. 

Low Marginal Close adherence to the Plan’s 
proposals for the maintenance of 
reserves and balances. 

P
age 174



Appendix 7 

3 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
10. Government introduction of  

more stringent capping system 
through the specification of 
levels above which a 
referendum will be triggered 

Revenue budget unable to 
cope with basic 
inflationary increases, 
further pressure on 
resources and service 
delivery. 

Low Marginal Maintenance of General Reserve 
as a buffer against unexpected 
restriction on council tax increases.  
The Plan uses realistic 
assumptions for forward planning.   

11. Government proposals for 
localisation of business rates, 
including baseline reset 
increase uncertainty of major 
income stream. 

Income streams will be 
insufficient to fund service 
delivery. 

High Critical Monitor changes in rateable values 
& proposals for new development / 
closures/ other changes.  Monitor 
Government proposals for changes 
in NNDR legislation.  Maintenance 
of General Reserve as a buffer 
against unexpected changes in 
funding. 

11a. 
 

Government proposals for 
additional reliefs for business 
rates will not be fully funded 

As above As above As above As above 

12. Council is reluctant to take the 
required challenging decisions 
in a number of service areas 
e.g. fees & charges or grants 
payable 

Income streams may not 
be optimised leading to 
reduced resources 
available for spending on 
priority services or 
projected savings may not 
be generated 

Low Serious Financial decisions in non-priority 
areas should be made on 
commercial principles backed by 
sound business cases. 

P
age 175



Appendix 7 

4 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
13. Budgetary control procedures 

are not understood and 
followed. 

Variances from budgets 
are not identified and 
acted upon, leading to 
inappropriate/unauthorised 
spending. 

Low Marginal Ongoing review of procedures to 
ensure that budget monitoring 
information is appropriate and 
meaningful.  Greater emphasis on 
trend analysis and the use of 
customer data.  Closer liaison 
between Finance staff and budget 
holders.   

14. Reduction in economic 
development funding if 
Cumbria LEP is unable to 
attract significant funding. 

Inability to improve 
employment prospects 
within the district 

Low Serious If LEP is unable to invest in 
economic development there will 
be increased pressure on the 
Council’s capital programme to 
invest significant funds. 

P
age 176



Appendix 7 

5 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
15. Second Homes agreement 

expires with no replacement 
agreement 

Significant reduction in 
income for all aspects of 
housing related services 
including enabling the 
delivery of affordable 
housing, work to reduce 
the number of empty 
homes, discretionary 
housing benefits and 
housing options and 
homelessness work. This 
could have a significant 
impact on people in 
housing stress and people 
in need of affordable 
housing. 

High  Critical The Second Homes income 
agreement with Cumbria County 
Council expires in March 2019: 
income from the agreement 
support affordable housing 
expenditure in the general fund 
revenue budget. 

16. The Council is unable to meet 
future demand for services 

Service falls below all 
acceptable standards. 

Medium Critical Close monitoring of the changing 
needs and levels of demand and 
review of resource allocation. 

P
age 177



Appendix 7 

6 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
17. Pension funding  Budget may not be able to 

cope with additional costs 
and spending plans may 
have to be curtailed. 

Low 
 

Marginal Movement to alternative method of 
contribution based on set 
percentage for current service 
accrual and fixed contribution for 
past service costs should reduce 
inherent problem of declining staff 
base for contributions. Government 
reform of pension scheme should 
alleviate impact of declining 
investment returns.   

18. Costs of asset maintenance, as 
identified in the Corporate 
Asset Strategy, exceed 
resources available. 

Budgetary pressures force 
cuts in standards of 
maintenance.   

Medium Critical A quinquennial review of 
maintenance requirements is 
prepared.  The General Fund 
Planned Maintenance fund exists 
to meet abnormal spending needs. 

19. Future demographic and other 
changes demand additional 
expenditure 

Budget inadequate for 
additional spending 
demands/potential loss of 
income due to declining 
population 

Medium Marginal Monitor impact of demographic 
changes 

20. Potential creation of Internal 
Drainage Board 

Unavoidable Levy payable 
to Internal Drainage 
Board; under capping 
rules, levies would count 
against the Council’s 
Council Tax capping limit. 

Low Marginal Monitor proposals, review 
treatment as special expense.  
Under new proposals for 
calculating council tax increases a 
new levy would count towards 
triggering a referendum. 

P
age 178



Appendix 7 

7 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
21. Potential loss of surplus-

generating assets through the 
proposed Community right to 
bid and/or failure of assets 
transferred 

Budget may not be able to 
cope with loss of 
income/sudden increase in 
budgets required for 
remedial costs 

Low Marginal Review all requests against the 
Asset Transfer Policy 

22. Higher that estimated increase 
in costs due to international 
political uncertainty e.g. fuel 

Budget may not be able to 
cope with additional costs 
and spending plans may 
have to be curtailed. 

Low Marginal Frequent budget monitoring 

23. Reduced ability to attract and 
retain suitably qualified staff 
due to Government 
announcements on pay 
restraint, pay progression, 
Local Government pension 
reform and increased NI 
contributions for national 
Single Tier pensions from April 
2016. 

Inability to deliver services 
to current levels or 
additional costs of 
temporary staff 

Low Marginal Monitor recruitment activity 

24. Welfare reform: additional 
costs of implementation of 
Universal Credit due to need to 
support digital by default 
application process and 
payment to claimants rather 
than landlords. 

Potential increase in 
support costs and 
potential increase in 
homelessness cases due 
to rent arrears. 
Loss of administration 
grant towards continuing 
costs 

High Marginal Monitor proposals and respond to 
consultation 

P
age 179



Appendix 7 

8 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
25. Procurement projects: 

projected savings not 
generated 

Unable to deliver 
estimated savings, inability 
to balance budget 

Medium Marginal Review all savings proposals for 
deliverability, ensure specification 
of proposed contract is realistic. 

26. Procurement projects: 
challenge to process 

Potential legal costs and 
additional costs of service 
delivery until challenge 
resolved 

Low Marginal All procurement exercises to follow 
Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules, which are updated for 
changes in legislation. 
Additional legal advice is procured 
for major or unusual procurement 
projects 

27. Closure of major employer Reduction in income from 
business rates but 
increase in demand for 
affordable housing and 
council tax reduction 
scheme. 

Medium Marginal Monitoring of significant employers 

28. 
 

Legal challenge, particularly of 
charging regimes 

Potential need to refund 
income received and 
contribute to legal costs 

Low Marginal Potential claims for significant 
refunds of charges e.g. land 
charges 

29. 
 

Increased tax avoidance, 
particularly of business rates 

Reductions in income from 
business rates 

Medium Marginal Monitor claims for reliefs, 
particularly empty properties 

P
age 180



Appendix 7 

9 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
30. Further changes to New 

Homes Bonus e.g. increase in 
threshold 

Reduction in income from 
government  

High Marginal Currently income from New Homes 
Bonus is not included as a 
recurring item in the Council’s base 
budget due to uncertainty about 
future income streams.  Any 
reduction would reduce the funding 
available to local projects and may 
require funding from other Council 
income streams. 

31. Changes in shopping habits 
and other behavioural changes 
reduces income from Council 
operations 

Reduction in income from 
markets, car parking, 
public halls etc 

Medium Serious Will be incremental impact initially: 
monitor income and usage as part 
of corporate monitoring process 
and budgeting process 

32. Increased applications for rate 
reliefs and/or appeals 

Reduction in income from 
business rates 

Medium Critical Monitor applications for relief and 
appeals 

33. Community Housing Fund is 
not recurring 

Reduction in income from 
government for housing 

High Marginal Currently income from Community 
Housing Fund is not included as a 
recurring item in the Council’s 
budgets due to uncertainty about 
how and when monies will be 
awarded. 

34.  Cumbria Business Rate pool 
income lower than expected 

Reduction in income from 
pool potentially below 
single-authority safety-net 

Low Serious Regular monitoring of business 
rate income and appeals through 
Cumbria pool, particularly relating 
to Sellafield due to abnormally 
large rateable value. 

P
age 181



Appendix 7 

10 

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to control this risk 
35. Cumbria Business Rate Pool 

expanded to pilot 
Reduction in income, 
potential impact will be 
higher than existing pool 
as Rural Services Delivery 
Grant would be included in 
arrangements. 

Low Critical If Cumbria were to bid for pilot and 
were to be accepted then the 
arrangements for regular 
monitoring of business rate income 
and appeals through Cumbria 
pooling arrangements would 
become critical, particularly relating 
to Sellafield due to abnormally 
large rateable value. 
Impact beyond April 2020 is 
impossible to predict due to 
uncertainties around Government 
proposals for business rates. 

 

  

P
age 182



Appendix 7 

11 

Risk Prioritisation Matrix       
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

A 
High 

 24,30 4 
11 & 

11a, 15 

B 
Medium 

 
8, 19, 20, 

25, 27, 29, 
33 

31 
3, 16, 
18, 32 

C 
Low 

 

1, 5, 6, 7, 
9, 10, 13, 

17, 20, 21, 
22, 23, 26, 

28 

12, 14, 
34 

2, 35 

D 
Very Low 

    

  
4 

Negligible 

3 
Marginal 

2 
Serious 

1 
Critical 

  Impact 
  

Colour key:  

 Low priority risks which require annual review 

 Priority risks which require mitigating controls and quarterly review  

Ref Vulnerability / Trigger

1 Revenue budget and Capital Programme may not aligned with Council Plan.

2 The programme of budget reductions does not deliver the required level of savings

3
The Customer Connect Programme does not deliver the organisational changes and efficiency savings 
included in budget forecasts.

4 Result of Brexit may potentially change estimated levels of growth, inflation, interest etc.

5 Resources cannot be identified to fund new service development.

6 Further loss of income from investments as interest rates reduce.

7          Provisions for pay, price inflation are inadequate e.g. fuel

         Income falls below targets

       Government grant is withdrawn suddenly

8 Government  devolution approach diverts funding to other areas

9 The resilience of the budget is not re-enforced by the strengthening of reserves and balances.

10 Government introduction of  more stringent capping system 

11
Government proposals for localisation of business rates, including baseline reset increase uncertainty of 
major income stream.

11a. Government proposals for additional reliefs for business rates will not be fully funded

12 Council is reluctant to take the required challenging decisions in a number of service areas

13 Budgetary control procedures are not understood and followed.

14 Reduction in economic development funding if Cumbria LEP is unable to attract significant funding.

15 Second Homes agreement expires with no replacement agreement

16 The Council is unable to meet future demand for services

17 Pension funding 

18 Costs of asset maintenance, as identified in the Corporate Asset Strategy, exceed resources available.

19 Future demographic and other changes demand additional expenditure

20 Potential creation of Internal Drainage Board

21
Potential loss of surplus-generating assets through the proposed Community right to bid and/or failure of 
assets transferred

22 Higher that estimated increase in costs due to international political uncertainty e.g. fuel

23 Reduced ability to attract and retain suitably qualified staff 

24 Welfare reform: additional costs of implementation of Universal Credit 

25 Procurement projects: projected savings not generated

26 Procurement projects: challenge to process

27 Closure of major employer

28 Legal challenge, particularly of charging regimes

29 Increased tax avoidance, particularly of business rates

30 Further changes to New Homes Bonus e.g. increase in threshold

31 Changes in shopping habits and other behavioural changes reduces income from Council operations

32 Increased applications for rate reliefs and/or appeals

33 Community Housing Fund is not recurring

34 Cumbria Business Rate pool income lower than expected

35 Cumbria Business Rate Pool expanded to pilot

P
age 183



Appendix 7 

12 

  

Opportunities 

Ref Opportunity/Trigger Consequence Likelihood Impact Actions to achieve this 
opportunity 

A. Regional Devolution Removal of government restrictions 
and barriers between organisations 
enabling more localised decision 
making, for example variation in 
Council Tax discounts and premiums 

Medium Significant Discussions with other public 
sector organisations and HM 
Treasury 

B. Significant increase 
in net dwellings 
increases New 
Homes bonus.   

Additional funding to support either 
expansion of existing services, 
provision of new services or prevents 
reduction in existing services 

High Marginal Maximise addition of properties 
(& minimise removal of 
properties) on valuation list by 
end of September annually; 
maximise increase in number of 
affordable homes through 
planning requirements or 
provision of support, financial or 
otherwise. 

Although may be significant 
increase in income, the Council 
has commitment for use on 
affordable housing and locally 
important projects. 

P
age 184



Appendix 7 

13 

C. Localisation of 
business rates 

Potentially could provide funding to 
support either expansion of existing 
services, provision of new services or 
prevent reduction in existing services 

High Marginal The Government scheme of 
tariffs limits the potential for 
significant gains from increased 
business rates.  Monitor 
planning applications, Local 
Plan proposals etc. 

D. Business rate pilot Potentially could increase proportion of 
business rate income retained locally, 
either by Council or by Cumbria County 
Council 

Medium Serious Cumbria Pilot bid was 
unsuccessful for 2018/19: it is 
expected new bids will be 
invited for 2019/20. 
Impact beyond April 2020 is 
impossible to predict due to 
uncertainties around 
Government proposals for 
business rates. 

E. Shared services Potentially could provide additional 
funding to support either the existing 
level of service or enhanced service 
levels 

High Marginal Review existing services, work 
with other public services in the 
area to review service provision 
and potential sharing of 
services: depends on finding a 
partner. 

F. New advances in 
technologies 

Potentially could reduce staffing 
requirements or existing non-staffing 
costs; could permit new or enhanced 
services 

Low Marginal Monitor developments in 
technology 

P
age 185



Appendix 7 

14 

G. Community Groups 
wishing to take over 
services 

Potential transfer of costs to alternative 
provider who may be able to provide 
existing services at lower cost or 
enhanced services at existing cost 

Low Significant Monitor requests, including 
those under the Community 
Right to Challenge.  Currently 
there appears little appetite or 
capacity for further transfers. 

H. Opportunities for 
generating additional 
income for services 
– relaxation of 
national controls e.g. 
planning fees 

Potential increase in income High Marginal Monitor proposals, respond to 
consultation 

I. Significant increase 
in economic 
development funding 
if Cumbria LEP is 
able to attract 
significant funding 
through bidding for 
Regional Growth 
Fund or Single Local 
Growth Fund 
monies. 

Ability to improve employment 
prospects within the district 

Medium Significant Funding is allocated directly to 
schemes so the Council is not 
involved as accountable body 
but funding would reduce 
pressure on the Council’s 
capital programme to support 
economic development 
schemes. 

J. Cost of debt 
repayment lower 
than expected due to 
higher long-term 
interest rates and 
therefore PWLB 
premiums reducing 

Need to commit less capital receipts to 
repayment of debt in order to deliver 
interest payment reductions 

High Marginal Monitor interest rates and repay 
debt when premiums are 
minimised. 
 

P
age 186



Appendix 7 

15 

K. Increased income 
from investments as 
interest rates 
improve. 

Additional revenue income offsets need 
to find savings to balance budget 
deficit. 

Low Marginal Close monitoring of returns, 
minimal levels of projected 
interest receipts in MTFP 
financial model. 

L. Identification and 
delivery of savings 
enable funding of 
programme of 
growth and service 
development 

Additional revenue savings beyond 
those needed to offset budget deficit 

Low Marginal Close monitoring of 
deliverability of proposed 
savings 

M. Corporate assets 
generate new 
income streams, 
either revenue or 
capital 

Additional income to offset budget 
deficit or to supplement capital 
programme. 

High Marginal Review each asset for 
alternative use or sale in 
accordance with the Corporate 
Asset Strategy 

N. Result of Brexit may 
potentially change 
estimated levels of 
growth, inflation, 
interest etc. 

The Council may have opportunity to 
amend the capital and revenue 
spending plans to react to changes in 
funding and potential lower levels of 
expenditure 

High Serious Monitor impact of decision 

 

P
age 187



Appendix 8 

1 

Glossary 

Baseline Funding Level 

The Government’s assessment of the Council’s share of business rates. For 2013/14 this 
was based on actual NNDR collected in 2009/10 and 2010/11. From 2014/15 this is 
increased by inflation adjusted for revaluations. 

Best Value 

A general duty for local authorities to demonstrate that they deliver high quality services that 
provide overall value including economic, environmental and social value. 

Budget 

A statement defining the Council’s policies over a specified period of time in terms of 
finance. Budgets usually include statements about the use of other resources (e.g., 
numbers of staff) and provide some information on performance measures. 

Budget Requirement 

The estimated revenue expenditure on General Fund services that needs to be financed 
from the Council Tax, Business Rates and Formula Grant after deducting income from fees 
and charges, certain specific grants and any funding from reserves. 

Business rates 

Income collected from non-domestic ratepayers, formally known as Non-Domestic Rates 
(see below). 

Capital Expenditure 

Spending that will provide benefit over a period of years. This includes spending on the 
acquisition, construction or improvements of assets (e.g. land, building, vehicles, and 
equipment) either directly by the Council or indirectly by grants or loans to others. Capital 
expenditure is defined by legislation: items falling outside of the definition must be charged 
to a revenue account. 

Capital Programme 

A schedule of the Council’s capital expenditure plans for a period of several years together 
with the funds that will pay for that spending. 

Page 188



Appendix 8 

2 

Capital Receipts 

The proceeds from the sale of land or other assets. Capital receipts can be used to finance 
new capital expenditure within rules set down by the Government, but they cannot be used 
to finance revenue expenditure. 

Until April 2004, the Government set proportions of receipts that were usable for capital 
expenditure or reserved (set-aside) for debt redemption. 

Since April 2004 receipts can be re-invested in new capital expenditure, subject to 
affordability. 

Capping 

A system of controlling the spending of local authorities whereby Central Government limits 
a local authority’s budget requirement either because it is deemed excessive or is deemed 
to show an excessive increase over the previous year. Direct capping by Ministers was 
replaced for the 2012/13 Council Tax setting process by local referendums if Council Tax 
increased by more than the amount specified by Ministers. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Payment from developers for new construction: shared with parishes and must be used for 
agreed infrastructure projects. 

Contingency 

Money set-aside in the budget to meet the cost of unforeseen items of expenditure, or 
shortfalls in income and to provide for inflation that exceeds that provided in service 
budgets. 

Council Plan 

A document that sets out the Council’s policies, priorities, objectives and targets for a period 
of several years. The Plan is reviewed annually. 

Council Tax 

The main source of local taxation to local authorities, Council Tax is levied on households 
within the South Lakeland area by the District Council and the proceeds are paid to 
Cumbria County Council, Cumbria Police Authority, Parish Councils and its own General 
Fund. 

Page 189



Appendix 8 

3 

Damping 

The damping mechanism ensures that each authority received a minimum cash increase, 
or maximum decrease, in formula grant each year: for losing councils like South Lakeland, 
in the past grant was maintained at this ‘floor’ level via redistribution from gaining 
authorities. Under the current arrangements the level of damping has been frozen until 
2020. 

Debt Charges 

A term for the interest paid on loans raised and repayments of principal. Also known as 
capital financing costs or loan charges. 

Direct Revenue Financing 

See Revenue Contributions to Capital. 

Estimates 

The amounts which are expected to be spent, or received as income, during an accounting 
period. The term is also used to describe detailed budgets, which are either being prepared 
for the following year, or have been approved for the current year. 

External Audit 

The independent examination of the activities and accounts of local authorities to ensure 
the accounts have been prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and proper 
practices and to ensure the authority has made proper arrangements to secure economy,  
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Since October 2012 the Council’s 

external auditors are Grant Thornton under a contract monitored by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd. They are required to follow the Audit Code of Practice set by the National 
Audit Office. 

Fees and Charges 

Income raised by charging users of services for the facilities. For example, local authorities 
usually make charges for the use of leisure facilities, car parks, planning, building 
regulations, collection of trade refuse etc. 

Financial Procedure Rules 

A written code of procedures approved by the Council as part of its Constitution, intended to 
provide a framework for proper financial management. These usually set out rules on 
accounting, audit, administrative procedures and budgeting systems. 

Page 190



Appendix 8 

4 

Fund of Revenue Monies for Capital Purposes 

A reserve set up by the Council by contributions from the General Fund revenue account to 
provide additional funds to supplement its capital programme and to meet one-off spending 
associated with capital schemes that fall outside the definition of capital expenditure in 
legislation. 

General Fund 

The main revenue account of the District Council. Day-to-day spending on services is met 
from the fund. Spending on the provision of Council housing, however, must be charged to 
a separate Housing Revenue Account if the Council increases its housing stock above a 
certain level of properties. 

Gross Expenditure 

The total cost of providing the Council’s services before taking into account income from 
Government grants and fees and charges for services. 

Growth 

Any increase in spending from one year to another which enables the Authority to pay for 
more services (staff, goods, etc) rather than to meet higher costs. 

Growth items are also referred to as investment or service development items. Proposals 
for growth are subject to a competitive bidding evaluation process to assess their 
contribution to corporate outcomes or statutory/health and safety requirements before being 
considered for inclusion in the revenue budget. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Local authorities are required to maintain a separate account – the housing revenue 
account – which sets out the expenditure and income arising from the provision of Council 
housing. 

The costs of all other services are charged to the General Fund. The Council closed its 
HRA on 30 March 2013 following the transfer of its housing stock to South Lakes Housing, 
a registered social landlord. 

Interest and Investment Income 

Surplus cash funds held by the Council (reserves, balances, set-aside capital receipts) are 
invested in order to earn interest that is credited to its revenue accounts. 

Page 191



Appendix 8 

5 

Internal Audit 

An independent appraisal function established by the management of an organisation for 
the review of the internal control system as a service to the organisation. It objectively 
examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

Levy (business rates) 

Payable to the Government: 50% of income retained by the district council over the 
baseline funding level. There will be changes to the levy as part of the Government’s 
proposed move to 75%, then 100%, rate retention. 

Local Authorities Business Growth Incentive (LABGI) 
Scheme 

The Council has a LABGI reserve which earmarked LABGI grant received for economic 
development activities. 

Net Expenditure 

Gross expenditure less specific services income, but before deduction of revenue support 
grant. 

Non-Domestic Rates 

Income collected from business ratepayers: calculated as a rateable value (set by the 
Valuation Office Agency, reviewed on a change in circumstances or as part of an annual 
revaluation: the last revaluation was in 2017) and a multiplier (set by Government, usually 
increased by inflation but capped at a 2% increase from April 2014). Collected by the district 
council the income is currently shared with central government (50%), county council (10%) 
and retained by the district council (40%). Tariffs and top-ups are used to equalise income 
to need as assessed under the old formula grant settlement but it is intended the formula 
will not updated from the 2013/14 local government settlement until reset in 2020. Levy of 
50% is payable on income above baseline: safety net payments are available if income falls 
below 92.5% of baseline. 

Outturn 

Actual income and expenditure in a financial year. 

Pooling 

A number of councils can form a business rate pool: the baseline funding levels are pooled. 

Page 192



Appendix 8 

6 

In practice this reduces levy to be paid but also reduces the ability to claim safety net if 
income falls. A pool has to be approved by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government annually according to a pre-set timetable. 

Provisions and Reserves/Funds 

Amounts set aside in one year to cover expenditure in the future. Provisions are for 
liabilities or losses which are likely or certain to be incurred, but the amounts or the dates on 
which they will arise are uncertain. Reserves are amounts set aside which do not fall within 
the definition of provisions and include general reserves (or ‘balances’) which every 
authority must maintain as a matter of prudence. 

Procurement 

Procurement is the process of acquiring goods, works and services, covering both 
acquisition from third parties and from in-house providers. The process spans the whole 
cycle from identification of needs through to the end of a services contract or the end of the 
useful life of an asset. Procurement involves obtaining best value for money by choosing 
the option that offers the optimum combination of whole life costs and benefits to meet the 
customer’s requirement. 

Prudential Regime/Prudential Code 

Until 31 March 2004, local authorities’ capital spending was controlled by Central 
Government, largely by limiting their borrowing. In April 2004 the Government introduced a 
new prudential system for capital finance. As well as using capital receipts and revenue 
monies to finance capital expenditure, Councils can now borrow up to limits set by 
themselves so long as their decisions can be shown to be affordable and prudent. The 
system is governed by a statutory code which local authorities are obliged to follow. 

Reserves 

See Provisions and Reserves 

Revenue Contributions to Capital 

Resources provided from an authority’s revenue budget to finance expenditure on capital 
projects, frequently as a ‘top-up’ to other capital resources. Also known as Direct Revenue 
Financing (DRF). 

Revenue Expenditure/Revenue Account 

Running costs, including employees, premises, supplies, services and debt charges. These 
are recorded in revenue accounts together with income from Government grants, fees and 
charges. 

Page 193



Appendix 8 

7 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 

A grant paid by Central Government to aid local authority services in general, as opposed to 
specific grants, which may only be used for a specific purpose. 

Grant is distributed to Councils based on the Government’s assessment of their spending 
needs. This is determined by a set of formulae that reflect factors such as population, 
geography, deprivation and economic characteristics. 

Right to Buy (RTB) 

A Government scheme whereby tenants of Council houses are offered incentives to buy 
their homes. The sale proceeds represent capital receipts for the Council. Following the 
housing transfer some tenants still have a preserved right to buy: as part of the transfer 
agreement the Council shares the proceeds of sales from March 2012. 

Spending Power 

Term introduced by the local government finance settlement in December 2010 to take into 
account other sources of fund when comparing government grant allocation between 
authorities. Spending power is the total of Council Tax, formula grant, specific grants & NHS 
spending to support social care & benefit health. 

Tariff 

Payments to the Government due under localisation of business rates: the difference 
between the income expected to an authority and the authority’s baseline funding level, set 
as part of the local government finance settlement. 

Top-ups 

Payments from the Government under localisation of business rates if the income expected 
to an authority is less than the authority’s baseline funding level, the opposite of a tariff. 

Treasury Management 

Management of the Council’s cash flow, borrowing and investments, governed by agreed 
policies and annual statements. 

Value for Money (VFM) 

A much-used term that describes a service or product that demonstrates a good balance 
between its cost, quality and usefulness to the customer. A VFM audit takes into account 
the economy, efficiency and effectiveness (known as the ‘three Es’) of a local authority 

service, function or activity. The current vfm assessment considers: “In all significant 

Page 194



Appendix 8 

8 

respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.” 

Zero Based Budgeting 

An approach to building budgets up from scratch which is essential when creating a new 
budget and useful when reviewing budgets or calculating estimates for periodic and ad hoc 
income and expenditure. Under this approach, estimates are constructed on the basis of 
the individual activities the authority plans to enter into and the particular revenues it 
expects to generate. 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 196



South Lakeland District Council
Council

Tuesday, 24 July 2018
Community Governance Review

Portfolio: Deputy Leader of the Council

Report from: Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer)

Report Author: Paul Mountford – Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer

Wards: (All Wards);

Forward Plan: Not applicable

1.0 Expected Outcome
1.1 That the Council can undertake a Community Governance Review (CGR) in the 

timescales set out in Appendix 1.

2.0 Recommendation
2.1 It is recommended that the Council:-

(1) agrees to conduct a Community Governance Review in accordance with 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, for 
the whole of the South Lakeland District;

(2) agrees to the proposed Timetable and Terms of Reference of the 
Community Governance Review as set out in Appendix 1;

(3) authorises the Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) to 
take all necessary steps in relation to the Review keeping members up 
to date with progress.

3.0 Background and Proposals
3.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 2007 Act (“the 2007 Act”) 

transferred full responsibility for parish reviews, now called Community Governance 
Reviews, to principal councils in England. 

3.2 A review of parishes in South Lakeland is due and following implementation of the 
district ward boundary changes it is an appropriate time to engage with the parish 
councils and communities within the District to conduct a full review of parishes and 
their electoral arrangements to ensure that the local government provided is effective 
and convenient, reflecting the interests and identifies of the communities involved.

3.3 The Council is under a duty to carry out a Community Governance Review if it 
receives a valid community governance petition for the whole or part of the council’s 
area.  However, the duty to conduct a review does not apply if the Council:

a) has concluded a Community Governance Review within the last two years 
which in its opinion covered the whole or a significant part of the area of the 
petition or 

Page 197

Item No.10



b) it is current conducting a review of the whole, or a significant part of the 
area to which the petition relates.

3.4 The Council last undertook a review during 2013. It received representations from 
some Parishes in 2014 to consider a further community governance review but at 
that time it had received notification from the Local Government Boundary 
Commission (“the Boundary Commission”) for England (LGBCE) that it was to 
undertake a further electoral review. Advice at that time was not to proceed with a 
Community Governance Review at the same time as an electoral review. The 
outcome of the review of the National Park boundaries was also awaited and 
therefore any further review was considered premature. In September 2014 Council 
resolved that “the Council does not undertake a further Community Governance 
Review at this time but that officers look at a timetable for a review to commence by 
March 2017”.

3.5 In March 2017, Council authorised the Corporate Director (Monitoring Officer) to 
undertake a CGR at an appropriate time following the 2018 District Elections. This 
report brings forward the Terms of Reference for the Review.

4.0 Consultation
4.1 The Review would be undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of the 2007 Act and 

the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (March 2010) provided by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England. The proposed timetable is included within the Terms of Reference attached 
as Appendix 1.

4.2 The Council must as part of the Review consult with local people and take into 
account any representations made in connection with the Review. The Review must 
ensure that the proposed community governance reflects the interests and identities 
of the community. It must also make certain that the arrangements are effective and 
convenient for the electors of that community.

4.3 The Review will also have regard to the localism and neighbourhood planning 
agenda and a corporate approach will be adopted involving the relevant services 
across the Council.

5.0 Alternative Options
5.1 The Guidance on Community Governance Reviews, published jointly by the 

Government and the Electoral Commission, indicates that where a review has been 
conducted within the last two years, the principal council still has the power to 
undertake another review if it so wishes. The duty for the Council to undertake a 
community governance review in response to the receipt of a petition, however, does 
not apply if the council has conducted a review within the last two years.

5.2 The 2007 Act provides for a principal council to conduct a Community Governance 
Review at any time. It is considered good practice for principal authorities to consider 
conducting a review every 10-15 years.

6.0 Links to Council Priorities
6.1 Our Place - The Council will put South Lakeland at the heart of decision making.  The 

Council will help towns and villages thrive commercially whilst retaining their 
distinctive character. The Council is committed to furthering the localism agenda and 
empowering local communities to develop.

Page 198



7.0 Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement

7.1 Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, local 
authorities have responsibility for undertaking community governance reviews. The 
process is prescribed and involves officer time and other associated costs, such as 
postage and printing. These costs will be met from within existing budgets.

Human Resources
7.2 There will be human resource implications arising from a review which will involve 

Officers from across the council.

Legal
7.3.1 Section 82 of the 2007 Act empowers the District Council to undertake a Community 

Governance Review of the whole or part of its area, for the purpose of making 
recommendations with regard to the constitution of new parishes, the alteration or 
abolition of existing parishes, the grouping or de-grouping of parishes, and 
consequential matters. In this current case the fact that the conclusion of the last 
review took place in December 2013 does not detract from that power.

7.3.2 Any review would be undertaken in accordance with Chapter 3 of the 2007 Act and 
the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (March 2010) provided by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England.

7.3.3 Where parish councils are directly affected by the Boundary Commission’s 
recommendations for district ward boundaries, they can make recommendations for 
their electoral arrangements.  These include recommendations 

 for the number of councillors to be elected to the council 
 the need for parish wards 
 the number and boundaries of any parish wards 
 the number of councillors to be elected from any parish ward 
 the name of any parish ward

7.3.4 Whilst making recommendations on these aspects of parish electoral arrangements, 
the Boundary Commission state that they will not normally make recommendations to 
change the total number of parish councillors for any particular parish.  Their 
guidance states that this is a matter best resolved locally. The District Council can 
resolve to make such changes following a Community Governance Review. 

7.3.5 Where parish councils are directly affected by the Boundary Commission’s 
recommendations for district ward boundaries, the LGBCE can make 
recommendations for their electoral arrangements. 

7.3.6 All community governance reviews will be undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements laid down in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 and the joint guidance on community governance reviews published by the 
Communities and Local Government Department and LGBCE in 2010.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 

Assessment? Yes (attached at Appendix 2).

Equality and Diversity
7.5 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes (attached at Appendix 3).

Page 199



Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required
That without periodic 
Community Governance 
Reviews, areas of South 
Lakeland are not represented by 
the appropriate parish council.

Residents feel 
disconnected from the 
business of the parish 
council.

Community Governance 
Reviews carried out 
periodically to respond to 
changes in circumstances 
or valid petitions 
presented within the 
appropriate timeframe.

Contact Officers
Report Authors:

Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer - 
p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Sarah Berry, Projects and Innovation Officer - s.berry@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No. Name of Appendix
1 Community Governance Review - Terms of Reference

2 Community Governance Review - Sustainability Impact Assessment

3 Community Governance Review - Equality Impact Assessment

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available
Community Governance Review Report March 
2017

Community Governance Review 2017 

Tracking Information
Signed off by Date sent
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer 09/07/19
SMT 05/07/18

Circulated to Date sent
Assistant Director 28/06/18
Human Resources Manager 28/06/18
Communications Team 28/06/18
Leader N/A
Committee Chairman N/A
Portfolio Holder 28/06/18
Ward Councillor(s) N/A
Committee N/A
Executive (Cabinet) N/A
Council 24/07/18

Page 200

mailto:p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:s.berry@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/voting-and-elections/electoral-reviews/community-governance-review/


Appendix 1

1
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

South Lakeland District Council Community 
Governance Review 

Terms of Reference 
A review of parishes under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007

Contents
BACKGROUND .......................................................................................................................2

What is a Community Governance Review? ...........................................................................3

Why is South Lakeland District Council undertaking this review? ...........................................3

What does a Parish Council do?..............................................................................................4

Who will undertake the review? ...............................................................................................4

CONSULTATION.....................................................................................................................5

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review..............................5

Timeline of the Review .........................................................................................................5

Review Stages .....................................................................................................................6

ELECTORAL FORECASTS.....................................................................................................7

PARISH AREAS ......................................................................................................................7

Parishes ...............................................................................................................................7

Boundaries ...........................................................................................................................7

Viability .................................................................................................................................8

THE GROUPING OF PARISHES ............................................................................................8

Introduction...........................................................................................................................8

General Principles ................................................................................................................8

Other Matters – Styles and Parish Councillors.....................................................................8

NAMES AND STYLES.............................................................................................................8

The Naming of Parishes.......................................................................................................8

Alternative Styles..................................................................................................................9

ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS ............................................................................................9

What are electoral arrangements? .......................................................................................9

Parish Council or Parish Meeting? .......................................................................................9

What considerations cover the number of parish councillors? .............................................9

Parish Warding...................................................................................................................10

The Number and Boundaries of Parish Wards...................................................................10

The Number of Councillors to be Elected for Parish Wards...............................................11

Page 201



Appendix 1

2
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Naming of Parish Wards ....................................................................................................11

REORGANISATION OF COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE ORDERS AND COMMENCEMENT
...............................................................................................................................................11

CONSEQUENTIAL MATTERS ..............................................................................................12

General Principles ..............................................................................................................12

DATE OF PUBLICATION OF THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE.........................................12

Page 202



Appendix 1

3
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

BACKGROUND

South Lakeland District Council has resolved to undertake a Community Governance 
Review (CGR) of the whole of the District.

In undertaking the Review, the Council will be guided by Part 4 of the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (referred to as ‘the 2007 Act’), the relevant parts of 
the Local Government Act 1972, Guidance on CGRs, issued in accordance with Section 
100(4) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, by the 
Department of Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England in March 2010. Also the following Regulations which guide, in 
particular, consequential matters arising from the Review: Local Government (Parishes and 
Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/625); Local Government Finance 
(New Parishes) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/626). (The 2007 Act transferred powers to 
principal councils which previously, under the Local Government Act 1997, had been shared 
with the Electoral Commission’s Boundary Committee for England.) Section 81 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the Council to publish its 
Terms of Reference in a Review, clearly setting out the focus of the Review. This document 
will fulfil this requirement.

The Council is also required to have regard to guidance on CGRs issued by the Secretary of
State for Communities and Local Government. This guidance was published in March 2010 
and has been carefully considered when drawing up the Terms of Reference and timetable.

What is a Community Governance Review?

A CGR is a legal process whereby Councils can consider the following:

 creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes,
 the naming of parishes and the style of any new parishes,
 the electoral arrangements for parishes, i.e. the ordinary year of election, council 

size, the number of councillors to be elected to the council and parish warding,
 grouping of parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping parishes.

A CGR must reflect the identities and interests of communities and should take into account 
the impact of community governance arrangements on community cohesion and the size, 
population and boundaries of a local community or parish.

Why is South Lakeland District Council undertaking this review?

A CGR provides an opportunity for principal councils to review and make changes to 
community governance in their areas. Such reviews can be undertaken when there have 
been changes in population or in reaction to specific, or new local issues to ensure that the 
community governance for the area continues to be effective and convenient and reflects the 
identities and interests of the communities involved.

The Government has emphasised that any recommendations made in a CGR should bring 
about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better local 
democracy and result in improved effective and convenient delivery of local services. The 
Council will take all these factors into account as part of this review.

Page 203



Appendix 1

4
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Government guidance also states that it is good practice to conduct a full CGR at least every 
10-15 years and keep the area under review in the meantime.

South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) believes that parish councils play an important role 
in terms of community empowerment at local level and wishes to ensure that parish 
governance in the District continues to be robust, representative and able to meet any future 
challenges. Furthermore, it wishes to ensure that clarity and transparency exist at this level 
of governance and that the electoral arrangements of all parishes are appropriate, equitable 
and understood by their electorate.

The Council last undertook a full review during 2013. It received representations from some 
Parishes in 2014 to consider a further community governance review but had also received 
notification from the Local Government Boundary Commission (“the Boundary Commission”) 
for England (LGBCE) that it was to undertake a further electoral review. The advice at that 
time was not to proceed with a Community Governance Review at the same time as an 
electoral review. The outcome of the review of the National Park boundaries was also 
awaited and therefore any further review was considered premature and Council in 
September 2014 resolved that “the Council does not undertake a further Community 
Governance Review at this time but that officers look at a timetable for a review to 
commence by March 2017”.

A further report to Council in March 2017 resolved that it would be appropriate to facilitate a 
District-wide Community Governance Review after the implementation of the new District 
Ward boundaries, following the May 2018 elections. 

What does a Parish Council do?

Parish Councils are the most local form of government. They collect money from council tax 
payers (via the District Council) known as a “precept” and this is used to invest in the area to 
improve services or facilities. Parish Councils can take different forms but usually are made 
up of local people who stand for election as Parish Councillors to represent their area. They 
can be the voice of the local community and work with other tiers of government and 
external organisations to co-ordinate and deliver services and work to improve the quality of 
life in the area.

The Council wants to ensure that parishes are viable and possess a precept that enables 
them to actively and effectively promote the well-being of their residents and to contribute to 
the real provision of services in their areas in an economic and efficient manner.

Who will undertake the review?

As the principal council, the District Council is responsible for undertaking any CGR in its 
electoral area. The Council will approve the final recommendations before a Community 
Governance Order is made.

The main contacts for the review are:
 Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources
 Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer
 Tom Benson, Electoral Services Manager

Page 204



Appendix 1

5
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

CONSULTATION

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review

These terms of reference provide the aims of the review, the legislation that guides the 
process, and the points that the council views as important in the process.

During the review, the Council will have regard to any local residents’ associations, 
community forums or area committees, or other such community representation or 
engagement, that exist who make a distinct contribution to the community of that area.

Before making any recommendations or publishing final proposals, the council will take full 
account of the views of local people and will comply with the statutory consultative 
requirements by:

 Consulting local government electors in the Parishes,
 Consulting any other person or body (including other relevant local authorities and 

parish councils) which appears to the council to have an interest in the review,
 Taking into account any representations received in connection with the review,
 Notifying consultees of the outcome of the review,
 Publishing all decisions taken and the reasons for such decisions.

Information about each stage of the review will be published on the Council’s website with 
key documents available to view at South Lakeland House, Kendal, and the Town Hall, 
Ulverston. Press releases or adverts will be published where appropriate. The Council will 
also make use of the online consultation database to enable comments to be made online as 
well as in writing.

Timeline of the Review

Under legislation a CGR must be completed within a 12 month period from the day on which 
it commences. The CGR begins when the council publishes its terms of reference and 
concludes when it publishes the recommendations made in the review.

The stages for the review are shown below. A timeline and task list can also be view here.

Page 205

http://sharepoint/sites/policy/intelligence/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Lists/Community%20Governance%20and%20Elections/AllItems.aspx


Appendix 1

6
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Review Stages

Stage Action Timescale Dates
Commencement Terms of Reference are 

published and stakeholders 
notified with clear definition 
of remit of review.

24th July 2018 – 
Full Council 
Meeting.

Preliminary 
Stage

Local briefings and 
meetings.

One Month August 2018

Stage One Initial submissions invited 
from stakeholders on future 
arrangements under terms 
of reference. 

Three Months September – 
November 2018

Stage Two Considerations of 
submissions received.
Draft recommendations 
prepared.

December – 
January 2019

Draft recommendations to 
be considered by council.

Two Months

18th December 
2018 – Full 
Council Meeting

Stage Three Draft recommendations 
published and stakeholders 
notified.
Further consultation with 
stakeholders.

Three Months March – May 2019

Stage Four Consideration of final 
submissions received.
Final recommendations 
prepared.
Final recommendations 
published concluding the 
review.

June – July 2019

Final recommendations to 
be considered by Council 
and decision made on 
arrangements with 
resolution to make a Re-
organisation Order.

Two Months

23rd July 2019 – 
Full Council

Re-Organisation order 
made.

One Month Later August 2019

Page 206



Appendix 1

7
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

ELECTORAL FORECASTS

When considering the electoral arrangements of the parishes in the area, the Council must 
consider any likely future change in the number or distribution of electors within five years 
from the day the review commences.

Electorate forecasts have been prepared using all available information. Appendix 2 uses 
the same Electorate Forecasting Methodology that was applied as part of the Local 
Government Boundary Review. This methodology uses:
 

 the 2015 electoral figures and the previous five year electorate figures at Polling 
District level,

 the number of new dwellings built in the five years prior to 2015 at Polling District 
level,

 the total number of dwellings in 2015 at Polling District level,
 the number of new dwellings forecasted to be built in the five years following 

2015 at Polling District level.

Officers are recommending that the 2015 data set be applied to this review, as it was used to 
establish the new wards and is the most accurate. 
 

PARISH AREAS

This part of a review covers the creation of new parishes, the alteration of parish boundaries 
and the abolition of existing parishes. Legislation requires that the Council must ensure that 
community governance within the area:

 reflects the identities and interests of the communities in the area,
 is effective and convenient and takes into account any other arrangements for the 

purposes of community representation or community engagement in the area.

Parishes

The Council considers that parishes should reflect distinctive and recognisable communities 
of interest, with their own sense of identity; ensuring that electors are able to clearly identify 
with the parish in which they are resident, creating a common interest in parish affairs which 
will, in turn, encourage participation in parish elections.

Boundaries

The Council considers that parish boundaries reflect the areas between communities with 
low populations or pronounced physical barriers such as rivers and mountains or man-made 
features such as railways or motorways. These barriers can result in the residents on either 
side having little in common with each other and this possibility will be considered. ‘Natural’ 
settlements or settlements as they are defined in the Local Plan should not, in normal 
circumstances, be partitioned by parish boundaries. If any changes are required to 
boundaries, the Council will endeavour to select boundaries that are, and are likely to 
remain, easily identifiable.

Page 207



Appendix 1

8
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Viability

The Council wishes to ensure that parishes are viable and that their precept enables them to 
actively and effectively promote the well-being of their residents and to contribute to the real 
provision of services in their areas in an economic and efficient manner. This review aims to 
ensure that the parishes within South Lakeland reflect community identity and interest and 
are viable as administrative units.

THE GROUPING OF PARISHES
Introduction

Grouping orders are permitted under Section 11 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
parishes grouped can be seen as a working alliance with the electors of each of the grouped 
parishes electing a designated number of councillors to the council. Grouping parish councils 
can be effective in ensuring parish government where small parishes are not viable on their 
own but allows their separate community identity to continue.

General Principles

The Council notes that, under the Act, smaller new parishes of less than 150 electors will be 
unable to establish their own parish council but that it may be possible to group some 
parishes together to create a grouped parish council without changing parish boundaries, 
creating new parishes or abolishing very small parishes, which still reflect community 
identity, all of which may go against the wishes of the residents of the affected areas.

Other Matters – Styles and Parish Councillors

If a Reorganisation Order intends to form a group, add a parish to an existing group of 
parishes or de-group a parish or group, legislation permits the provision of alternative styles 
but, if a parish is removed from a group it must retain the style it had in the group until the 
parish council or meeting resolved to change the style.

Where a group is to be formed by a Reorganisation Order, add a parish to an existing group 
of parishes or de-group a parish or group, the Council will take into account equitability when 
considering the number of councillors to be elected by each parish.

NAMES AND STYLES
The Naming of Parishes

With regard to the names of parishes, the Council will endeavour to reflect existing local or 
historic place-names and will consider any ward names proposed by local interested parties.

The Council will be mindful of Section 76 of the Local Government Act 1972 with regard to 
the naming of parishes and subsequent notification along with Sections 87 and 88 of the 
2007 Act and relevant guidance.

Page 208



Appendix 1

9
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

Alternative Styles

Alternative styles for parishes were introduced by the 2007 Act which could replace the 
‘parish’ style. However, only one of three styles can be adopted, i.e. community, 
neighbourhood or village. In addition, the style of ‘town’ is still available to a parish but for as 
long as a parish has an alternative style it will not be able to also have the status of a town 
and vice versa.

If an existing parish is under review, the Council will make recommendations as to whether 
the geographical name of the parish should change but it will be for the parish council or 
parish meeting to resolve whether the parish should have one of the alternative styles.

If a new parish is to be created, the Council would make recommendations as to the 
geographical name of the new parish and whether or not it should have one of the 
alternative styles.

ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS
What are electoral arrangements?

The ordinary year of election is every four years as stated in the Local Government Act 
1972. However, where the electorate cycle for a district council is in thirds (as in South 
Lakeland) the parish electoral cycle should coincide with the district cycle so the costs of 
elections can be shared.

Parish Council or Parish Meeting?

The Council has a duty to create, or not, a parish council and must follow the guidance laid 
down in legislation as follows:

 where the number of electors is 1,000 or more a parish council must be created,
 where the number of electors is 151-999 a parish council may be created, with a 

parish meeting being the alternative form of governance,
 where the number of electors is 150 or fewer a parish council is not created.

What considerations cover the number of parish councillors?

The Government’s advice is that, as an important demographic principle, each person’s vote 
should be of equal weight so far as possible, having regard to other legitimate competing 
factors, when electing parish councillors. This Council agrees with this principle and will take 
this into account during the review also having regard to current and historical factors, along 
with the fact that there should be not less than five councillors for each parish council. There 
is no maximum number and no rules relating to the allocations of councillors. However, each 
parish grouped under a common parish council must have at least one parish councillor.

Legislation dictates that the Council must have regard to the following factors when 
considering the number of councillors to be elected for a parish:

 the number of local government electors for the parish,
 any change in that number which is likely to occur in the period of five years 

beginning with the day when the review starts.

Page 209



Appendix 1

10
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

The table below is research guidance on the levels of representation for parish councils.

Electorate Councillor Allocation
Less than 500 5 – 8 

501-2,500 6 – 12
2,501-10,000 9 – 16

10,001 – 20,000 13 – 27
Greater than 20,000 13 – 31 

The Government’s guidance is that each area should be considered on its own merits, 
having regard to population, geography and the pattern of communities. Therefore, the 
Council will pay particular attention to existing levels of representation, the overall pattern of 
existing council sizes which have stood the test of time and the take-up of seats at elections 
when considering this aspect. However, the Council acknowledges that there are exceptions 
to every ‘rule’ and each area will be considered individually.

Parish Warding

The Council is required to consider the following points when deliberating whether a parish 
should be divided into wards for the purposes of elections:

• whether the number or distribution of the local government electors for the parish 
would make a single election of councillors impracticable or inconvenient,

• whether it is desirable that any area, or areas, of the parish should be separately 
represented on the council.

The Government’s guidance is that warding of parishes may not be justified for largely rural 
areas based predominantly on a single centrally-located village. Conversely, warding may be 
appropriate where a parish encompasses a number of villages with separate identities or 
where there has been urban overspill at the edge of a town into a parish.

The Council will be mindful of community identities in both rural and urban parishes, with the 
latter possibly more likely to benefit from warding where community identify focuses on an 
area such as a housing estate, and will endeavour to ensure that any warding arrangements 
reflect local circumstances and are clearly and readily understood by the electorate.

It should be noted that ward elections should have merit, not only should they meet the two 
tests given above, but should also be in the interests of effective and convenient local 
government. They should not be wasteful of a parish’s resources.

The Number and Boundaries of Parish Wards

In respect of the number and boundaries of any parish wards, the Council will take into 
account the criteria stated above, in particular the community identity and interests in an 
area, but also whether any particular ties or links might be broken by the drawing of 
particular ward boundaries. Parish wards must be easily identifiable and remain so in the 
future.

Any recommendations which are intended to reflect community identities and links will be 
supported by relevant evidence.

Although the Government’s guidance is that district wards and county electoral divisions 
should not split an unwarded parish and that no parish ward should be split by such a 

Page 210



Appendix 1

11
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

boundary, the relevant legal provisions do not apply to reviews of parish electoral 
arrangements. However, the Council will bear this in mind as requested by the LGBCE.

The Number of Councillors to be Elected for Parish Wards

The Council will take into account the following when considering the size and boundaries of 
any parish wards and the number of councillors to be elected for each ward:

 the number of local government electors for the parish,
 any change in the number, or distribution, of the local government electors which is 

likely to occur in the period of five years beginning with the day the review 
commences.

The guidance advises that as an important democratic principle, each person’s vote should 
be of equal weight so far as possible, having regard to other legitimated competing factors, 
when it comes to the election of councillors. Although there is no provision in legislation that 
each parish councillor should represent, as near as possible, the same number of electors, 
the Council considers that it is not in the interests of effective and convenient local 
government, either for voters or councillors, to have significant differences in levels of 
representation between different parish wards.

Likewise, the Council wishes to avoid the risk that, where one or more wards of a parish are 
over-represented by councillors, the residents of those wards (and their councillors) could be 
perceived as having more influence than others on the council. Consequently, during the 
review, the Council will show the ratios of electors to councillors that would result from any 
proposals.

The same principle of equitability will apply when consideration is given to the number of 
councillors to be elected to a common parish council by each parish within a grouping 
arrangement.

Naming of Parish Wards
With regard to the names of parish wards, the Council will endeavour to reflect existing local 
or historic place-names and will consider any ward names proposed by local interested 
parties.  

REORGANISATION OF COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE ORDERS AND 
COMMENCEMENT

The review will be completed when the Council adopts the Reorganisation of Community
Governance Order. Copies of the Order, maps detailing the effects of the Order, and the 
documents setting out the reasons for all decisions made whether for change or no change, 
will be deposited and published in the same manner as at each stage of the review.

In accordance with the Government’s guidance, the Council will issue maps to illustrate each 
recommendation at a scale not less than 1:10,000 wherever possible. These maps will be 
deposited with the Secretary of State at the Department of Communities and Local
Government and at the Council’s offices at South Lakeland House, Kendal. In accordance 
with regulations. Prints will also be supplied, , to Ordnance Survey, the Registrar General, 
the Land Registry, the Valuation Office Agency, the Boundary Commission for England and 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England.

Page 211



Appendix 1

12
South Lakeland District Council Community Governance Review
Terms of Reference
Version: 1
Classification: NOT PROTECTED

The Order is scheduled to take effect on 1 September 2019 but any changes to electoral 
arrangements for existing parishes will come into force at the next ordinary elections for the 
parish council.

However, if these elections are not for some time, the Council may resolve to modify or 
exclude the application of Sections 16(3) and 90 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
provide for an earlier election with councillors serving a shortened term of office to allow the 
parish electoral cycle to return to that of the District.

CONSEQUENTIAL MATTERS
General Principles

The Council notes that a Reorganisation Order may cover any consequential matters that 
appear to the Council to be necessary or proper to give effect to the Order, including:

 the transfer and management or custody of property,

 the setting of precepts for new parishes,

 provision with respect to the transfer of any functions, property, rights and liabilities, 

 provision for the transfer of staff, compensation for loss of office, pensions and other 
staffing matters.

In these matters, the Council will be guided by regulations that have been issued following 
the 2007 Act including those regarding the transfer of property, rights and liabilities which 
require that any apportionments shall use the population of the area as estimated by the 
proper officer of the Council as an appropriate proportion. The Council also notes Regulation 
3 of the Local Government Finance (New Parishes) Regulations 2008 regarding the 
establishment of a precept for a new parish and their requirements.

Where any such consequential matters affect Cumbria County Council, the Council will also 
seek the views of that council with regard to alterations to electoral division boundaries in 
accordance with the Government’s guidance.

DATE OF PUBLICATION OF THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE

These Terms of Reference will be published on 24 July 2018.

Page 212



V2 1

Appendix 2

Community Governance Review - SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

1) Does this project / service/ strategy etc. affect each of the impact areas (Q 1-9) 
2) Consider whether the impact is positive, negative, neutral or not applicable for each question/ category below.
3) Use the sustainability impact assessment guidance (p3-4) to answer each question
4)  The overall impact of the assessment (positive, negative, neutral, n/a) will be entered into the final line and used in the committee 

report.  

Impact Area Summarise the Positive
Impact

Summarise the Negative
Impact (and any mitigating 
measures taken)

Summarise the Neutral
Impact

N/A

Q1 Health and Well-
being

N/a

Q2 Access N/a

Q3 Biodiversity N/a

Q4 Built environment N/a

P
age 213

http://sldc-cms/intranet/Default.aspx?page=1554
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23sp2
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EN1
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EN2


V2 2

Appendix 2

Q5 Air, water, land and 
soil quality

N/a

Q6 Greenhouse gas 
emissions, energy 
efficiency, 
renewable energy 
and adapting to 
future climate 
change impacts

N/a

Q7 Natural resources N/a

Q8 Local economy N/a

Q9 Skills, education 
and training

N/a

Overall Impact None

P
age 214

file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR1
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR2
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR3
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EC1
file://sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EC2


Community Governance Review (2018)

Appendix 3

EIA 
Title: 

1.0 The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected 
characteristics:

Age, disability, ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity. 
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the 
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0).

1.1 SLDC includes “rurality” and “socio-economic disadvantage” as 
additional categories in its equality impact assessments. Although socio-
economic status and rurality are not recognised protected characteristics 
under the Equality Act, people on low incomes or in rural isolation are highly 
likely to be affected by services that are intended to support vulnerable 
people.

2.0 The General Equality Duty. 
SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should: 
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 

other conduct prohibited by the Act. 
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not. 
c. Foster good relations between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who 
do not. 

Page 215



Step 1
Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA.

Polling district and polling places review for South Lakeland.

Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken 
(include surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.).

The review is for consultation across the whole authority.

Comments and representations were sought from the District and County 
Councillors, Parish Councils and Members of Parliament.

South Lakeland Equality information from the 2011 Census 
 South Lakeland has one of the highest proportions of White British residents in 

the country (95.6% compared to 80.5% in England & Wales)
 However the district has seen an increase in ethnic diversity as the proportion 

of White British residents in 2001 was 97.6%
 Of the minority groups, 1,303 (1.3% of South Lakeland’s population) come from 

the countries that joined the EU in the first part of the last decade, compared to 
2.0% for England & Wales. Within this group 754 residents come from Poland 
(0.7% of South Lakeland’s population); 

 53.9% of South Lakeland’s population are married, higher than the England & 
Wales figure of 46.6%. The figure for the district is down from 56.5% in 2001

 26.1% of South Lakeland’s population is single (34.6% in England & Wales), 
and 0.2% are part of a civil partnership ( same as England & Wales); 

 South Lakeland has a higher level of Christian residents than England & Wales 
(68.1% compared to 59.3%). The figure has fallen, however, since 2001 when 
the rate stood at 79.1%

 97.8% of South Lakeland residents speak English as their main language 
(compared to 90.9% in England & Wales)

 13.8% of South Lakeland’s population are aged 0 – 14 years, 59.4% of South 
are aged 15 - 64 years and 26.8% are aged over 65

 As a result of a health problem or a disability 8% of people in South Lakeland 
find that their day to day activities are limited a lot, 10.8% find their day to day 
activities are limited a little bit and 81.2% find that their day to day activities are 
not limited at all

Page 216



Step 2
Equality Action Plan

In providing this service, what are the impacts for 
the following people?

1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic 
3. Disabled 
4. Faith/Belief 
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership 
10. Socio-economic disadvantage (including 

rural deprivation, ‘rurality’)

(See glossary below for definitions)

Positive 
impacts

Negative 
impacts

Mitigating actions (to 
avoid negative impact):

Lead 
Officer &
When

Complete
Y/N

Members of the 
public, 
employees, 
elected members 
and or other 
stakeholders 
currently use the 
service because it 
is a universal 
service integral to 
the function of the 
Council.

Living in rural 
South Lakeland 
presents 
residents with a 
range of 
challenges that, 
although not 
solely a rural 
concern, do 
require 
particular focus 
and 
appropriately 
tailored 
solutions.

The recommendations are 
considered to have a neutral 
impact in relation to the 
protected characteristics 
outlined above.

Tom Benson Yes

P
age 217



Step 3
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used 

are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)

Recommendations are considered suitable for voters with sensory and/or physical 
impairment

The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask advice. 
The list is on the intranet under Equality and Diversity. If you need any support when completing 
this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Partnerships and Funding Officer. 

Date: 28 June 2018

EIA Author(s): Paul Mountford

Assistant Director: Simon McVey

Document version number: 1.0

Date for Review: 28 June 2019

EIA forwarded to Policy Officer No

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 
year-olds). 

Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples 
on a range of legal matters. 

Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse 
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning 
disability.

Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is 
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing 
physiological or other attributes of sex.

Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection 
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding. 

Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, 
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers. 

Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism.

Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes. 

Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around rural and urban deprivation, such 
as access to services and transport. Rurality should be specifically considered as South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this 
means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns.

Page 218



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Culture and Leisure Portfolio 

Report from: Cllr Chris Hogg

Portfolio Responsibilities

The Council plan objectives in relation to promoting culture, leisure activities and the arts.

To work with our cultural organisations to attract investments and promote South Lakeland as 
a premier area for Arts and Events. 

The relationship of the Council with its citizens; civic participation and the Council plan 
objectives around leisure, health and wellbeing and working with communities. 

Working with key partners with regards to public health and community safety. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Arts and Events 
 Grants Strategy
 Licensing and Statement of Gambling Policies 

Key Areas: 

 Arts and Culture 
 Grants 
 Public Halls 
 Use of community assets for the promotion of arts and culture 
 Young People/ projects 
 Heritage and Events 
 Heritage Listed buildings and built environment 
 Voluntary Sector Engagement in relation to Culture and Leisure
 Leisure and Recreation 
 Licensing and Gambling

Page 219

Item No.11



Arts, Culture and Events 

Throughout 2018/19 the Council will continue to work in partnership with key Cultural Strategic 
partners and organisations to encourage, advocate for and promote cultural arts and events 
throughout the District. The Council’s sustained approach to cultural investment will continue 
to enrich communities, promote health and well-being and boost the economy.   

The Council will continue working in partnership with Arts Council England and cultural 
organisations to help facilitate, enable and fund some significant initiatives over the year to 
promote South Lakeland as the leading rural cultural destination and premier rural area for 
arts events and festivals working to support  ‘Cultural Landscapes’. 

The organisation support the future development of Lakes Culture to embed culture at the 
heart of the tourism offer and work with the partnership to facilitate greater promotion of the 
region as a cultural destination attracting more, new cultural visitors to the area and making 
best use of the positive impact of the UNESCO Lake District World Heritage Site.

The Council will support the major capital infrastructure developments of the Wordsworth Trust 
‘Reimagining Wordsworth’ and Lakeland Arts Windermere Jetty to and development in these 
key institutions along with new emergent capital development initiatives at Abbot Hall and the 
Brewery Arts Centre. We will support the development of cultural initiatives in the Kendal 
Masterplan and the aspiration for the development of a cultural quarter in Kendal. 

The authority continue to support the development of key festivals in the district such as the 
Lakes International Comic Art Festival, Kendal Mountain Festival, Lake District Summer 
Music, and Lakes Alive and major events such as the Tour of Britain and Great North Swim 
whilst seeking new opportunities for future events and cultural initiatives. 

The Council is supporting the Lakes International Art Festival major  collaborative venture with 
the Maison de La Culture and ‘On a Marche sur la Bulle’ in Amiens for a unique project ‘Traces 
of the Great War’ as part of the national commemorative centenary programme making the 
end of World War One. 

The Council will continue to work in partnership with creative partners, Craven Council, Lake 
District and Yorkshire Dales National Park on the Great Place initiative to deliver year two of 
the programme and action plan to create a Great Place Lakes and Dales where a sustainable, 
resilient creative community and economy exists celebrating the distinctiveness of place, the 
skill and experience of creative people and a good quality of life, which in turn will retain and 
attract younger people to our districts to influence, support and create our future economy.

We will continue to develop the relationship with Curious Minds, Arts Council England’s bridge 
organisation for the North West, to develop opportunities for children and young people’s 
active participation in arts and culture through cross sector collaboration and partnership. We 
will support ATiC being delivered through the South Cumbria Partnership of the CSP.

Finally the Council will explore new opportunities for cultural partnerships, initiatives and 
development as a cohesive part of the Lancaster and the Bay Economic partnership initiative 
and the emerging Cumbria Public Health Strategy.

Public Halls and Use of Community assets for the promotion of Arts and Culture

Throughout 2018/19 the Council will continue to promote Art and Cultural events through the 
use of public halls and other Council owned assets. Community events that are held in the 
Councils buildings support various areas of the Council Plan i.e. Health and Wellbeing, Culture 

Page 220



and Economy. Below is a snapshot of some the events for 2018/19 are examples of how the 
public halls will support local communities. 

 Main hub base for leading festivals such as Kendal Mountain Festival and Comic Arts
 Meditation, yoga and fitness classes 
 Children’s theatre arts school, encouraging  children to reach their goals
 Wedding Ceremonies 
 Eden and South Lakes Credit Union
 Monthly Magistrates and Civil Courts
 Language classes 
 Community Coffee Mornings 
 Classical midday music concerts from October to March 
 Local amateur operatic society productions 

Young People and Projects

The Council has secured dates in 2018 to continuing working with National Citizens Service 
(NCS) to provide workshops on local government. The confirmed dates are: 

 Monday 23rd July 2018
 Monday 30th July 2018
 Monday 13th August 2018
 Monday 20th August 2018

The aim of the workshops are to teach young people the role of local councillors and their 
importance, encourage young people to vote and teach young people about the different roles 
of and responsibilities of the Council. On each date the Council be working with groups of 15 
to 30 young people (16 to 18 year olds) from across South Lakeland, Barrow and Lancaster. 
The activities that will be running will to engage them with national and local democracy 
including an overview of political parties and stances, the impact of the media, and getting 
them to look at their priorities for their own local area.

Heritage and Heritage Listed buildings and built environment 

The Burton-in-Kendal Partnership Scheme in Conservation Area (PSiCA) is due to commence 
later in 2018/19. The 3-year scheme will include the grant-aiding of repairs to historic buildings, 
a public realm improvement scheme in the Square and the preparation of a Village Design 
Statement. Initial project development work is currently out to tender to inform a detailed 
Delivery Plan, which requires Historic England’s approval before confirming its offer of funding 
of £40,000 per annum for 3 years, which is to be matched by £35,000 per annum from the 
District Council and £5,000 per annum from Burton in Kendal Parish Council’s own funds.

Licensing and Gambling 

Across 2017/18 the Licensing and Gambling service began working in partnership with 
Cumbria Constabulary to develop a multi-agency hub, this work will continue to progress 
throughout 2018/19. Other key areas of work will include:

 Review of Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy 
 Introduction of the New Animal Licensing Legislation 
 Review and redesign in the way the service operates in line with the Customer Connect 

programme 
 Review of Street Trading consent 

Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 222



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Economy and Assets Portfolio 

Report from: Cllr Graham Vincent 

Portfolio Responsibilities

The Council Plan objectives as they relate to the portfolio are of work, and cross-cutting work 
developed through the Local Plan and Economic Development Strategy. 

Working in partnership to ensure a thriving and prosperous District within the context of the 
wider sub region, through effective economic development, regeneration and transport 
strategies. 

Working in partnership to ensure thriving and prosperous town centres throughout the District.

Providing public realm infrastructure to promote the local economy. 

Promoting small businesses in both towns and rural areas.  

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Economic Development Strategy 
 Asset Management Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Economic Inward investment 
 Business Support and Sector Development 
 Visitor Economy 
 Town Centre Planning, Car Parks and Transportation 
 Markets 
 Asset Management 

Page 223



Moving forward in 2018/19 the Council will continue to build relationships with our key partners 
around Morecambe Bay in the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region, building on 
work previously commissioned and the joint statement of intent to collaborate on economic 
development initiatives.  Woking together we will be better placed to meet the economic and 
social challenges that our areas face, especially in regard to the demographic challenges 
projected for our area. 

The Council will be heavily engaged with the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership on the 
development of the Local Industrial Strategy for Cumbria with officers directly involved with 
the writing group.  This will complement the work we are doing within Lancaster and South 
Cumbria and set out how Cumbria will facilitate the delivery of the key priorities in the National 
Industrial Strategy.  This document will likely guide future investment priorities within the 
County and officer involvement with collating the evidence base and development of the key 
place based initiatives will ensure South Lakeland is fairly represented.

Further we will be refreshing the 2014 Economic Development Strategy to ensure it is fit for 
purpose and will enable us to meet the economic challenges of the next 5 years.  This will be 
developed in conjunction with the overview and scrutiny committee.

Economic Inward investment

We will continue to work with partners such as developers and landowners to help facilitate 
employment sites being brought forward and much needed commercial space be delivered.  

We will lobby relevant public and private bodies for investment in infrastructure to unlock 
allocated employment sites and help support the development of the necessary businesses 
cases to support this investment.

We will work to ensure that as the next local plan is developed that is has adequate provision 
for employment space in the right locations to meet out businesses needs and aspirations.

Business Support and Sector Development 

We will continues to work with the Cumbria Chamber of Commerce to support business 
support activities within South Lakeland for both Start up and existing enterprises.  Additionally 
we will explore alternative business support mechanisms with our partners in Barrow and 
Lancaster to provide a world class support services that is integrated with Lancaster 
Universities exceptional business support programmes and encompasses a wide range of 
support such as productivity initiatives and access to finance.

With partners across Morecambe bay we will continue to identify our key sectoral strengths 
and work with industry, the LEPs and relevant government departments to ensure they are 
supported to grow and deliver world class employment opportunities for our residents.

Town Centre Planning, Car Parks and Transportation 

The Kendal Town Centre Masterplan will be coming to completion in the Autumn of 2018 and 
will incorporate both the Strategic Car Parking Study and the 2nd stage of the Kendal Strategic 
Transport Infrastructure study being jointly commissioned by the County, District and town 
council (Kendal).  The masterplan will set out a vision for the future development within Kendal 
and ensure there is a clear plan for Kendal to meet the future challenges high streets will face 
as we move forward.

Page 224



We will continue to work in Ulverston to bring forward key regeneration opportunities such as 
at Canal Head and the Former Brewery site to maximise private sector investment and positive 
outcomes for the town. 

Where there are willing local partners we will help to facilitate improvements to town and 
village centres.

Markets 

This next financial year will see the start of a market consultation to look at ways of improving 
Kendal indoor and outdoor market. The market is an extremely important asset for the Town 
and should be seen as an economic driver for the Town. Consultation will take place with the 
traders, public, local businesses, Kendal BID and Kendal Futures as well as other 
stakeholders to look at ways of rejuvenating the market, whether that be a Capital investment 
in the infrastructure or other innovative ways to improve the offer. The main aim is that by the 
end of the financial year 2018/19, a clear strategy will be in place to take the markets forward 
to ensure they thrive in the longer term.

Asset Management

In summer 2018 a report will be brought to Cabinet with recommendations for a new corporate 
asset strategy which look at an investment strategy for the Council’s land and building 
portfolio. This follows the asset review completed by Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH). The main 
change to the strategy will be the formation of a Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) 
panel to provide clear direction on all key decisions to be taken on our land and building 
portfolio. Investment will be focused on where it meets with the Council’s priorities, for service 
requirements/ efficiency or for maintenance requirements. The asset review has highlighted 
all key assets with guidance for each asset. The SAMP panel will be key to drive these 
priorities forward looking at a 10 year programme.  

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 226



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Enivronment Portfolio 

Report from: Cllr Dyan Jones

Portfolio Responsibilities

To take the lead on Waste Management/ Recycling and relevant Council Plan measures under 
the environment objectives. 

Providing and maintaining parks infrastructure. 

To develop and implement a Playground Strategy. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Waste Management Strategy 
 Air Quality Strategy and action plan
 Active Travel Strategy and action plan 

Key Areas: 

 Waste Management and Recycling 
 Streetscene 
 Community microenergy schemes 
 Carbon/ Greenhouse gas Reduction 
 Green agenda – Low carbon reduction
 Public realm (Parks and open spaces, including cemeteries) 

Page 227



Waste Management and Street Scene
Coffee Cup Recycling

The Council has have been working with Croppers, Cumbria Waste Recycling and the 
Westmorland County Agricultural Society to look at how coffee cups could be recycled at large 
events. A working group successfully delivered a trial facility at Country Fest in June 2017 to 
explore how this might be done. The working group will continue to look at how that experience 
can be used to provide recycling facilities at other large-scale events; and engage with the 
public about waste minimisation and recycling as a whole. 

Textile Recycling

As part of the Staveley Waste Less Project the Council has undertaken two ‘one-off’ 
collections of textiles for recycling. In August 2017 a kerbside collection using SLDC 
resources; and in June 2018 a collection point provided in conjunction with the Salvation Army. 
Textiles are approximately 5% of the waste stream and we believe there may be opportunities 
to increase the level of textile recycling throughout the district. The Council is continuing to 
look at how more opportunities to recycle textiles could be introduced, through trials in 
Staveley, and as part of the Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership.

Recycling On The Go

The Council has made plans to place 3 litter bins for the segregated collection of plastic and 
cans, alongside general litter bins, as a trial at 3 locations in Kendal. This will be for a trial 
period to determine how well-used the bins are, the levels of contamination in the recycling 
bins; and the operational infrastructure required to provide the service.

Litter Bin Technology

The Council is currently trialling sensors in 104 litter bins that measure the fill level of the bin 
and collate usage data. The software builds a dataset of these usage levels to predict when a 
bin will be fill and require emptying. The trial has already delivered some success in reducing 
the number of empties required for bins in the trial area from 80 per day to around 20-25 per 
day. The nature of any trial is also to highlight any problems that might arise; and this 
technology has not previously been used in rural areas. As issues arise we are working with 
the manufacturer to determine the impact on our services and how solutions can be found.

44-litre Recycling Boxes

As consumer habits are changing the authority is adapting services to meet the needs of 
householders. There had been a significant increase in online shopping; with a consequent 
increase in the card waste. This increase is forecast to continue. We have therefore changed 
the recycling boxes provided from 55-litre capacity to 44-litre boxes. Previously householders 
used a single box for paper and card, and we are now offering the option of a three-box 
solution to use individual boxes for each material and increase the overall capacity for 
collecting paper, card and glass from 110-litres to 132-litres. This change will also reduce the 
weight of materials in the boxes, which should reduce the potential risk of muscular-skeletal 
injuries to staff from the repeated lifting of recycling boxes over the long term.

In-Cab Technology

The Waste Management Service is working on the procurement of in-cab technology for waste 
and recycling collection vehicles that will help deliver improvements to customer service and 
offer opportunities for service efficiencies.

Page 228



Carbon/ Greenhouse Gas Reduction and Green Agenda

Throughout 2018/19 the Council will continue to support the Cumbria Cycling Strategy and 
remain involved in the Cumbria Cycling Partnership. The Council is also supporting Cumbria 
County Council regarding the potential for the Tour of Britain 2018 to come through the district.

The Green Team has been reintroduced to provide leadership in reducing effects of climate 
change and implement the single use plastic goal. The green team will have the responsibility 
of informing, influencing and implementing actions to reduce the impacts of climate change 
and reduce carbon/ greenhouse gas reduction. Informative sessions for the community will be 
held across summer 2018. 

Recently a report “Air Quality and Public Health – Reducing Deaths and Ill Health Caused by 
Poor Air Quality in Lancashire and Cumbria” was published. This is a collective report of the 
Lancashire and Cumbria Directors of Public Health, in conjunction with the Local Authorities, 
highlighting air quality issues across the region and following on from the Lancashire and 
Cumbria Air Quality Summit held in February 2018. The Council was involved for Cumbria. 
The purpose of the report is to: improve awareness and engagement for action on air quality 
and understanding of everyone’s role in tackling air pollution, building on existing plans and 
strategies; start a conversation about the ways in which we can work together and hold each 
other to account for action to improve air quality; and outline potential areas for further action 
to reduce population exposure to air pollution, as identified at the Summit. A leadership event 
is currently being planned to take place in the autumn, which Member Champions will attend 
to represent the Council. The event will progress the aims of the report.

South Lakeland District Council are actively supporting the Lancaster Canal Regeneration 
Partnership (LCRP) ambitions to create a fully accessible, multi-user leisure route connecting 
Kendal and Lancaster along the route of the historic Lancaster Canal.

SLDC have agreed to grant fund phase one of the project via £140k LIPs grant for path 
improvements from the outskirts of Kendal to Natland, which will be delivered throughout 
2018/19. This funding has also been used to form the basis of further investment funding via 
applications to Sports England, Heritage Lottery Funding, Rural Development Programme, 
Fells and Dales LEADER, with decisions expected on each of these funding applications 
throughout 2018.

The Canal Restoration Project supports the Active Travel agenda to encourage more people 
within the district to be more physically active, along with the Council Plan priorities of making 
best use of our property portfolio to support economic growth; working with local communities 
to improve and manage the public realm and make best use of and care for our open spaces; 
enhance and protect the heritage and high quality environment; and encourage best use of 
our distinctive environment as a location for attracting cultural activities and events that 
strengthen the visitor economy and the health and wellbeing of our residents. 

Public Realm 

Following the successful first year of the grounds maintenance partnership with Continental 
Landscapes Ltd, the Council will continue to work in partnership with them throughout 2018/19 
to deliver quality grounds maintenance and support to community groups. 

Throughout the next upcoming financial year the Council will be working towards completing 
various works to upgrade parks and open spaces across the district. These improvements will 
encourage communities to enjoy outside spaces and encourage active travel throughout the 
area. 

Page 229



A key area of development due to start in October 2018, is the Millerground Enhancement 
Plan.  The Group is also continuing to raise funding for the playground. 

Following the recent installation of Gym equipment at Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere through 
the Locally Important Project funding (LIPs), a fundraising campaign will begin at Easter 2018 
to raise money for a new playground. 

Page 230



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Finance Portfolio  

Report from: Cllr Andrew Jarvis 

Portfolio Responsibilities

The development of strategic policy to ensure that the Council has put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, i.e. 
Value for Money. 

To ensure that the Council has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 Budget Framework 
 Procurement Strategy 
 Discretionary Benefit and Rate Relief Policies 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Key Areas: 

 Strategic Finance 
 Budget Monitoring 
 Treasury Management 
 Capital Programme 
 Value for money 
 Procurement 
 Savings Programme 
 Payments and Sundry Debtors 
 Insurance and Risk Management 
 Benefits Administration 
 Council Tax Collection 

Page 231



Medium Term Financial Strategy

The draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which includes the Council’s Financial 
Strategy, looks at projected income and expenditure over the next five years.  The draft 
2019/20 – 2023/24 is elsewhere on this agenda.  The plan highlights the impact of ongoing 
cuts in funding, in particular with £613k impact of ‘negative RSG’ expected in 2019/20, as well 
as the uncertainty around future funding with a proposed 75% localisation of business rates 
and the Fair Funding review, which will determine how much business rate income will be 
retained by the Council in the future to fund services.  The assumptions and financial 
projections within the MTFP are kept under continuous review and will be regularly reported 
during the 2019/20 – 2023/24 budget process. 

Procurement Strategy

The Council’s Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 2016-2019 sets the 
framework for South Lakeland District Council (‘the Council’) to purchase goods, services, and 
works to deliver value for money and to meet the needs of local citizens. It incorporates the 
most appropriate elements of best practice in structure, policy and procedure, and will remain 
sufficiently flexible to respond to both internal and external change.  Council approved a 
Procurement Schedule as part of the budget papers in February 2018. This delivers Council 
services in accordance with the Procurement Strategy.  Any proposed changes to the 
schedule will be reported as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process to Overview 
and Scrutiny, Cabinet and Council.  Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 13 July 2018 
received a review of procurement activity for 2017/18.

Strategic Finance

Officers prepared the Council’s statutory accounts, the Statement of Accounts, by the end of 
May 2018.  The statutory deadline was a month earlier than in previous years, and the Finance 
team should be congratulated on smoothly achieving this stretching requirement.  The external 
audit of the 2017/18 accounts is in progress and will be reported to and considered by Audit 
Committee on 25 July 2018. 

Budget Monitoring

Although budget monitoring continues all year, the composite Corporate Financial Monitoring 
report commences from Quarter 2. Quarters 2 and 3 will be considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and Council during the year. 

Treasury Management

Updates are provided as part of the aforementioned Financial Monitoring and Budget reports. 
The Treasury Management Annual Report for 2017/18 is elsewhere on this agenda.

Capital Programme

The MTFP includes a Capital Strategy which sets out the sources of funding of capital 
expenditure, any restrictions on how that funding should be applied and the process for 
considering new bids for the capital programme.  During the coming months, the long-term 
requirements and phasing for capital expenditure is being reviewed based on input from our 
property advisors, Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH). Additionally, bids for new capital 
programme schemes will be prepared by the end of August for consideration by portfolio 

Page 232



holder during September 2018.  All schemes in the existing programme will be reviewed to 
ensure they continue to reflect the Council Plan priorities.

Savings Programme

The majority of the savings incorporated into the budget for 2018/19 and later years relate to 
the Customer Connect programme.  Progress in delivering these and other savings is 
incorporated into the Corporate Financial Monitoring and Budget reports.

Revenue and Benefits 

The Revenue’s and Benefits Service continues to make progress with the new software. All 
payment and recovery cycles are in place and collections are continuing as normal. Additional 
work resulting from the conversion still remains and continues alongside normal day to day 
processing

Eden DC are leading on the second phase of the project to deliver a digital solution for 
residents. Work is continuing with Capita and Meritec to assist with the council’s Customer 
Connect project and should be fully implemented over the next 6/9 months. This will see 
residents been able to access their information and records on-line. In addition a full set of 
interactive processes will be available including the ability for customers to make 
arrangements, apply for discounts and notify changes in circumstance electronically direct into 
our new back office systems.

Benefits Administration

Performance of the benefits team continued to be sustained at a high level since the 
implementation of the new software. Both New Claims and Changes in Circumstances for both 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction are being processed within the target times 
contained in the service plan. 

Rollout of Universal Credit has been suspended until the roll out of the full live service. This 
means we are currently back receiving new claims for Housing Benefits from all new 
claimants.

Full Live Service roll-out in South Lakeland will happen in two stages. Stage 1 towards the 
end of September will affect Kendal Job Centre (which deals with the majority of the District) 
and Stage 2 roll-out is now December 2018 (Western Areas served by Barrow Job Centre 
Plus).

Council Tax Collection 

Council Tax collection at the end of Q1 was behind target at 30.12% for the first 3 months of 
the year, last year was 30.65%. This difference is in the range of previous year’s variances in 
collections and at this stage provides no cause for concern. 

Collections rates continued to be closely monitored.

NNDR Collection 

Collections of Business Rates are 0.32% below last year’s collection figures. At the end of 
June 2018 collection rates stood at 29.58%.

There has been a continued increase in the number of businesses paying over 12 months 
rather than 10.

Page 233



The Small Business Relief Scheme and Pub Relief Scheme been fully implemented and 
customers rebilled. The council Discretionary scheme has seen over £ 150k of additional 
support being provided to businesses in South Lakeland.

Collections as with Council Tax are closely monitored and where possible the council works 
with businesses to ensure business rate liabilities collected as sympathetically as possible 

Fraud

The Council remains pro-active in tackling fraud.  This involves working closely with the DWP 
on Housing Benefit fraud.  The Council have also signed up to a joint working arrangement 
with DWP to prosecute Council Tax Reduction as part of a joint investigation. 

Fraud assist South Lakes Housing with RTB application checks.  The Council also takes part 
in the Cabinet Office National Fraud Initiative data matching exercises and will continue to do 
so.

A fraud risk-assessment has been carried out with all departments to ensure the Council has 
identified areas of potential fraud and has introduced appropriate anti-fraud measures.

New starters to the Council attend Fraud training as part of the induction process. 

Page 234



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing Portfolio  

Report from: Cllr Philip Dixon

Portfolio Responsibilities

To work with other tiers of government, community groups and other relevant partners to 
enhance the health and wellbeing of residents. 

Alleviate the harmful effects of poverty in the district, looking at issues to address those who 
are disadvantaged. 

Working with key partners with regards to welfare reforms. 

Nominated representative on the Health and Wellbeing Board as appropriate. 

To drive our Localism agenda. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Community Strategy 
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 Public Health 
 Community Safety Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Localism 
 Devolution 
 Public Health 
 Community Development 
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
 Voluntary Sector in relation to Health and Wellbeing Sector 
 Health and Safety 

Page 235



Devolution 

There have been no further updates regarding devolution. Throughout 2018/19 SLDC will 
continue to progress key relationships with other authorities in health, housing and economic 
growth. 

Public Health 

Throughout 2018/19 the Council will be introducing and encouraging food establishments to 
take part in a new Healthier Menus Scheme. SLDC will be working with other neighbouring 
authorities to encourage them to take part in the scheme. The council will also be encouraging 
businesses to take part in the breastfeeding friendly scheme. 

The Council has created a Health Advocate group to look ways of supporting better physical 
and mental health of employees across the organisation. This group will be working towards 
achieving the Bronze Better Health at Work Award. 

As Portfolio Holder, I will continue to attend Public Health Alliance meetings to generate 
actions to improve health across Cumbria. 

Community Development and Localism 

The Building Financial Resilience Partnership is continuing to work with external organisations 
to offer financial support opportunities across the District. The aim of the partnership is to 
ensure communities are not excluded from an acceptable standard of living. 

The partnership has been organised into 7 task groups: 

1. Increase partner collaboration and publicise support available 
2. Build local wealth 
3. Increase access to skills and education 
4. Reduce fuel poverty 
5. Food waste and re-distribution 
6. Increase sign up to Environment Agency Flood warning service 
7. Investigate Poverty Truth Commission taking place in Morecambe 

Each group has met and several new collaborative areas of work have been established, to 
be built on throughout 2018/19: 

 Creating a public facing webpage and promotion of support available 
 Skills fest outreach sessions in rural areas 
 Fuel Poverty scheme offering free advice and improvement works 
 Meetings well attended and enthusiastic networking events leading to greater 

collaboration, willingness to take responsibility 
 Pieces in South Lakeland News to offer advice and guidance for households 

The Council will continue to assist communities through the Local Area Partnership Groups 
by building relationships with LAP chairs and others to ensure LAP’s remain relevant, useful, 
effective and add value to parishes and SLDC. These groups allow communities to address a 
variety of issues specific to their area and look at methods of improving or supporting. 

Crime and Reduction Disorder 

Page 236



The South Cumbria CSP have identified four key priorities for 2018/19. These will focus on 
improving and increasing awareness on Mental Health, Domestic Abuse, Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Alcohol and Violent Crime. At each meeting the CSP group will be looking at 
each priority in detail and meeting with lead professionals to identify partnership collaboration 
and funding opportunities. 

On Thursday 5 July 2018 the CSP are hosted a mental health and the criminal justice system 
workshop. The Police, Probation, Prison and Courts were represented to present the case 
and the NHS and CPFT (who run mental health services) responded with their services. The 
third sector were also represented (MIND and other providers) and the workshop identified 
solutions and ideas to take forward to aid referrals.

The Applied Theatre in Cumbria project will be entering into its second year. This year it will 
take the theme of healthy relationships, personal resilience and positive decision making into 
10 schools and a theatre. Again performances will be streamed across Cumbria. Workshops 
will explore this topics further with students to support them to access help and make the right 
decisions.

The CSP will be using a collaborative approach, and dialogue with its trusted partner agencies 
across the public and private sector, to find solutions to existing problems and utilise funding 
to unlock improvements.

Health and Safety 

Recently the Health and Safety Annual Report was signed off by the Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Committee. The reports highlights the achievements made in 2017/18 such as a 
revitalised Health and Safety Policy which encompasses a meaningful safety vision, a set of 
safety values to underpin this vision and a set of significant behaviours that will be embraced 
by the organisation and set the standards for all to follow.

The Health and Safety officers are continuing to work together with Streetscene to make huge 
improvements into the Rounds Risk Assessments, looking particularly at reverse manoeuvres. 
Work is also continuing with the Councils Contractors by undertaking training for key 
contractors to set out SLDC’s expectations when working on our sites. The assets team are 
undertaking joint inspections between officers and Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH) surveyors 
to audit health and safety on sites to ensure SLDC are proactive.

Across 2018/19 the Health and Safety officers will be looking to send managers and 
employees on behavioural safety workshops, this will be linked with any training set up for the 
Customer Connect programme to ensure that Health and Safety is encompassed in the 
process. 

The Service will look to appoint a third party organisation to undertake an audit of the Councils 
safety management systems across key areas of the Council and will work with the various 
teams where needed to resolve any issues highlighted. The Service will continue to monitor 
progress against the Council’s Health and Safety improvement plan.

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 238



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio 

Report from: Cllr Jonathan Brook

Portfolio Responsibilities

Implementing of the Local Plan and Council Plan housing objectives. 

Working in partnership to improve the standard, availability and affordability of housing in the 
District to meet local needs, championing these issues at national, regional and sub-regional 
level. 

The Council Plan objectives in relation to improved customer engagement and 
communication. 

Looking at innovative ways of working. 

The organisation of the Authority relating to the Council’s central services including Employee 
relations. 

To support the Leader of the Council and to deputise in his/her absence. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Local Plan (including Development Management Policies) 
 Housing Strategy and Policy (including Choice Based Letting Allocation Policy) 
 Customer Charter and Contact Strategy 
 IT/ Information/ E Government Strategy 
 Member Development and Training Plan 
 Workforce Plan

Key Areas: 

 Strategic Housing and delivery (including Housing Enabling and Housing Grants) 
 Development Management and Building Control 
 Housing Options and Homelessness Prevention 
 Customer Services 
 Customer Connect Programme 
 IT Services 
 Member Services 
 Member Training and Development 
 HR, Legal and Committee Services 

Page 239



Strategic Housing and Delivery 

The Housing service completed a number of key projects last year and have identified a 
number of areas of focus throughout 2018/19 to support and improve Strategic Housing and 
its delivery.

Throughout 2018/19 the Housing and Development Plans team will continue to work closely 
with private sector housing developers to deliver more homes across the district through the 
support of the Increased Housing Association Development Programme. 

The service plans to introduce a low-cost loan scheme to enable additional housing 
associations affordable homes and will progress community-led housing projects. 

Key documents and developments expected in 2018/19 for release will include: 
 Publication of a new Homelessness Strategy 
 Publication of a Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
 Introduction of a new model for assessing housing needs in rural areas
 Extension of the statutory licensing of houses in multiple occupation (HMOs)
 Commissioning of a new private sector house condition survey 

Development Management and Building Control 

The Development Management and Building Control services will be one of the first services 
to undergo the system changes and new way of working the Customer Connect Programme 
will bring forward across 2018/19. 

The service is currently undergoing a data cleansing exercise in preparation for the Customer 
Connect Programme. This process is currently at half way. 

The service has now gone ‘paperlight’ to reduce print costs and encourage digital working. 
Development Management has adopted digital working methods in connection with becoming 
‘paperlight’.   

Homelessness Prevention 

In April 2018 the new Homelessness Reduction Act came into place. Following this the 
homelessness service are expecting to see a demand on the service throughout 2018/19.  
One example of the legislation changes includes, anyone can access the service 56 days prior 
to being made homeless and there is a greater emphasis on prevention as the service will 
work with the customer to produce a personalised housing plan. To assist and support the 
service with the legislation changes, a new IT software has been installed. The second part of 
the Act will come in to place in October 2018 when a duty upon defined public bodies to refer 
potentially homeless households to the Council becomes law.

Throughout the upcoming year the service is looking at how to improve service delivery to 
residents at Town View Fields (emergency accommodation provision for homeless people). 
Most recently a multi-agency consultation event was held to explore how future service 
provision could look in the future. Alongside this the Service are also planning to explore other 
models of temporary accommodation to support raising demand and the growing complexity 
of client cases. 

The Service will be continuing to undertake work on a new homelessness strategy which is a 
legal requirement of local housing authorities and has to be produced at a maximum every 5 

Page 240



years. This will be published by March 2019. Prior to publication the strategy will be reviewed 
at Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Earlier in 2018 the Service launched an outreach surgery in Ulverston. In order to extend this 
the service will offer a surgery in Windermere (Date TBC).

Customer Connect Programme and Customer Services

The Customer Connect Programme has been planning for mobilisation since April 2018 to 
produce the business case for sign off at July Council. Once the Business Case has been 
approved the programme will move into implementation of which there are two phases.  

Phase one will be the design and implementation of the new Leadership, Support Services 
and Strategy and Commissioning. Phase 2 will be the design and implementation of Universal 
Customer Connect. 

Over the next few months there will be a number of workshops preparing staff to be more 
resilient to change and equipping them with the skills needed for transitioning into the new 
ways of working. Any HR policies that require updating as a result of the new ways of working 
will be presented to HR Committee. 

During this same period a number of workshops will be initiated to analysis the Council’s 
processes and exploring alternative ways to reduce duplication and increase customers self-
serve options, making it easier for customers to do business with us. 

There will be a number of consultative customer groups made up of our demographic profile 
who will be engaged in the design and testing of our service redesign. 

Member Services and Member Training and Development 

Member Services are providing ongoing support and encouragement for members accepting 
corporate kit. The roll out of kit is ongoing to members and support and training sessions will 
be provided throughout 2018/19. The corporate kit enables all members to access systems 
such as Skype for business and the Council’s intranet and E-Learning and encourages 
paperless working supporting the Customer Connect Programme and new GDPR regulations. 

All members will continue to be offered various training opportunities throughout the upcoming 
financial year. In September 2018 Personal Development Plan meetings will be offered to all 
members through face to face or Skype meetings. The service will also be trialing and 
launching the Local Government Association Councillor E-Learning Package to allow 
members to undertake training remotely.  

By lead from the Member Support Steering Group (MSSG), member services will be reviewing 
the Member PDP Process, the North West Employers Member Charter and agreeing a 
realistic timetable to achieve Level 2. 

IT Services

IT Services will have a strong emphasis on the delivery of the Customer Connect Programme 
throughout 2018/19 and beyond. The service will be working to build on the Enterprise platform 
which will underpin the development and configuration of new ways of working across the 
Council. 

Page 241



The technology required to provide the functionality for customers to register for an account 
online and interact with Council services will first be implemented for revenue and benefits 
initially, with other services following. 

The IT Service team will begin to introduce changes to the Councils wide area network 
infrastructure to reduce costs and improve capacity. This will add capacity to the Councils 
internet connection which will provide more bandwidth for remote and mobile working as well 
as more capacity to access cloud based services.

Other areas of focus throughout 2018/19 include: 
 Upgrading all laptops from Windows 7 to 10, which will make laptops quicker
 Enhancements to the mobile working solution to reduce the need for different 

passwords 
 Developing skills within the IT Service to build service transactions within the digital 

platform to support the Councils new way of working 

HR, Legal and Committee Services 

Throughout 2018/19 HR Services will be working closely on implementing the Customer 
Connect Project. HR Services will be leading on HR, change and transition elements of the 
project. The enormity of the project in respect of these areas cannot be underestimated.

Legal and Committee Services will be continuing to provide advice and support across the 
organisation within the next financial year. Legal Services are continuing to build on the use 
of the electronic case management system to support the new digital ways of working. 

Committee Services have developed the committee agenda system (ModGov) to increase 
the number of officers and members working paperless. The development of the system 
allows members and staff to access committee agendas electronically and remotely. The 
system is automatically set up for with the relevant committees for individual members and 
allows them to make personal notes/ annotations/ comments as previously on paper copies.

Page 242



South Lakeland District Council
Council 

24 July 2018
Executive Report – Look Forward 2018/19

Portfolio: Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio  

Report from: Cllr Giles Archibald 

Portfolio Responsibilities

Working with partners and stakeholders in the public, private and voluntary sector, at national, 
regional and sub-regional level. To act as an ambassador and advocate for the Communities 
of South Lakeland. 

To represent the Council on local and other strategic partnerships including nominated 
representative on the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership as appropriate. 

The development and implementation of the Council Plan. 

The Council Plan objectives in relation to quality of service and high performance culture. 

Policies, Plans and Strategies 

 Council Plan (incorporating the Five Year Strategy) 
 Performance Management 
 Equality Scheme 
 Emergency Plan 
 Communications Strategy 

Key Areas: 

 Community strategy/ area planning/ development of recovery group 
 Emergency Planning 
 Performance Management 
 Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships 
 Relationships with Government Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-

regional, regional and national level
 Media and Communications 

Page 243



Council Plan 

The current Council Plan is in place until 2019. Across 2018 a review of the Council Plan will 
take place. This will involve a consultation with key stakeholders (i.e. Public, Members, 
neighbouring authorities) to ensure that relevant and strategic developments are reflected 
within the plan moving forward. 

Community Strategy/ Area Planning and Development of the Recovery Group

The Council is continuing to work closely with the EA as they develop and implement plans to 
adapt the local infrastructure to protect the communities against the increased frequency and 
intensity of storms resulting from climate change.

Emergency Planning 

South Lakeland District Council is supporting Community Resilience Groups by ensuring that 
they receive situational awareness information at the earliest opportunity. The Council is 
working with the Resilience Unit and other agencies to formalise how the multi-agency 
response will communicate with Community Resilience Groups. Whilst multi-agency 
arrangements are being developed the Council has temporary arrangements in place.

Responding agencies are working together to formalise the Multi-Agency Intelligence Cell 
(MAIC) – this will collate intelligence during an incident and will inform multi-agency responses 
and enhance prioritisation. The Council will be working with the Police and other agencies to 
formalise this arrangement.

Responding agencies are also working together to provide a facility where Community 
Resilience Groups can upload their emergency plans and update their contact details. It is 
hoped that there will also be the opportunity for agency-community communication and 
community to community networking via this facility.

Staff and Members will continue to be provided with training opportunities for key emergency 
roles. There will be Member’s Emergency Role training this year in November (Nov 28th) - 
there will be a number of venues and dates and these will be made available nearer the time.

Performance Management 

Throughout 2018/18 Performance Management will focus on the Council Plan measures of 
success to monitoring progress towards the priorities for South Lakeland.

Local and Cumbria Wide Strategic Partnerships 

A key aim throughout 2018/19 is for the Council to continue to engage with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and Cumbria County Council through a technical officers group 
to shape and influence policy and specific strategic documents. 

The Council will be continuing to work jointly with Lancaster City and Barrow Borough Councils 
to enhance the South Cumbria and Lancaster Economic Region strategy to enhance 
economic activity which will benefit all three districts. Most recently the Leaders have 
contacted all the Local MP’s to highlight the vision, outcomes and priorities that the initiative 
will deliver for the benefit of our residents and businesses. 

Relationships with Government Departments and other relevant authorities at a sub-
regional, regional and national level

Page 244



Throughout 2018/19 the Council will continue to raise any concerns to government offices and 
other relevant authorities surrounding issues that cause the district difficulties. For example 
as Leader, I have attended meetings in London Ulverston and Carlisle to discuss with 
Government, Northern Rail and Network Rail the poor quality of the rail service in the County.

(I recently also wrote to local train providers to encourage that they review their policy for bikes 
on trains which currently only allows two, to support your council plan priority for active travel 
and reduction of carbon emissions. This matter was additionally raised at a LEP meeting with 
Northern rail.)

As Leader I also recently attended the Local Government Association Annual Conference at 
the beginning of July 2018. I am happy to share my experiences with any councillor who is 
interested.

Media and Communications 

The Council’s communications team aim to keep residents and other stakeholders fully 
informed about what the council does in a way which supports Council Plan priorities.

The Council delivers messages using all available channels including newspapers, TV, radio, 
websites, social media, and other digital platforms. The Communications operation is merged 
with Customer Services to provide a consistent joined-up approach to how we interact with 
the public.

SLDC will be continuing to maximise the use of digital channels to enable the council to target 
communications more effectively.

Throughout 2018/19 the Communications will have a heavy emphasis on communicating 
internal messages to all staff via Sharepoint, internal staff newsletters, Customer Connect 
email address and face-to-face, on the Customer Connect Programme and how it will be 
progressing throughout Phase 1 and 2 and the impacts of employees.

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 246


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	22-05-18 Council Minutes Appendix

	6 Customer Connect Programme Business Case
	Customer Connect Programme Business Case - Appendix 1
	Customer Connect Programme Business Case - Appendix 2

	7 Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 1a
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 1b
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 2
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 3
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 4
	Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 - Appendix 5

	8 Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 and 2018/19 Strategy Update
	9 Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24
	Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24 - Appendix 1
	MTFP for OandS
	MTFP appendices for OandS
	Appendix 1-Budget Process and Strategy
	Appendix 2 Financial Model
	Appendix 3 Risk Assessment of Reserves
	Appendix 4-Policy on Reserves on Balances
	Appendix 4 Levels of Reserves
	Appendix 5-Capital Strategy
	Appendix 6 Capital Expenditure
	Appendix 6 Capital Funding
	Appendix 7-Risks and Opportunities log
	Appendix 8 - Glossary



	10 Community Governance Review
	Community Governance Review - Appendix 1
	Community Governance Review - Appendix 2
	Community Governance Review - Appendix 3

	11 Leader's Announcements and Cabinet Question Time, including the Composite Report of the Cabinet (1 Hour Maximum)
	Portfolio Holder Report - Economy and Assets
	Portfolio Holder Report - Environment
	Portfolio Holder Report - Finance
	Portfolio Holder Report - Health and Wellbeing
	Portfolio Holder Report - Housing, People and Innovation
	Portfolio Holder Report - Promoting South Lakeland


